
Cabinet 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Cabinet to be held as follows for the 
transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 26 November 2019

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of interest 

3  Minutes of the previous meeting. 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 24 September 
2019.

(Pages 1 - 4)

4  Annual Report from Audit and Accounts Committee (15 minutes) 

Chair of Audit and Accounts Committee

(Pages 5 - 24)

5  Adoption of revised Planning Obligations Supplementary 
Planning Document (30 Minutes) 

Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Regeneration

(Pages 25 - 260)

6  Review of the Statement of Community Involvement (15 Minutes) 

Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Regeneration

(Pages 261 - 270)

7  Any other urgent business 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3318
Karen Berry, Democratic Services Manager E-Mail: karen.berry@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET

24 SEPTEMBER 2019

Meeting commenced: 10.00 a.m.
“                  finished: 10.20 a.m.

PRESENT

Paula Boshell                     Statutory Deputy City Mayor 
John Merry, CBE                Deputy City Mayor (in the Chair)

LEAD MEMBERS:

David Lancaster, MBE       Environment and Community Safety
Gina Reynolds                   Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing
Derek Antrobus                  Planning and Sustainable Development       

EXECUTIVE SUPPORT MEMBERS (AT THE INVITATION OF THE CITY MAYOR):
John Walsh                        Education and Learning
Mike McCusker                  Planning, Housing and Sustainable Development

OFFICERS:
Jim Taylor                         Chief Executive
Charlotte Ramsden           Strategic Director, People
Debbie Brown                   Director, Service Reform
Miranda Carruthers-Watt  City Solicitor
Sam Betts                         Assistant Director
Peter Brambleby               Interim Director of Public Health
Joanne Hardman              Chief Finance Officer
Karen Lucas                      Service Manager

1.         APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Paul Dennett (City Mayor), Councillors 
Hinds, Kelly, Ferguson, Jones, Hamilton and, Coen.

  
         2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

         3. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 2019, were approved as a correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2

4.      THE BEVAN INTERMEDIATE CARE UNIT (IMCU), STOTT LANE ECCLES-       
          APPROVAL TO FUND REQUEST

 
Councillor Reynolds, Lead Member for Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing introduced this 
report, and in doing so informed members that the development had been approved in 
principle at City Issues in June 2018 and subsequently approved the funding £182,748 to 
enable the proposals for the IMCU to be taken forward to RIBA stage 2 level.

Members were informed that a planning application for the IMCU was submitted in June 
2019. A decision on the application is expected in October.

An options appraisal was completed in September 2017, to compare the cost of developing
the current Limes versus a new IMC Unit build, which brought together the Limes with 
Barton Brook nursing beds. The original business case developed by SRFT showed that 
developing the IMCU was a cheaper option than the recurrent investment that would be 
required in The Limes and therefore the preferred option was to build a new IMC Unit on 
Stott Lane funded through loan arrangements.

Following various questions from members, officers gave assurances that the capital cost of 
the preferred option was estimated at a maximum of £10.4m which would be met by Council 
borrowing funded through repayments by the Pooled Budget with the Council receiving 
annual repayments to cover the full cost of borrowing (i.e. loan repayments and interest) 
over the 25 year lease term. This will be cost neutral from a Council perspective in terms of 
borrowing.

Whilst the report asks for approval for funding at the £10.4Million as originally approved, it is 
expected that the final cost of the IMCU could be less than this sum. It is however 
considered prudent that we continue to use the £10.4 Million figure until the works have 
been put out to tender and we have received firm prices from contractors competing to 
deliver the works, In addition the City Council and SRFT are working together to look at the 
opportunity for no VAT to be paid on the construction costs of the project. This is an area 
where there is some uncertainty and we are working with HMRC to explore opportunities to 
reduce or remove, if possible this liability.

Councillor Reynolds advised members that whilst works are underway it is estimated that 
circa 70 spaces will be lost for car parking. This number has been mitigated by proposals to 
invest in the re-modelling of the existing Stott Lane car park to increase the number of 
spaces available on site. As a result of the re-modelling works, once works on the IMCU are 
completed the permanent net loss of car parking on the car park will be just 7 spaces. As 
part of the heads of terms for the IMCU, the Council will be financially compensated for both 
the temporary and permanent loss of spaces.

Detailed discussion has taken place with SRFT with regard to the lease arrangements for 
the IMCU and Heads of Terms have been provisionally agreed and are detailed in the report 
submitted.

Current forecast for completion is November 2020.

RESOLVED: THAT, the Statutory Deputy City Mayor in consultation with Cabinet approved 
the following recommendations on the proviso of further assurances from the Chief Finance 
Officer in regard to funding requirements and progress of the considerations in regard to 
Ladywell car park:

1. Noted the contents of this report and the progress being made to deliver the IMCU
project.

Page 2



3

2. Approved the allocation of up to £10.4Million (The original budget estimate) to deliver
the IMCU, subject to the detailed supporting and financial information as set out
within the report.

3. Approve officers proceeding with a procurement exercise to secure an appropriate
contractor to deliver the IMCU.

4. Approve the provisionally agreed Heads of Terms for the lease of the Intermediate
Care Unit to Salford Royal Foundation Trust (SRFT) the main element of which is 
that the costs of capital borrowing costs of up to £10.4Million, are recovered through 
the ICO pooled budget over a lease term of 25 years.

5. Note that if approved it is recommended that the Council procure a construction/cost
management expert to oversee the construction of the IMCU and the approval of
payments to the contractor. It is estimated this will cost in the order of £100,000 and
will be a cost to the project and included within the lease repayment arrangements.

6. That progress with the delivery of the IMCU and all associated matters be the subject
of regular update reports to City Issues meetings.

         5.     ANY OTHER BUSINESS.

         No items submitted.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF THE CHAIR OF THE AUDIT AND ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE

TO   CABINET

ON 
TUESDAY 26 NOVEMBER 2019

TITLE:  ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CHAIR OF THE AUDIT & ACCOUNTS 
COMMITTEE 2018/19

RECOMMENDATIONS: It is recommended that the City Mayor and Members of 
Cabinet consider the attached Annual Report of the Chair of the Audit & Accounts 
Committee for the year 2018/19.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: In line with best practice, the Terms of Reference for this 
Committee state that an Annual Report of the work of the Committee should be 
submitted to Cabinet. The attached report relates to the year 2018/19.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
Public Sector Internal Audit standards
Audit Committees – Practical Guidance for Local Authorities (2018) - CIPFA

KEY DECISION: NO

DETAILS: See attached report.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: N/A

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: There are no specific risks linked to the publication of this 
report.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A

CONTACT OFFICER: Jean Gleave TEL NO: 0161 607 6651

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: N/A

Page 6



3

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CHAIR OF THE AUDIT & 
ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE 2018/19

Page 7



4

Foreword

I am pleased to provide this foreword to the Audit & Accounts Committee’s tenth 
annual report to Cabinet, which details the achievements of the Committee in 
2018/19.

I would like to place on record my appreciation of the support I have received during 
the year from Members of this Committee our head of Audit and her very able team. 
May I also thank  Mazars in their first full year for hitting the ground running and 
keeping us abreast of all issues and our Head of Finance together with our head of 
Legal for their help and advice. My Committee including our two valued co-opted 
members have been a significant help in helping to fulfill our responsibilities as 
required in the Terms of Reference (see Appendix A) and for asking those searching 
questions. 

The Audit & Accounts Committee’s remit, as defined in the council’s constitution, has 
allowed the Members to develop an overview of the whole system of governance 
within the council. A summary of the areas of responsibility which the Committee 
covers includes the following:

• Receiving and considering the content of reports from Internal Audit
• Receiving and considering reports from the council’s External Auditor
• Ensuring that management teams take appropriate actions to implement the 
recommendations contained in these reports
• Scrutiny of specific Service Groups to ensure that audit requirements and 
recommendations are being met
• Receiving reports on risk management and governance issues
• Having responsibility for ensuring that the Annual Statement of Accounts and the 
Annual Governance Statement present  a fair and accurate position of the council
• Having regard for the Annual Audit Letter provided by the council’s External 
Auditor.
The reports that have been scrutinised over the last twelve months include:
• Council’s Fraud Detection Activity
• Reports from Internal Audit and External Audit
• Strategic risk register.
In March 2019 the Committee conducted a self- assessment exercise against the 
CIPFA good practice guidance.  Overall, the response from the Members in the 
exercise was positive with the following requirements identified:
• Further highlight the role and purpose of the audit committee across the authority
• Assess further training requirements
• Assess knowledge and skills required by Members.

We will continue to value our relationship with our internal and external auditors, and 
we will also continue to ensure that all recommendations in relation to audit reviews 
are implemented in a timely manner.

Whilst recognising the volume of reports that officers are required to prepare for this 
Committee, it is pleasing to note that officers continue in their efforts to provide 
reports in good time prior to the Committee.

Page 8



5

Last year I said we would face particular challenges in ensuring, by undertaking 
detailed scrutiny of all areas of the council’s work, that the risks which are inevitably 
present when costs need to be reduced and efficiencies made are acceptable and 
kept to a minimum. This coming year our challenge remains very much the same, we 
must therefore continue to be diligent in our efforts. May I also take this opportunity 
of welcoming those new members who have joined us for the coming year and hope 
that they find our work helpful and rewarding.

I look forward once again to leading this committee with the help of all members 
through these continuing challenging times adding value to the work of the Council.

Councillor Robin Garrido
Chair of the Audit & Accounts Committee 2018/19

Page 9



6

CONTENTS PAGE
1 Introduction 7
2 Committee Information

 Role and Responsibilities
 Membership
 Meetings and Attendance

7 - 8

3 Committee Achievements
 Audit and Risk Management 
 Regulatory Framework and Internal 

Control Arrangements
 Accounts 
 Training and Development

8 - 10

4 Committee Priorities for 2019/20 10

Appendices:

Appendix A  Terms of Reference
Appendix A1  Escalation Plan

11 - 14
15

Appendix B   Attendance 16

Appendix C  Committee Activity 17 - 18

Page 10



7

1. Introduction

The Audit & Accounts Committee was formed in May 2008 by a merger of the 
existing Audit Committee and Accounts Committees. The year 2018/19 was the 
eleventh year of the Committee and five meetings were held in the year.

2. Committee Information 

Roles and Responsibilities

The roles and responsibilities of the Audit & Accounts Committee have been drawn 
up to meet with best practice as laid out in the “CIPFA Audit Committees - Practical 
Guidance for Local Authorities” which was updated in 2018.  The updated CIPFA 
guidance for Audit Committees, issued in May 2018, was considered during 2018/19. 

The Terms of Reference of the Committee covers the following main areas:

 Governance Risk and Control
 Internal Audit
 External Audit
 Financial Reporting
 Accountability Arrangements

The Terms of Reference is reviewed and approved on an annual basis. The Audit & 
Accounts Committee reviewed and approved the Terms of Reference at its meeting 
in October 2018 which covers the municipal year 2018/19. A copy of the current 
Terms of Reference is provided at Appendix A.

Membership

For 2018/19, the Audit & Accounts Committee consisted of eight elected Members 
and also two independent Members. The Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services is also an invitee to the Committee. In line with best practice, the political 
representation on the Committee reflects that of the council and the Chair is drawn 
from the official opposition party.

The two independent Members have been Members of this Committee throughout 
2018/19.  

Meetings and Attendance 

The Audit & Accounts Committee has held five meetings during this municipal year. 
The timing of the meetings throughout the year is designed to coincide with the 
governance timetable of the year; during 2018/19 this included a meeting in June to 
approve the council’s Annual Governance Statement and to receive the draft 
Statement of Accounts, and in July to approve the Final version of the Annual 
Governance Statement and the Accounts and to receive the External Auditor’s 
Annual Findings Report. 

Page 11



8

During 2018/19, in line with best practice, the Committee was attended by: Mazars 
as the council’s External Auditors; City Solicitor; Chief Finance Officer or the Head of 
Financial Management; the Head of Internal Audit; and the Internal Audit Manager.  
The Assistant Director of Planning and Performance also attended to report updates 
on the strategic risk register; with other officers attending as required. 

3. Committee Achievements

The Committee has made considerable achievements during the last year. The work 
of the Audit and Accounts Committee has been undertaken as detailed in the Terms 
of Reference. The Committee completed an annual self-assessment exercise at its 
meeting in March 2019 based upon updated Audit Committee guidance issued by 
CIPFA in 2018. Members completed the evaluation using the electronic voting 
technology, as in previous years. Positive responses were received from the 
Members and, as part of the action plan it was agreed to further highlight the role 
and purpose of the audit committee across the authority; assess further training 
requirements; assess knowledge and skills required by Members. On the whole, the 
self-assessment process is a valuable toolkit that provides anonymous feedback and 
enables Member training and development to be identified.

Audit and Risk Management 

The Committee received update reports on the council’s key strategic risks at the 
June 2018; October 2018; and March 2019 meetings of the Committee. In addition, 
Members have requested further details of items that are considered a significant 
risk or contained within the Council’s Strategic Risk Register around Pupil Place 
Planning, at the June 2019 meeting.

Internal Audit

The Committee receives and approves the Internal Audit Strategy and Annual Plan 
for the year. The Annual Plan for 2018/19, which Members approved in June 2018, 
provides details of the “Assurance Themes” and the reviews that Internal Audit 
planned to undertake during 2018/19. Furthermore, the report breaks these themes 
into constituent audit areas, providing Members with a greater degree of detail.

During the year at each meeting, Members monitored the progress against that 
year’s Internal Audit plan by way of a progress report, and received the Head of 
Audit’s Annual report for 2017/18 at the year end, in June 2018. At the October 2018 
meeting, Members received the report on quality assurance and improvement of the 
Internal Audit Service which contained the updated action plan from the external 
assessment against the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

Between meetings, Committee Members were provided with summary copies of all 
the Internal Audit reports issued in the intervening period. Members are able to 
request a full copy of any report, or address any questions they may have, to the 
Internal Audit Manager. 

Page 12



9

At the Committee meetings, the Internal Audit Manager presented the audit reports 
completed in the last period and also the progress made by service groups in 
implementing the recommendations of previous reports by way of Post 
Implementation Reviews.

To ensure that the challenge process is robust, the Terms of Reference of the 
Committee includes an escalation process to ensure any concerns Members have 
can be followed-up (see appendix A1).

Internal Audit also provided reports on special investigations that were ongoing or 
completed, this gives Members the opportunity to consider whether the council’s 
Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy is being effectively applied. 

In addition, an annual report was presented in June 2018 which summarised matters 
which have been rejected, closed, or completed under the provisions of the 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA). 

The collaborative partnership with the internal audit team at Warrington Borough 
Council continued during 2018/19 and the Head of Internal Audit at Salford splits her 
time between the two Authorities.  The purpose of the collaborative working is to 
share resources and achieve savings for both councils.

Accounts

In accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, the 
Authority’s accounts were presented to the Audit & Accounts Committee for approval 
at the July 2018 meeting. The Head of Financial Management introduced this report 
which provided comments on the external auditor’s reports and stated that in general 
the council agreed with the findings of the external auditors and had amended the 
unaudited version of the 2017/18 statement of accounts accordingly. 

External Audit

Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) appointed Mazars LLP to audit the 
accounts of Salford City Council for five years from 2018/19. The appointment 
started on 1 April 2018. In relation to the work of the External Auditors, the 
Committee received Progress Reports from Mazars at each meeting. 

At the July 2018 meeting, after the previous external auditors, Grant Thornton, had 
finished their review of the accounts, the Committee received Grant Thornton’s Audit 
Findings Report for 2017/18. The Committee voted to authorise the changes to the 
statement of accounts outlined in the Audit Findings Report; note the representations 
made by the Chief Finance Officer; and authorise the Committee Chair to sign the 
statement of responsibilities within the statement of accounts. At the October 2018 
meeting the Committee received Grant Thornton’s Annual Audit Letter.  

Page 13



10

Training and Development Work

Following the Committee self-assessment session at the March 2018 meeting, 
refresher training on the role of the Committee was provided by Mazars at the 
October 2018 meeting, supported by Internal Audit.  

Training on ‘Evaluating the Effectiveness of the Audit Committee’ (How the 
Committee adds value to the Council) was provided by the Head of Internal Audit at 
the January 2019 meeting.  

4. Committee Priorities for 2019/20

To build on the achievements of 2018/19 by:

 Continue to request officers to attend the Committee to explain actions being 
taken to mitigate risks identified on the Corporate or Service group level Risk 
Registers

 Enhance the oversight of risk management by requesting that Service Groups 
periodically present their risk registers to the Committee.

Page 14



11

Appendix A 

AUDIT & ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE
TERMS OF REFERENCE 

2018-2019

Membership

Membership of the Audit and Accounts Committee will be eight members of the 
council, appointed in accordance with the principles of political balance, together with 
two independent non-voting co-opted members. The Chair of the Audit and Accounts 
Committee shall not be a member of the majority political group.

Members of the Audit and Accounts Committee will be appointed by the council. All 
Cabinet members and the elected City Mayor will not be eligible to sit on the Audit 
and Accounts Committee. The Executive Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services or such other Executive Lead Member as designated by the City Mayor 
from time to time will be authorised to attend meetings of the Committee but not 
vote.

The Quorum shall be three members of the Audit and Accounts Committee.

Responsibilities

The powers and responsibilities of the Audit and Accounts Committee fall in the 
areas described below: 

Purpose
 
1. The audit committee is a key component of Salford City Council’s corporate 

governance. It provides an independent and high-level focus on the audit, 
assurance and reporting arrangements that underpin good governance and 
financial standards. 

2. The purpose of the audit committee is to provide independent assurance to the 
members of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the internal 
control environment. It provides independent review of the council’s 
governance, risk management and control frameworks and oversees the 
financial reporting and annual governance processes. It oversees internal 
audit and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance 
arrangements are in place.
 

Governance, risk and control

3. To review the council’s corporate governance arrangements against the good 
governance framework including the ethical framework and consider annual 
governance reports and the local code of governance. 

4. To review the Annual Governance Statement prior to approval and consider 
whether it properly reflects the risk environment and supporting assurances, 

Page 15



12

taking into account internal audit’s opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the council’s framework of governance, risk management and 
control. 

5. To maintain an overview of the council’s Constitution in respect of Contract 
Procurement Rules and Financial Regulations.

6. To consider the council’s arrangements to secure value for money and review 
assurances and assessments on the effectiveness of these arrangements.
 

7. To consider the council’s framework of assurance and ensure that it 
adequately addresses the risks and priorities of the council. 

8. To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the 
council. 

9. To monitor progress in addressing risk-related issues reported to the 
committee. 

10. To consider reports on the effectiveness of internal controls and monitor the 
implementation of agreed actions. 

11. To review the assessment of fraud risks and potential harm to the council from 
fraud and corruption. 

12. To monitor the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources. 

13. To review the governance and assurance arrangements for significant 
partnerships or collaborations. 

Internal audit 

14. To approve the internal audit charter. 

15. To review proposals made in relation to the provision of internal audit services 
and to make recommendations. 

16. To approve the risk-based internal audit plan, including internal audit’s 
resource requirements, the approach to using other sources of assurance and 
any work required to place reliance upon those other sources.
 

17. To approve significant interim changes to the risk-based internal audit plan 
and resource requirements. 

18. To make appropriate enquiries of both management and the head of internal 
audit to determine if there are any inappropriate scope or resource limitations. 

19. To consider any impairments to independence or objectivity arising from 
additional roles or responsibilities outside of internal auditing of the head of 

Page 16



13

internal audit. To approve and periodically review safeguards to limit such 
impairments.

20. To consider reports from the head of internal audit on internal audit’s 
performance during the year, including the performance of external providers 
of internal audit services. These will include: 

a) Updates on the work of internal audit including key findings, issues of 
concern and action in hand as a result of internal audit work. 

b) Regular reports on the results of the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme. 

c) Reports on instances where the internal audit function does not 
conform to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and Local 
Government Application Note, considering whether the non-
conformance is significant enough that it must be included in the 
Annual Governance Statement. 

21. To consider the head of internal audit’s annual report: 

a) The statement of the level of conformance with the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards and Local Government Application Note 
and the results of the Quality Assurance and Improvement 
Programme that supports the statement – these will indicate the 
reliability of the conclusions of internal audit. 

b) The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the 
council’s framework of governance, risk management and control 

together with the summary of the work supporting the opinion as these 
will assist the committee in reviewing the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

22. To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested. 

23. To receive reports outlining the action taken where the head of internal audit 
has concluded that management has accepted a level of risk that may be 
unacceptable to the authority or there are concerns about progress with the 
implementation of agreed actions. 

24. To contribute to the Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme and in 
particular, to the external quality assessment of internal audit that takes place 
at least once every five years. 

25. To consider a report on the effectiveness of internal audit to support the 
Annual Governance Statement, where required to do so by the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations. 

26. To support the development of effective communication with the head of 
internal audit. To provide free and unfettered access to the audit committee 
chair for the head of internal audit, including the opportunity for a private 
meeting with committee. 

Page 17



14

External audit 

27. To support the independence of external audit through consideration of the 
external auditor’s annual assessment of its independence and review of any 
issues raised by Public Sector Audit Appointments. 

28. To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and the report 
to those charged with governance. 

29. To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor. 

30. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 
gives value for money. 

31. To commission work from internal and external audit. 

32. To advise and recommend on the effectiveness of relationships between 
external and internal audit and other inspection agencies or relevant bodies.
 

Financial reporting 

33. To review the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether 
appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are 
concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit, that need to 
be brought to the attention of the council. 

34. To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on 
issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 

Accountability arrangements 

35. To report to full council on an annual basis on the committee’s performance in 
relation to the terms of reference and the effectiveness of the committee in 
meeting its purpose. 

36. To publish an annual report on the work of the committee to the Cabinet.

Delegation

In exercising the above powers and responsibilities, the Audit and Accounts 
Committee shall have delegated power to make decisions and act on behalf of the 
council.

Note

The committee may itself determine not to exercise its delegated powers and may 
instead make recommendations to council. 

Page 18



15

Members receive summary report 
via email

Any 
concerns?

No further 
action

Contact Audit and the Chair to 
raise concern / request full report

Continued 
concerns?

Issue raised for consideration by
Audit & Accounts Committee

Continued 
concerns?

Could invite appropriate 
person to give evidence

Refer to Overview & 
Scrutiny

via Scrutiny Chairs
Continued 
concerns?

Chairs refer issue to 
appropriate Scrutiny Committee 

for consideration

NO

YES

No further 
action

NO

YES

NO YES

YES

YES

No further 
action

No further 
action

NO
  

NO

YES

NO

Reply to email 
and copy to 

Chair & 
Scrutiny

Contact Scrutiny to 
put on Audit & 

Accounts 
Committee agenda

Chairs will 
consider 
request / 

investigate

Appendix A1 - Audit & Accounts Committee Escalation Plan

Page 19



16
Page 20



17

Appendix B - Attendance

Committee Dates
Members / Officers 27   

June 
2018

31  July   
2018

24 October
2018

23 

January 
2019

27   
 March 
2019

%

Members

Councillor R Garrido 
(chair)      100

Councillor P Connor A A A A A 0
Councillor D Jolley  A    80
Councillor K Lewis   A   80
Councillor M Pevitt A A A 0
Councillor N Reynolds  A   A 60
Councillor R Sharpe A    60

Councillor John Walsh   A   80

Co-opted Members

Bruce Cowen      100

Vittoria Bugana   A  A 60
Invitees

Cllr. C.W.V. Hinds      100

Key Attended A   Apologies given Blank - no reason given

Page 21



18

Appendix C – Committee Activity

Internal Audit and Risk Management

Committee Dates

Function/Issue
27th   

June 
2018

31st  July   
2018

24th   
October

2018

23rd 

January 
2019

27th   
 March 
2019

Internal Audit

Internal Audit 
Progress Report received received received received received

Audit Strategy and 
Plan 

approved 
for 

2018/19

Draft plan 
for 2019/20

Internal Audit 
Charter 18/19 received

Completed and 
Current 
Investigations 
Report

received received received received received

Internal Audit 
Quality Assurance 
and Improvement 
Plan

received

Risk Management

Strategic Risk 
Management 
Update Report

received received received

External Audit

Progress Report received received received received received

External Audit Plan 
2018/19

received

2017/18 Annual  
Findings Report received

2017/18 Annual  
Audit Letter received

Letter of 
Representation 
2017/18

received

Page 22



19

Regulatory Framework and Internal Control Related Activity

Committee Dates

Function/Issue 27th   June 
2018

31st  July   
2018

24th   
October

2018

23rd 

January 
2019

27th   
 March 
2019

Private meeting 
with Committee 
Members

External 
audit

Internal 
audit

Audit & Accounts 
Committee 
Terms of 
Reference

update 
approved

Code of 
Corporate 
Governance

update 
approved

Audit Committee 
Self-assessment 
Report

self-
evaluation

Effectiveness of 
Internal Audit approved

Annual Report of 
the Chair of the 
Audit & Accounts 
Committee

approved

Annual Report of 
the Head of 
Audit

approved

Accounts Related Activity

Statement of 
Accounts 
2017/18

Draft 
presented approved

Annual 
Governance 
Statement

Draft 
presented approved

Counter Fraud

Fraud Detection 
Activity Update received received

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT 

TO CABINET

ON 26 NOVEMBER 2019

TITLE: Adoption of the Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations Supplementary 
Planning Document 

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the City Mayor in consultation with his Cabinet:

Adopt the Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

The Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) that was 
adopted in 2015 has provided a clear framework that has generally been successful 
at securing planning obligations across Salford since its adoption. However, since 
adoption there have been changes to national policy, guidance and legislation, and 
also evidence of a general improvement in the viability of new development in the 
City. 

Given the above, the city council consulted on a draft Planning Obligations SPD 
between January and March 2019 which represented a comprehensive update to the 
approach in the 2015 version, including the introduction of new policies and also 
formulaic approaches to the calculation of obligations. However, in September 2019 
the government updated planning practice guidance on planning obligations to state 
that introducing new formulaic approaches should not be done through new SPDs; 
such requirements have to instead be set through local plans and independently 
examined as part of this process. 

Taking into account comments received at the draft stage and the changes to 
government planning guidance, a minor refresh of the 2015 adopted SPD has 
instead been undertaken that does not involve changing existing formulas or 
introducing new ones, or changing the overall approach. The key implication of this is 
that the affordable housing requirements as part of new developments have to be 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



2

capped at a maximum 20% as per the 2015 SPD, as going higher than this would be 
introducing a new formulaic approach, contrary to government guidance. 
Notwithstanding this however, the proposed approach to affordable housing in the 
refreshed SPD should deliver higher levels of affordable housing than that currently 
being delivered as: 

 All developers will be required to enter into a negotiation with the city council 
to provide affordable housing in the lower value areas

 Improved viability means that more of the city will be subject to the highest 
20% requirement than is currently the case

 All build to rent schemes, including co-living developments, will be required to 
provide 20% of units in the form of affordable private rent at a minimum rent 
discount of 20% relative to local markets (inclusive of service charges)

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD 
 Consultation statement
 Community impact assessment document

KEY DECISION: YES

The Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD is citywide in its scope and sets out 
the scale of affordable housing and other planning obligation requirements that the 
city council will require from new development. It does therefore have the potential to 
have a significant impact on communities in two or more wards. For this reason, the 
decision to adopt the SPD has been published on the city council’s Forward Plan.
 

ON FORWARD LOOK:       YES  

DETAILS:

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 The city council currently secures planning obligations from new development 
within the city via section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
Planning obligations are sought in order to mitigate the impact of new 
development, and to make development acceptable in planning terms. 
Planning obligations can be secured to support the delivery of a wide range of 
infrastructure, such as the provision of affordable housing, the improvement of 
open space, the delivery of transport improvements, or the expansion of 
schools to create additional places.

Page 26



3

1.2 A Planning Obligations SPD was adopted by the city council in June 2015 
which supplements a number of policies in the saved Unitary Development 
Plan (UDP), and is a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications. Since it was adopted in 2015 it has provided a clear framework 
that has been successful at securing planning obligations (such as for open 
space, public realm, transport, education facilities and affordable housing).

1.3 An initial scoping consultation on the intention to review the Planning 
Obligations SPD was undertaken in March 2018 / April 2018. Informed by this, 
a full public consultation on the Draft Planning Obligations SPD was 
undertaken between January and March 2019. Representations were 
submitted from 13 stakeholders including landowners, developers and 
statutory consultation bodies to the draft document.  All representations have 
been reviewed, and detailed consideration has been given as to the 
implications of them.  

2. SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS SUBMITTED

2.1 At the draft stage the city council consulted 2,066 consultees registered on its 
planning consultee database, including all statutory consultation bodies 
together with other consultees who the city council considered may have an 
interest in the production of this document. This included housebuilders, 
developers and landowners, together with property and planning agents, and 
residents and community groups who had previously expressed an interest or 
submitted representations on related planning policy documents.

2.2 A number of respondents provided general support for producing an updated 
planning obligations SPD in line with the tests as set out in the NPPF, i.e. the 
obligations are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development. One respondent noted however that the 
government’s viability guidance was changed in March 2019, whilst they also 
noted that the SPD should not be adopted until new CIL regulations are 
formally put in place (which include removing the current pooling restrictions 
for planning obligations). 

2.3 Reference was made by one consultee to representations they submitted with 
regards to the Revised Draft Local Plan residential viability assessment (which 
was also the viability evidence base for the Draft Planning Obligations SPD). 
These representations considered that the council had over-estimated the 
viability of development, whilst another respondent raised concerns with some 
of the council’s assumptions in the assessment.

2.4 Linked to the issue of viability, it was commented that the proposed 50% 
affordable housing requirement in some parts of the city would have a 
fundamental impact on delivery of new homes. A number of respondents also 
commentated that the affordable housing requirements in the policy are 
contrary to the viability evidence prepared by the council; in particular the 

Page 27



4

minimum 20% affordable requirement ignores the evidence that affordable 
housing is not viable in certain areas and would be unsound. 

2.5 Two consultees commented that as the Draft SPD policies mirrored large 
parts of the Revised Draft Local Plan the council was potentially seeking to 
circumvent and subvert the Local Plan Examination by imposing policies 
through the SPD. Given this, it was implicitly stated that this would open the 
city council up to legal challenge should it seek to adopt the SPD as drafted.  

3. KEY CHANGES FOLLOWING PUBLIC CONSULTATION

3.1 On 1 September 2019 (i.e. following consultation by the city council on its 
2019 Draft Planning Obligations SPD), the Government published updates to 
its planning practice guidance (PPG) on Planning Obligations1. Two sentences 
that have been added to paragraph 004 of the PPG have particular 
implications for the review of Salford’s adopted 2015 Planning Obligations 
SPD:

“Policies for planning obligations should be set out in plans and examined in 
public.”

“It is not appropriate for plan-makers to set out new formulaic approaches to 
planning obligations in supplementary planning documents or supporting 
evidence base documents, as these would not be subject to examination.”

3.2 Having regard to the above guidance, the city council considers it is unlikely 
that it is the Government’s intention to remove all weight from existing SPD 
policies on which local authorities rely (such as Salford’s SPD on Planning 
Obligations that was adopted in June 2015), as this could leave them with no 
policies governing the use of planning obligations. Instead it would seem that 
the government is seeking to ensure that following 1 September 2019 any new 
policies are included in the development plan rather than an SPD. 

3.3 The draft SPD that the city consulted on between January and March 2019 
could be interpreted as introducing new formulaic approaches that would not 
be subject to examination and so would be contrary to the PPG. For example, 
the draft SPD set out an approach where there was an affordable housing 
requirement as high as 50% in some value areas, compared to a lower 
maximum of 20% as set out in the adopted 2015 SPD. 

3.4 Salford’s 2015 Planning Obligations SPD has been successfully implemented 
since adoption and has provided certainty and clarity to developers how 
relevant saved policies in the adopted Development Plan will be implemented. 
As a result it has helped to ensure that the impacts of new development are 
satisfactorily mitigated. Given this, and in order to avoid conflict with the 
updated PPG with regards to setting out new approaches to formulaic 

1 “National Planning Practice Guidance – planning obligations” Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 23b-
004-20190901– Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 1 September 
2019)

Page 28



5

approaches to planning obligations in SPDs, a decision has been made not to 
proceed with a comprehensive review of the 2015 SPD, as consulted upon in 
early 2019. 

3.5 Although the decision has been taken not to proceed with a comprehensive 
review of the SPD, the city council has instead carried out a minor refresh of 
the 2015 adopted SPD that does not involve changing existing formulas or 
introducing new ones, or changing the overall approach. Paragraph 1.13 of 
the refreshed SPD sets out the main changes from the 2015 SPD as follows:

 Update of financial costs to the 2019/20 financial year
 Removal of references to limitations on the pooling of planning obligations,  

due to amendments to the CIL Regulations from 1 September 2019
 Clarity as to how planning obligations will be considered in the case of  

outline planning applications  
 Expectation that viability appraisals submitted as part of the planning 

application process will be published
 Update of the residential value areas to reflect the latest viability evidence, 

and an explanation of how they have been identified from the strategic 
viability assessment that was published in January 2019

 Changed those area/dwelling type combinations that had ‘no requirement’ 
for affordable housing to ‘by negotiation’ given the need for affordable 
housing across the city, and for consistency with wording of policy H4 
(Affordable housing) of the saved UDP 

 Clarification that starter homes and discounted market sales housing are 
not considered able to meet the identified affordable housing need in 
Salford

 Additional interpretation of the application of the vacant building credit
 Explanation that the approach set out in National Planning Practice 

guidance to affordable housing on build-to-rent schemes (that is 20% 
affordable private rent at a minimum rent discount of 20% relative to local 
market rents (inclusive of service charges)) will be applied in Salford

 Minor adjustments to the lists of how commuted sums may be spent, such 
as on allotments in the case of open space contributions, and on school 
accessibility enhancements in the case of education contributions

 Explanation of the scale of transport and public realm contributions that 
was assumed in the 2019 strategic viability assessment

 Clarification around forward funding of infrastructure and services
 Statement that a monitoring fee will be charged in accordance with 

updated regulations
 Expanded guidance on highway improvement works and fees

3.6 For information, changes to the affordable housing requirements between the 
2015 SPD and the 2019 Refreshed SPD are set out at Annex 1 of this report. 

3.7 Some of the changes referred to above take into account responses received 
to the draft SPD; a schedule of comments received and the city council’s 
response to them are set out in full in the consultation statement that is a 
background document to this report. 

Page 29



6

4 RECOMMENDATION

4.1      It is recommended that the City Mayor in consultation with his Cabinet:

1. ____________________________________________________________A
dopt the Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: City of Salford Unitary Development Plan 2004 – 2016: 
Saved Policies

COMMUNITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

A community impact assessment of the Planning Obligations SPD has been 
undertaken. This concludes that the application of the SPD policies will have positive 
impacts in terms of community cohesion. 

The affordable housing policy encourages the on-site provision of affordable housing 
in order to promote the creation of mixed communities, which should result in a 
positive impact on community cohesion by ensuring the provision of a range of 
tenures within new housing development. The application of the open space and 
public realm policy requirements will support investment in the provision or 
improvement of public spaces, which should have a positive impact on community 
cohesion by providing high quality spaces for all communities to interact. The 
application of the education contribution requirement will help to ensure that there are 
sufficient primary pupil places available, and reduce the potential for overcrowding of 
schools. In this way, it should assist in preventing the issue of a shortage of primary 
school places becoming a point of tension between communities.

The application of the SPD policies will apply to all development that meets the 
identified scale thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will therefore fall 
evenly across new development and should not result in any negative impact on any 
of the protected characteristics.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: LOW

The SPD has been reviewed to reflect changes since it was adopted in 2015. In 
particular full account has been taken of changes to the government’s planning 
practice guidance which states that local planning authorities should not set new 
formulaic approaches outside of the local plan process; this has resulted in the scope 
of the review being narrowed meaning that there has been a minor refresh of the 
2015 SPD rather than a much more comprehensive review.   

Page 30



7

SOURCE OF FUNDING:

The costs associated with the Refresh of the 2015 Planning Obligations SPD are 
very limited in scale (associated with the printing of the document) and will be met 
from existing revenue budgets.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Stephanie Hall, Principal Solicitor, Shared 
Legal Service (0161 234 3094)

The legislative and constitutional requirements for the preparation and adoption of an 
SPD have been complied with. 

There is a risk that the SPD could be challenged either by way of judicial review of 
the decision to adopt the SPD, or by way of an appeal against a refusal of planning 
permission based on a failure to meet the requirements of the SPD.  The report and 
the supporting documents set out the reasons for the requirements in the SPD and 
the basis for those requirements.  The evidence base would be used to defend any 
challenge by way of judicial review or planning appeal, but there is a risk that the 
Court, a Planning Inspector or the Secretary of State could disagree with the 
Council’s position.  A finding against the Council could allow development to take 
place otherwise than in accordance with the policies in the SPD, and would therefore 
be likely to require a review of the approach to dealing with planning obligations in 
connection with development in the City. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Martin Anglesey, Finance Officer (0161 
793 3248)

Estimated printing costs of £150 to be met by existing revenue budget.
Cost Centre D4602 5702

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: n/a

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: n/a

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: The Refreshed 2015 Supplementary 
Planning Document has been prepared in liaison with colleagues in other sections of 
the council, including Property Services, Housing Strategy and Enabling, 
Development Management, Highways, Children’s Services, and the Environment and 
Climate Change team. 

Page 31



8

CONTACT OFFICERS: Matt Doherty TEL NO: 0161 793 2304

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: ALL

Page 32



9

Annex 1 - changes to the affordable housing requirements between the 2015 SPD and the Refreshed 
version 

2015 SPD requirements

P
age 33



10

Refreshed SPD (2019)

P
age 34



 
 

Salford City Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning Document  
 
 
 
 
Version for Cabinet – 26 November 
2019  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

 
 

Contents  
 
 

Page 
 

1 Introduction 
 

1  

2 Summary of policy requirements 
 

4  

3 Planning obligations and the need for this document 9  
    
4 Approach to securing planning obligations 

 
13  

5 Affordable housing 
 

24  

6 Open space 
 

30  

7 Education 
 

36  

8 Transport 
 

45  

9 Public realm 
 

47  

10 Other site-specific planning obligations 
 

50  

11 Implementation 
 

51  

12 Monitoring and review 
 

55  

 Annexes 
 

56  

 
 
 
 

 

Page 37



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

1 
 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1 In the context of the legislative changes introduced by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and changes to national 
planning guidance, in 2014-2015 Salford City Council undertook a 
comprehensive review of its approach to securing planning obligations from 
development, within the framework established via the relevant saved policies 
of the Salford unitary development plan.  
 

1.2 The city council secures planning obligations from new development within 
the city via section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Planning 
obligations are sought in order to mitigate the impact of new development, 
and to ensure that it is acceptable in planning terms. Planning obligations can 
be secured to support the delivery of a wide range of infrastructure, services 
and facilities, such as the provision of affordable housing, the improvement of 
open space, the delivery of transport improvements, or the expansion of 
schools to create additional places. 
 

1.3 This planning obligations supplementary planning document (SPD) brings 
together within a single document all of the city council’s policies relating to 
planning obligations that are supplementary to development plan policies. In 
2018, the city council commenced an update of the SPD. However, following 
further changes to national planning guidance in September 2019, this was 
scaled back to a minor refresh of the existing SPD to reflect factual changes 
in legislation, guidance, viability and costs, rather than introducing new policy 
or formulaic approaches. 
 

1.4 A key principle underpinning the approach to securing planning obligations set 
out within this document is the need to have regard to development viability. 
The cumulative impact of all financial requirements when taken together with 
other policy requirements should not compromise development viability 
across the city. The policy approach has been informed by a strategic 
assessment of viability, and the requirements vary by spatial area, reflecting 
the variation in development viability which exists across the city.   

 
1.5 The SPD specifically supplements the following saved policies of the UDP: 

 

 DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations  

 ST5 – Transport networks 

 DES3 – Design of public space 

 H1 – Provision of new housing development 

 H4 – Affordable housing 

 H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing development 

 EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and community facilities 

 A8 – Impact of development on the highway network 

 CH3 – Works within conservation areas 

 CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal 

 R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities 
 

Page 38



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

2 
 

1.6 Whilst the SPD does not form part of the development plan, it will be an 
important material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 

 
Consultation that informed the preparation of this SPD 
 
1.7 The city council invited comments between 23 May and 20 June 2014, as part 

of an initial scoping consultation, on the intention to review its approach to 
securing planning obligations. Informed by responses to this scoping 
consultation, the city council published a draft planning obligations SPD 
which was subject to a six week period of public consultation between 16 
January and 27 February 2015. The SPD was subsequently adopted on 18 
June 2015. 
 

1.8 An initial scoping consultation on a review of the 2015 SPD took place 
between 9 March and 6 April 2018, followed by consultation on a draft SPD 
between 25 January and 22 March 2019. Details of both of these stages of 
consultation, together with all representations received and the city council’s 
response to these, is set out in the consultation statement which is published 
alongside this SPD1.  

 
Sustainability appraisal and strategic environmental assessment 
 
1.9 The update of the 2015 planning obligations SPD was screened in January 

2019 for the need to undertake a sustainability appraisal and strategic 
environmental assessment and it was determined that assessments were not 
required. 

 
1.10 The determination statement can be viewed on the city council’s website at 

http://www.salford.gov.uk/planobligationspd  
 

Planning policy cancelled upon adoption of this SPD 
 
1.11 Upon adoption of the planning obligations SPD on 18 June 2015, the following 

planning policy was formally cancelled by the city council: 
 

 Planning obligations SPD (adopted 21 March 2007) 

 Education contributions SPD (adopted 29 August 2013) 

 Policies HOU3 – HOU6 of the housing planning guidance (adopted 20 
December 2006) 

 
1.12 The minor refresh of the SPD has not resulted in any further cancellation of 

policy. 
 
Changes to the SPD resulting from the refresh 
 
1.13 Only minor alterations have been made to the SPD as a result of the refresh, 

with the overall approach remaining unchanged. In addition to limited changes 
required to explain the refresh, updates to factual references such as to 

                                            
1 “Planning obligations SPD – consultation statement” – Salford City Council (November 2019). 

Page 39

http://www.salford.gov.uk/planobligationspd


Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

3 
 

national policy, guidance and legislation, and improved clarity, the principal 
amendments are as follows: 

 

 Update of financial costs to the 2019/20 financial year 

 Removal of references to limitations on the pooling of planning obligations,  
due to amendments to the CIL Regulations from 1 September 2019 

 Clarity as to how planning obligations will be considered in the case of  
outline planning applications   

 Expectation that viability appraisals submitted as part of the planning 
application process will be published 

 Update of the residential value areas to reflect the latest viability evidence, 
and an explanation of how they have been identified from the strategic 
viability assessment that was published in January 2019 

 Changed those area/dwelling type combinations that had ‘no requirement’ 
for affordable housing to ‘by negotiation’ given the need for affordable 
housing across the city, and  the wording of policy H4 (Affordable housing) 
of the saved UDP  

 Clarification that starter homes and discounted market sales housing are 
not considered able to meet the identified affordable housing need in 
Salford 

 Additional interpretation of the application of the vacant building credit 

 Explanation that the approach set out in National Planning Practice 
guidance to affordable housing on build-to-rent schemes (that is 20% 
affordable private rent at a minimum rent discount of 20% relative to local 
market rents (inclusive of service charges)) will be applied in Salford 

 Minor adjustments to the lists of how commuted sums may be spent, such 
as on allotments in the case of open space contributions, and on school 
accessibility enhancements in the case of education contributions 

 Explanation of the scale of transport and public realm contributions that 
was assumed in the 2019 strategic viability assessment 

 Clarification around forward funding of infrastructure and services 

 Statement that a monitoring fee will be charged in accordance with 
updated regulations 

 Expanded guidance on highway improvement works and fees 
  

Page 40



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

4 
 

2 Summary of policy requirements 
 
2.1 This section presents a concise summary of the city council’s proposed 

approach to securing planning obligations from development. However, in 
order to understand the approach in full, this SPD should be read as a whole.  

 
2.2 The nature of planning obligations, and the legislative requirements which 

govern their use, means that each obligation needs to be considered 
individually having regard to the site-specific circumstances of a development 
proposal. Notwithstanding this, it is possible to identify common issues that 
are likely to arise from the majority of development schemes, and for which 
planning obligations may be required to mitigate the impacts. 

 
2.3 The city council’s approach to securing planning obligations is therefore based 

around the following priorities, which derive clearly from the saved policies of 
the Salford unitary development plan: 

 

 Affordable housing – new housing development will be required to 
contribute to a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in terms of 
tenure and affordability. Developers will be required to provide an element 
of affordable housing where appropriate in order to assist in meeting local 
housing need, and this will be secured via a planning obligation. 
 

 Open space – new housing development will create additional demand for 
open space facilities, and therefore appropriate provision for formal and 
informal open space will be required, together with its ongoing 
maintenance. In some instances the most effective means of achieving 
this will be through providing some open space on-site. In other instances 
a financial contribution will be sought towards off-site provision. 
 

 Education – new housing development will generate an additional 
requirement for school places. A developer contribution will therefore be 
sought towards the expansion of primary schools within the city in order to 
accommodate the additional requirement for pupil places. In certain 
instances where there are no opportunities to expand existing schools 
within the surrounding area, a developer may be required to set aside land 
for a school. 

 

 Transport – new development will place additional pressure on existing 
transport networks within the city, and may in turn generate a requirement 
for improvements to transport infrastructure and services. Planning 
obligations will be one mechanism used in order to secure the provision of 
necessary transport works and improvements. 

 

 Public realm – new development may generate a requirement for 
investment in the public realm, where a development will generate 
intensified use of the public realm, or to provide a high quality setting for 
new development and ensure its positive integration within the urban form. 

Page 41



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

5 
 

Planning obligations may therefore be sought in order to secure the 
provision or improvement of the public realm. 

 

 Other contributions – there may be instances where a development would 
result in a material increase in the need or demand for other types of 
infrastructure or services. In these cases the city council will negotiate with 
a developer on a case by case basis having regard to site-specific 
circumstances, and planning obligations may be the mechanism for 
securing provision. 

 
2.4 The table below summarises when planning obligations will typically be 

sought, having regard to the defined thresholds which derive from saved UDP 
policies and national guidance: 

 
 PLANNING OBLIGATION TYPE 

Affordable 
housing 

Open 
space 

Education Transport Public realm Other 
obligations 

1 - 10 dwellings      Site-specific 

11 - 24 dwellings on 
sites less than 1 
hectare  (comprising 
of less than 11 
houses) 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

11 - 24 dwellings on 
sites less than 1 
hectare (comprising 
of 11 or more 
houses) 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

25 or more dwellings 
or residential sites 
over 1 hectare 
(comprising of less 
than 11 houses) 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

25 or more dwellings 
or residential sites 
over 1 hectare 
(comprising of 11 or 
more houses) 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

Less than 1,000sqm 
of non-residential 
floorspace 

     Site-specific 

Non-residential 
floorspace of 
1,000sqm or more 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

 This table is a guide and there may be specific cases that vary from this for justifiable reasons. 

 Dwellings and non-residential floorspace include both new build and change of use. The 
requirements associated with change of use applications will be considered on a case by case 
basis having regard to any net increase in the number of bed spaces (for conversions to 
residential use) and any change in intensity of use (for conversions to non-residential use). 

 Development that is mixed use or does not clearly fall into one category will be assessed on an 
individual basis for the nature of provision required. 

 

 

2.5 The approach to requiring planning obligations set out within this document 
has been developed having regard to the cumulative impact of all policy 

Page 42



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

6 
 

requirements and standards on development viability. The requirement for 
affordable housing and other planning obligations will therefore be applied 
differentially across the city, reflecting variation in development viability.  

 
2.6 The table below summarises how the planning obligation requirements apply 

differentially by spatial area:  
 

Residential 
value area 

Dwelling 
type 

Affordable housing requirementC  Other 
planning 
obligation 

contributions 

Minimum 
proportion  of 

affordable 
housing 

Tenure mix of 
affordable housing 

High 

Houses 20%  75% social / 
affordable rented  

 25% intermediate 

Full 

Apartments 20%A Full 

Mid/high 

Houses 20%  75% social / 
affordable rented 

 25% intermediate 

Full 

Apartments 10%A  100% 
intermediate 

Full 

Mid 

Houses 10%  50% social / 
affordable rented 

 50% intermediate 

Full 

Apartments By negotiation N/a 

Low/mid 
Houses By negotiation Full 

Apartments By negotiation N/a 

Low 
Houses By negotiation Full 

Apartments By negotiation N/a 
A  Affordable housing will be required for high density apartment schemesB in this value area by 
negotiation 
B  High density apartment schemes are those comprising six or more storeys. 
C Except in the case of build to rent schemes, including co-living developments, where the 
requirement is 20% affordable private rent in all value areas. 
 
Within this table: 

 ‘Full’ means that the development should contribute the full range of planning obligation 
contributions that the policy approach within this SPD requires. 

 ‘N/a’ means that the development will not typically be required to make off-site planning 
obligation contributions, on the basis of development viability. There may however be instances 
where certain site-specific planning obligations are fundamental in order to mitigate the impact 
of a development and in these circumstances the city council may refuse a planning application 
where a development would generate unacceptable impacts which could not be effectively 
mitigated and which are not outweighed by the benefits of the development.  

 For schemes comprising a mix of houses and apartments, the proportionate requirement will be 
applied to each type of dwelling respectively 

 Note that the refreshed SPD does not identify any ‘Low’ residential sales value areas in the 
City, based on the January 2019 viability assessment. 

Page 43



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

7 
 

 
2.7 The plan overleaf identifies spatially the boundaries of the residential value 

areas across the city2. In order to assist developers in identifying which value 
area a site lies within, an interactive online map of the value areas is available 
on the city council’s website at  
https://map.salford.gov.uk/planobsvalueareas/ 

 
2.8 Where a development is required to contribute to the full range of planning 

obligation contributions, the table below summarises the scale of contributions 
(at 2019/20 financial year prices): 

 

 Open space 
contribution 

(Policy OB2) 

Education 
contribution 

(Policy OB3) 

Transport 
contribution 

(Policy OB5) 

Public realm 
contribution 

(Policy OB6) 

Houses £1,594 per 
bed spaceA 

£1,160.87 per non 
principal bedroomB 

Site-specific Site-specific 

Apartments £1,151 per 
bed spaceA 

Nil Site-specific Site-specific 

A  A bed space is defined as the number of bedrooms within a dwelling, plus one. 
B  The number of non-principal bedrooms is the total number of bedrooms within a house, minus 
one.  
 
Within this table: 

 ‘Site-specific’ means that the city council may require a contribution to mitigate the impact of 
the development, and the appropriate scale of any contribution will be negotiated having regard 
to site-specific circumstances. 

 All costs identified are at 2019/20 financial year prices. In the absence of evidence which 
justifies a more substantive change, all identified costs will be increased annually in line with 
inflation by applying the Retail Prices Index (all items) annual percentage change. The revised 
cost will be published annually by the city council. The most up to date published cost at the 
point of an application’s determination will be used for the purpose of calculating the financial 
requirement. 
 

 
2.9 Where a developer considers that there are site-specific issues which mean 

that the cumulative effect of policy requirements and planning obligations 
would compromise development viability in relation to a particular scheme, the 
city council will enter into negotiations with developers to agree a reduced 
contribution where appropriate. The approach to the negotiation of reduced 
contributions is set out in section 4 of this document. 

 

                                            
2 Note that the refreshed SPD does not identify any ‘Low’ residential sales value areas in the City, 
based on the January 2019 viability assessment, and this is reflected spatially on the map 

Page 44

https://map.salford.gov.uk/planobsvalueareas/


Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

8 
 

 

P
age 45



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

9 
 

3 Planning obligations and the need for this document 
 
Introduction 
 
3.1 When determining planning applications for new development, the city council 

has to weigh a broad range of considerations to ensure that the development 
would be acceptable. One of those considerations is whether the development 
would generate a need for new or improved infrastructure, services or 
facilities, without which the development may be unacceptable. 

 
3.2 Planning obligations are one mechanism for ensuring that any such need is 

met. Planning obligations can be used to secure new or improved 
infrastructure, services and facilities, and where appropriate their 
maintenance, to ensure that new development is acceptable. The new or 
improved facilities may either be provided directly by the developer, or a 
financial contribution may be paid to the city council, which will arrange for the 
necessary investment to be made. Planning obligations can be secured to 
support the delivery of a wide range of infrastructure, such as the provision of 
affordable housing, the improvement of open space, the delivery of transport 
improvements, or the expansion of schools to create additional places. 

 
Legislative context 
 
3.3 Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides the 

mechanism for planning obligations to be secured from development. In 
addition, the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) set out additional legislation on the use of planning obligations. 
 

3.4 Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations defines that for a planning obligation to 
be taken into consideration in granting planning permission, it must be: 
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
b) directly related to the development; and 
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
3.5 Regulation 123 of the CIL Regulations previously placed limitations on the 

pooling of planning obligations. However, it was deleted by amendment 
regulations that came into force on 1 September 2019, and there are now no 
limits on pooling planning obligations. 
 

3.6 The city council’s approach to the use of planning obligations will be fully in 
accordance with these legislative requirements. In relation to Regulation 122 
of the CIL Regulations, the city council will ensure that all obligations meet 
these three statutory tests. The infrastructure project which contributions will 
be directed towards will be defined within the s106 agreement. In taking this 
approach, the city council can continue to secure financial contributions via 
planning obligations to deliver the infrastructure necessary to meet the 
additional requirements of new development.    

 
National policy context 
 

Page 46



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

10 
 

3.7 The national planning policy framework (NPPF)3 identifies that local planning 
authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development 
could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning 
obligations. It highlights that planning obligations should only be used where it 
is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition 
(paragraph 54). The NPPF also restates the three statutory tests for planning 
obligations which are defined in the CIL Regulations (paragraph 56).  
 

3.8 The NPPF sets a presumption that up-to-date policies on planning obligations 
should apply, and says that it is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether 
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at the 
application stage. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter 
for the decision-maker, and such assessments should reflect the approach in 
national guidance and be made publicly available (paragraph 57). 
 

3.9 The national planning practice guidance (PPG) provides further advice on 
planning obligations and viability. It sets out a clear expectation that viability 
assessments should be made publicly available other than in exceptional 
circumstances4. It also states that an “existing use value plus” (EUV+) 
approach should be taken to land value assumptions in viability assessments, 
which is based on the existing use value of the land plus a suitable premium 
for the landowner5. 

 
3.10 In addition, the PPG identifies that contributions for affordable housing should 

only be sought from developments comprising 10 or more dwellings, or on 
sites of 0.5 hectares or more6. The guidance also identifies that in calculating 
the affordable housing contribution, a financial credit should be made where a 
vacant building will be brought back into use, or is demolished to be replaced 
by a new building7.  
 

Development plan 
 
3.11 The planning obligations SPD supplements the following saved policies of the 

UDP: 
 

 Policy DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations relates specifically 
to planning conditions and obligations, and identifies that development that 
would have an adverse impact on any interests of acknowledged 
importance or would result in a material increase in the need or demand 
for infrastructure, services, facilities, and/or maintenance, will only be 
granted planning permission subject to planning conditions or planning 

                                            
3 “National Planning Policy Framework” – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(February 2019) 
4 “National Planning Practice Guidance - viability” Paragraph: 021 Reference ID: 10-021-20190509 – 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 9 May 2019) 
5 Ibid. Paragraph: 013 Reference ID: 10-013-20190509 
6 “National Planning Practice Guidance – planning obligations” Paragraph: 023 Reference ID: 23b-
023-20190901– Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 1 September 
2019) 
7 Ibid. Paragraph: 026 Reference ID: 23b-026-20190315 (last updated 15 March 2019) 
 

Page 47



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

11 
 

obligations that would ensure adequate mitigation measures are put in 
place. 

 

 Policy ST5 – Transport networks identifies that transport networks will 
be maintained and improved through a combination of measures, including 
the protection and extension of the network of pedestrian and cycling 
routes, the expansion and improvement of the public transport system, the 
maintenance and improvement of the highway network, and the provision 
of new road infrastructure where this will support the city’s economic 
regeneration. 

 

 Policy DES3 – Design of public space sets out a series of design criteria 
for development which includes the provision of, or works to, public space. 

 

 Policy H1 – Provision of new housing development identifies that all 
new housing development will be required to contribute towards the 
provision of a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in terms of 
size, type, tenure and affordability. The policy also identifies that new 
housing development will where necessary be required to make an 
adequate contribution to local infrastructure and facilities required to 
support the development.   

 

 Policy H4 – Affordable housing identifies that in areas where there is a 
demonstrable lack of affordable housing to meet local needs, developers 
will be required to provide an element of affordable housing of appropriate 
types on all residential sites over 1 hectare or in housing developments of 
25 or more dwellings8. 

 

 Policy H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing 
development identifies the requirements in relation to open space 
provision associated with new housing development, and states that 
planning permission for housing development will only be granted where 
adequate and appropriate provision is made for formal and informal open 
space and its maintenance over a twenty year period. The policy identifies 
that the open space should be provided either as part of the development 
or through an equivalent financial contribution based on a standard cost 
per bed space for both capital and maintenance. 

 

 Policy EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and community 
facilities relates to the provision and improvement of health and 
community facilities, and identifies that where a significant expansion of 
facilities is proposed on a site that does not currently enjoy good 
accessibility by a range of means of transport, contributions or 
improvements to pedestrian, cycling and/or public transport facilities and 
services may be sought. 

 

                                            
8 The UDP requirement for an affordable housing contribution on all residential sites over 1 hectare 
needs to be read in the context of the subsequent update to national guidance which identifies that 
contributions should not be sought from developments comprising less than 10 dwellings.  

Page 48



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

12 
 

 Policy A8 – Impact of development on the highway network identifies 
that development will not be permitted where it would have an 
unacceptable impact on the highway network. The reasoned justification 
identifies that it will be important that development proposals incorporate 
sufficient measures to ensure that they will have no unacceptable impact 
on the highway network. It identifies that planning obligations will be used 
where appropriate to ensure that any proposed mitigation or improvement 
measures are implemented. 

 

 Policy CH3 – Works within conservation areas relates to works within 
conservation areas. The reasoned justification identifies that the city 
council will seek to enter into planning obligations with developers to 
secure improvements to the public realm of conservation areas, to ensure 
that the overall impact of development on an area’s character and 
appearance is positive. 

 

 Policy CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal identifies that where 
the restoration or improvement of the canal or towpath is necessary to 
enable development to proceed satisfactorily, or where the development 
would benefit directly from the restoration or improvement, contributions 
will be sought with a view to securing such restoration or improvement. 

 

 Policy R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities identifies the 
recreation standards which are applied for the purposes of Policy H8 in 
terms of identifying the requirements in relation to open space provision 
associated with new housing development. 

 
 
 

Page 49



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

13 
 

4 Approach to securing planning obligations 
 
4.1 The nature of planning obligations, and the legislative requirements which 

govern their use, means that each obligation needs to be considered 
individually having regard to the site-specific circumstances of a development 
proposal. Notwithstanding this, it is possible to identify common issues that 
are likely to arise from the majority of development schemes, and for which 
planning obligations may be required to mitigate the impacts. 

 
4.2 The city council’s approach to securing planning obligations is therefore based 

around the following priorities, which derive clearly from the saved policies of 
the Salford unitary development plan: 

 

 Affordable housing – new housing development will be required to 
contribute to a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in terms of 
tenure and affordability. Developers will be required to provide an element 
of affordable housing where appropriate in order to assist in meeting local 
housing need, and this will be secured via a planning obligation. 
 

 Open space – new housing development will create additional demand for 
open space facilities, and therefore appropriate provision for formal and 
informal open space will be required, together with its ongoing 
maintenance. In some instances the most effective means of achieving 
this will be through providing some open space on-site. In other instances 
a financial contribution will be sought towards off-site provision. 
 

 Education – new housing development will generate an additional 
requirement for school places. A developer contribution will therefore be 
sought towards the expansion of primary schools within the city in order to 
accommodate the additional requirement for pupil places. In certain 
instances where there are no opportunities to expand existing schools 
within the surrounding area, a developer may be required to set aside land 
for a school. 

 

 Transport – new development will place additional pressure on existing 
transport networks within the city, and may in turn generate a requirement 
for improvements to transport infrastructure and services. Planning 
obligations will be one mechanism used in order to secure the provision of 
necessary transport works and improvements. 

 

 Public realm – new development may generate a requirement for 
investment in the public realm, where a development will generate 
intensified use of the public realm, or to provide a high quality setting for 
new development and ensure its positive integration within the urban form. 
Planning obligations may therefore be sought in order to secure the 
provision or improvement of the public realm. 

 

 Other contributions – there may be instances where a development would 
result in a material increase in the need or demand for other types of 

Page 50



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

14 
 

infrastructure or services. In these cases the city council will negotiate with 
a developer on a case by case basis having regard to site-specific 
circumstances, and planning obligations may be the mechanism for 
securing provision. 

 
4.3 The policies within this document and their reasoned justification provide 

supplementary guidance on when planning obligations will be required, and 
the nature of these requirements. 

 
Outline applications 
 
4.4 Several of the policies in this SPD are directly related to the number of 

dwellings, houses, bed spaces and/or non-principal bedrooms that will be 
provided in a development. For an outline planning application, it is possible 
that some or even all of these may not be known, as the number and/or type 
of dwellings may be amongst the reserved matters. 
 

4.5 In such circumstances, it will still be necessary to ensure that the development 
makes appropriate provision for infrastructure, services and facilities in 
accordance with the policies of this SPD. The preferred approach will be to 
include the relevant cost formulae in the s106 agreement, so that there is a 
clear commitment to providing appropriate contributions to priorities such as 
open space and education. Those contributions can then be calculated at the 
reserved matters stage once the number, type and/or size of dwellings is 
known, without having to amend the agreement. 

 
Thresholds 
 
4.6 Appropriate thresholds have been set for each of the types of planning 

obligation in order to provide clarity as to when particular obligations will be 
sought. 

 
4.7 In setting thresholds, the city council’s intention has been to balance the 

objective of ensuring that new development makes a proportionate 
contribution to the requirements it will generate, with the objective of not 
overburdening smaller developments which do not typically generate the 
economies of scale that larger schemes can realise.  

 
4.8 The city council has sought to develop an approach that is not overly complex, 

and therefore whilst different thresholds are applied in relation to the various 
types of planning obligation, these have been kept to a minimum where 
practicable.  

 
4.9  The table overleaf presents a summary of when planning obligations will 

typically be sought, having regard to the defined thresholds: 
 

 PLANNING OBLIGATION TYPE 

Affordable 
housing 

Open 
space 

Education Transport Public realm Other 
obligations 

1 - 10 dwellings      Site-specific 

Page 51



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

15 
 

 PLANNING OBLIGATION TYPE 

Affordable 
housing 

Open 
space 

Education Transport Public realm Other 
obligations 

11 - 24 dwellings on 
sites less than 1 
hectare  (comprising 
of less than 11 
houses) 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

11 - 24 dwellings on 
sites less than 1 
hectare (comprising 
of 11 or more 
houses) 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

25 or more dwellings 
or residential sites 
over 1 hectare 
(comprising of less 
than 11 houses) 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

25 or more dwellings 
or residential sites of 
over 1 hectare 
(comprising of 11 or 
more houses) 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

Less than 1,000sqm 
of non-residential 
floorspace 

     Site-specific 

Non-residential 
floorspace of 
1,000sqm or more 

   Site-specific Site-specific Site-specific 

 This table is a guide and there may be specific cases that vary from this for justifiable reasons. 

 Dwellings and non-residential floorspace include both new build and change of use. The 
requirements associated with change of use applications will be considered on a case by case 
basis having regard to any net increase in the number of bed spaces (for conversions to 
residential use) and any change in intensity of use (for conversions to non-residential use). 

 Development that is mixed use or does not clearly fall into one category will be assessed on an 
individual basis for the nature of provision required. 

 

 

4.10 It should be noted that the affordable housing requirement and other planning 
obligation contributions also apply differentially across the city, reflecting 
variation in development viability. Detail on how this approach applies 
differentially by spatial area is set out under ‘Viability’ below.  

 
4.11 For the purposes of applying all policies within this document, the definition of 

a house includes: 
a) self-contained residential accommodation with direct access from the 

ground floor and no adjoining accommodation either above or below, such 
as detached, semi-detached, terraced, townhouse and mews dwellings; 

b) other forms of self-contained residential accommodation that would have a 
similar function to the above in category (a), having regard to the size and 
layout of their internal and external space, particularly in terms of the 
likelihood of them being occupied by households with children.  

 

4.12 All thresholds which apply to housing development relate to the net increase 
in the number of dwellings. Net increase in this context refers to the increase 
having regard to any demolition of dwellings that may form part of a 

Page 52



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

16 
 

redevelopment scheme. Where there is a relatively short time period between 
the demolition of dwellings and their replacement as would be expected as 
part of a regeneration scheme, it will be appropriate for the demolitions to be 
deducted in calculating the net increase. In circumstances where a longer 
time period has elapsed between demolition and redevelopment, there is 
unlikely to be a case for deducting previous demolitions in calculating the net 
increase. 

 
4.13 The city council will also take into account the full extent of the site area and 

neighbouring sites, to ensure that sites are not developed in an incremental 
manner in order to remain below the defined threshold for when contributions 
will be sought.  

 
4.14 In relation to the transport and public realm contributions, as set out later 

within this document, these contributions may be required from relevant 
developments comprising 11 or more dwellings, or 1,000 square metres or 
more of non-residential floorspace. The appropriate scale of any contribution 
will be negotiated having regard to site-specific circumstances. Applicants 
proposing schemes in excess of these thresholds are therefore strongly 
encouraged to engage in pre-application discussions with the city council in 
order to determine the nature and scale of contributions that will be required, 
prior to submitting a planning application. 

 
4.15 There may also be a requirement for other planning obligations to mitigate the 

impact of a proposed development. These will be negotiated on a site-specific 
basis. No threshold has been applied in this regard, however it is likely that 
the scale of any financial requirement would increase broadly in line with the 
scale of any development, on the basis that larger developments are likely to 
generate a more significant requirement for site-specific mitigation.  

 

 

Viability  
 
4.16 The national planning practice guidance (PPG) identifies that viability 

assessment should be used by authorities to ensure that policies are realistic, 
and that the total cumulative cost of all relevant policies will not undermine 
deliverability of the plan9.  

 
Residential development 
 
4.17 In order to inform the approach within this SPD, an assessment of the viability 

of residential development within Salford has been undertaken10. The refresh 
of the SPD has been informed by an updated viability assessment11. The 
purpose of the viability assessment is to ensure that the cumulative impact of 
the affordable housing and other planning obligation requirements, when 

                                            
9 “National Planning Practice Guidance - viability” Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 10-002-20190509 – 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 9 May 2019) 
10 “Planning obligations SPD - assessment of residential viability” – Salford City Council (May 2015)  
11 “Salford Revised Draft Local Plan: Assessment of residential viability” – Salford City Council 
(January 2019) 

Page 53



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

17 
 

taken together with other local and national standards, should not compromise 
the viability of a typical scheme. It is a strategic assessment of viability across 
the city and is based on the appraisal of a number of example development 
typologies, which have been assessed across defined residential value areas.  

 
4.18 The residential value areas reflect the broad variation in residential values 

which exist across the city. They were defined in the 2015 SPD having regard 
to detailed analysis of average residential values across the city when 
calculated per square metre of floorspace. To avoid revising the value areas 
referred to in this SPD as part of the refresh, the value areas in the January 
2019 viability assessment have been converted into the equivalent of the 
original 2015 SPD value areas, taking into account the overall impact on 
viability of the policy requirements for each of those SPD value areas12. In 
some cases the equivalent value area in the 2019 viability assessment has a 
lower average value per square metre of floorspace because of a change in 
approach to calculating benchmark land values and also updated 
assumptions for some of the other costs. This has had the impact of improving 
the overall viability of development. These residential value areas are as 
follows: 

 

SPD Residential 
value area 

Average 
residential value in 
original 2015 SPD 
(per square metre 

of floorspace) 

Residential 
value area in 

the 2019 
viability 

assessment 

Average 
residential 
value in the 

2019 viability 
assessment 

High    £2,800+ 

Premium £3,400 

High £2,800 

Mid/high £2,500 

Mid/high £2,400 Mid £2,200 

Mid £2,000 Low/mid £2,000 

Low/mid £1,800 Low £1,800 

Low £1,600 N/A N/A 

 

4.19 Given that the residential value areas reflect the broad variation in residential 
development viability across the city, it has been ensured that the affordable 
housing requirements and the scale of other planning obligation contributions 
being sought are consistent with them. This approach ensures that the scale 
of developer contributions required should not compromise development 
viability.  

 
4.20 The plan at Annex A identifies spatially the boundaries of the residential value 

areas across the city, using the categories in the first column of the table 

                                            
12 A background document accompanying this refreshed SPD explains the relationship between the 
value areas in the 2015 SPD and those in the January 2019 viability assessment. 

Page 54



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

18 
 

above13. In order to assist developers in identifying which value area a site lies 
within, an interactive online map of the value areas is available on the city 
council’s website at   
https://map.salford.gov.uk/planobsvalueareas/ 

 
4.21 The viability assessment demonstrates that development schemes comprising 

houses will typically be able to support a higher level of developer contribution 
than schemes comprising apartments. In order to reflect this variation in 
viability, it is therefore necessary to take a differential approach in terms of the 
level of developer contribution required from the two types of dwelling.  

 
4.22 Informed by the updated viability assessment, the table below summarises the 

affordable housing requirement and the scale of other planning obligation 
contributions that will be sought from development within each of the 
residential value areas.  

 

Residential 
value area 

Dwelling 
type 

Affordable housing requirementC  Other 
planning 
obligation 

contributions 

Minimum 
proportion  of 

affordable 
housing 

Tenure mix of 
affordable housing 

High 

Houses 20%  75% social / 
affordable rented  

 25% intermediate 

Full 

Apartments 20%A Full 

Mid/high 

Houses 20%  75% social / 
affordable rented 

 25% intermediate 

Full 

Apartments 10%A  100% 
intermediate 

Full 

Mid 

Houses 10%  50% social / 
affordable rented 

 50% intermediate 

Full 

Apartments By negotiation N/a 

Low/mid Houses By negotiation Full 

 Apartments By negotiation N/a 

Low 
Houses By negotiation Full 

Apartments By negotiation N/a 
A Affordable housing will be required for high density apartment schemesB in this value area by 
negotiation. 
B  High density apartment schemes are those comprising six or more storeys. 
C Except in the case of build to rent schemes, including co-living developments, where the 
requirement is 20% affordable private rent in all value areas.  
 

                                            
13 Note that the refreshed SPD does not identify any ‘Low’ residential sales value areas in the City, 
based on the January 2019 viability assessment, and this is reflected spatially on the map. 

Page 55

https://map.salford.gov.uk/planobsvalueareas/


Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

19 
 

Within this table: 

 ‘Full’ means that the development should contribute the full range of planning obligation 
contributions that the policy approach within this SPD requires. 

 ‘N/a’ means that the development will not typically be required to make off-site planning 
obligation contributions, on the basis of development viability. There may however be instances 
where certain site-specific planning obligations are fundamental in order to mitigate the impact 
of a development and in these circumstances the city council may refuse a planning application 
where a development would generate unacceptable impacts which could not be effectively 
mitigated and which are not outweighed by the benefits of the development.  

 For schemes comprising a mix of houses and apartments, the proportionate requirement will be 
applied to each type of dwelling respectively. 

 Note that the refreshed SPD does not identify any ‘Low’ residential sales value areas in the 
City, based on the January 2019 viability assessment. 

 
4.23 Where a development site lies across more than one residential value area, it 

will generally be appropriate to apply the affordable housing and planning 
obligation requirement relating to the value area in which the majority of the 
site lies.  

 
4.24 The assessment of residential viability is a strategic assessment and therefore 

it does not seek to test the viability of specific sites. Inevitably, the economics 
of individual schemes will vary, reflecting site-specific conditions or abnormal 
development costs. The purpose of the assessment is to provide a broad 
assessment of viability in order to inform the process of defining an 
appropriate scale of contribution. The detailed methodology and assumptions 
that informed the approach are set out in full within the assessment14. 
 

4.25 It is recognised that for schemes with particular site abnormals the impact of 
the required level of affordable housing provision and other developer 
contributions may compromise development viability. In such instances, the 
city council will enter into negotiations with developers to consider whether 
there is a justifiable case for a reduction in the scale of contributions. The 
process for this is set out below – ‘Negotiation of reduced contributions’.   
 

4.26 As shown on the plan at Annex A, the city’s designated green belt has been 
excluded for the purposes of defining the residential value areas. 
Development within the green belt that is of a sufficient scale to generate a 
requirement for planning obligations will by definition be exceptional. In such 
instances, the scale of affordable housing provision and other planning 
obligations will be negotiated on a site by site basis. It is however expected 
that any such development would be able to support, as a minimum, the scale 
of contribution that applies within the high value area. 

 
Non-residential development 
 
4.27 The viability assessment that was published in support of the 2015 SPD15  

related exclusively to residential development, as it was only in relation to 
residential development that any formula-based approach to calculating the 
scale of planning obligations applied (i.e. relating to calculating the affordable 

                                            
14 “Salford Revised Draft Local Plan: Assessment of residential viability” – Salford City Council 
(January 2019) 
15 “Planning obligations SPD - assessment of residential viability” – Salford City Council (May 2015)  

Page 56



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

20 
 

housing requirement, and the open space and education contributions). This 
approach has been carried forward as part of the refresh of the SPD and the 
associated 2019 viability assessment16. Where obligations are required in 
relation to transport, public realm, or other site-specific requirements, these 
will be negotiated between the city council and applicant on a case by case 
basis having regard to site-specific circumstances. There would be no value in 
undertaking an assessment of viability for non-residential development, as 
where a contribution is required this will be negotiated on a case by case 
basis, and viability will be a legitimate consideration informing these 
negotiations.  

 
4.28 In relation to non-residential development, contributions may be sought across 

all areas of the city. The city council will however clearly have regard to 
viability when negotiating with an applicant on a site-specific basis. Where an 
applicant considers that a scheme would not be able to support the scale of 
contributions that the city council considers is necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms, the developer will be required to 
submit viability evidence to demonstrate why this scale of contributions could 
not be supported. The process for this is set out below.   

 
Negotiation of reduced contributions 
 
4.29 Where a developer considers that there are site-specific issues which mean 

that the cumulative effect of policy requirements and planning obligations 
would compromise development viability in relation to a particular scheme, the 
city council will enter into negotiations with a developer to determine whether 
a reduced contribution would be appropriate and, if so, the scale and nature of 
that reduction. In such circumstances, the developer will be required to 
provide the city council with appropriate evidence of the likely impact of the 
proposed planning obligation(s) on the viability of their development. The 
scope of the viability evidence that needs to be submitted is set out within the 
city council’s planning obligations proforma statement17.  

 
4.30 The Viability section of the National Planning Practice Guidance establishes a 

series of key principles that developers should have regard to in the 
preparation of viability evidence18. All viability appraisals will be expected to 
comply with these principles. This includes defining a benchmark land value 
on the basis of the existing use value of the land plus a premium for the 
landowner. Viability appraisals must be based on up-to-date evidence, with an 
appropriate breakdown of costs, which reflect local market conditions and the 
specifics of the proposed development. For example, the use of published 
development cost averages will often not be appropriate, even where they 
purport to relate to Greater Manchester or the North West, as in practice these 
are typically higher than the actual costs of developments in Salford. 

                                            
16 “Salford Revised Draft Local Plan: Assessment of residential viability” – Salford City Council 
(January 2019) 
17 “Planning obligations proforma statement” – Salford City Council 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388084/planning_obligations_pro_forma_statement.doc 
18 “National Planning Practice Guidance - viability” Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 10-002-20190509 – 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 1 September 2019) 

Page 57



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

21 
 

 

4.31 The city council will seek independent advice to review the viability evidence 
that is submitted by applicants. The costs associated with this will be met by 
the applicant. 

 
4.32 In reviewing the viability evidence, the city council will take a view on the 

applicant’s case as a whole. There will be instances where certain planning 
obligations are fundamental in order to mitigate the impact of a development, 
and therefore even where a viability assessment demonstrates that a scheme 
is unable to support any obligations, this does not necessarily mean that these 
requirements can always be waived. In such instances the city council may 
therefore refuse a planning application where a development would generate 
unacceptable impacts which could not be effectively mitigated and which are 
not outweighed by the benefits of the development and other material 
considerations.  

 
4.33 The city council recognises that to be considered viable, development should 

provide competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing developer to 
enable the development to be deliverable. It is however expected that 
developers should have regard to the scale of policy requirements and 
planning obligations when acquiring land as part of their due diligence, and 
therefore where a developer has clearly overpaid for a site this will not be 
accepted as a justification for negotiating a reduced contribution.  

 
4.34 Where a developer intends to submit viability evidence as the basis for 

seeking to negotiate a reduced contribution, this evidence must be received 
prior to validation of the planning application unless otherwise agreed at the 
pre-application stage. Where evidence is submitted following validation 
without prior agreement, this will only be accepted where the application 
agrees to an appropriate extension of time for the determination of the 
planning application, given that the timescales associated with its independent 
appraisal and subsequent negotiation may compromise the city council’s 
ability to meet the planning application determination deadline.  

 
4.35 Where the city council accepts the applicant’s case for a reduced contribution, 

the city council will need to take a view on the prioritisation of the various 
contributions, having regard to the impact on development viability as a whole.  

 
Transparency 
 
4.36 Good information on how planning obligations have been agreed and used is 

essential to maintaining public confidence in the planning system. 
 
4.37 Where planning obligations do not accord with all of the policy requirements in 

this SPD, it is important that local communities can understand fully why a 
reduced contribution is considered necessary and appropriate. The 
publication of viability appraisals is a key aspect of this. The PPG is clear that: 

Page 58



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

22 
 

“Any viability assessment should be prepared on the basis that it will be made 
publicly available other than in exceptional circumstances”19. 

 
4.38 The city council will apply a presumption that all viability assessments 

submitted as part of the planning application process, or in relation to 
clawback (see below), will be published. In accordance with the above advice 
in the PPG, the city council will only depart from this presumption where this 
would create a genuinely exceptional problem for the applicant that is highly 
unlikely to apply to other developments and clearly outweighs the benefits of 
publishing the full viability assessment. 

 
4.39 The city council produces quarterly reports on planning obligation income and 

expenditure, which are published on its website20. This helps to ensure that 
people can understand the scale of financial contributions, and how and 
where they are being spent. 

 
Clawback mechanism 
 
4.40 Where the city council accepts an applicant’s case for a reduced contribution, 

it will typically require the applicant to enter into a legal agreement which 
would require the developer to make a financial contribution in the event that 
the viability of a scheme improves subsequent to the undertaking of the initial 
viability appraisal. It may be that in the period between the point of an 
application’s submission and the completion of a development (which will 
typically be a number of years for larger schemes), the viability of a scheme 
improves. This could be due to a range of variables, such as a reduction in 
construction costs, or an increase in sales values. 

 
4.41 In such instances, it will be appropriate that a developer submits an updated 

viability appraisal in order to demonstrate whether the scheme could have 
supported an increased developer contribution (addressing both affordable 
housing and other planning obligations where relevant). The city council will 
agree via negotiation with a developer the appropriate trigger points for the 
submission of updated viability evidence. In relation to a large scheme, or one 
that will be constructed in a series of defined phases, it will typically be 
appropriate to require the submission of an updated viability appraisal at one 
or more points over the course of development. 

 
4.42 The city council will enter into a legal agreement with a developer in relation to 

the clawback mechanism, which defines the process for the submission of 
updated viability evidence and the mechanism for the recovery of any financial 
contributions. The developer will be liable to pay any fees incurred by the city 
council in relation to the independent financial appraisal of the viability 
evidence, and to pay any fees incurred associated with the preparation of the 
legal agreement.  

 

                                            
19 “National Planning Practice Guidance - viability” Paragraph: 021 Reference ID: 10-021-20190509 – 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 9 May 2019) 
20 https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-obligations-and-
community-infrastructure-levy/planning-obligations-income-and-expenditure/  

Page 59

https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-obligations-and-community-infrastructure-levy/planning-obligations-income-and-expenditure/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/planning-building-and-regeneration/planning-obligations-and-community-infrastructure-levy/planning-obligations-income-and-expenditure/


Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

23 
 

4.43 In calculating the maximum value of any clawback that may be payable, 
regard will be had to the full scale of affordable housing and other planning 
obligation requirements that would normally apply as set out within this SPD. 
The city council will direct any developer contributions secured via the 
clawback mechanism in accordance with the policies of this SPD. 

 
Pre-application engagement 
 
4.44 Applicants are strongly encouraged to engage in pre-application discussions 

with the city council in order to determine the nature and scale of contributions 
that will be required, prior to submitting a planning application. This will ensure 
that the determination of applications is not unnecessarily delayed. Details of 
the process for engaging with the city council at the pre-application stage are 
set out on our website at http://www.salford.gov.uk/preapplicationadvice  

 

Page 60

http://www.salford.gov.uk/preapplicationadvice


Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

24 
 

5 Affordable housing 
 
Background  
 
5.1 The national panning policy framework (NPPF) emphasises the importance of 

the delivery of high quality housing across all tenures, including affordable 
housing. Paragraph 62 of the NPPF states that where a need for affordable 
housing is identified, policies specifying the type of affordable housing 
required should be set.   

 
5.2 Criterion 1 of saved UDP policy H1 ‘Provision of new housing development’ 

requires that all new housing development will be required to contribute 
towards the provision of a balanced mix of dwellings within the local area in 
terms of size, type, tenure and affordability.  

 
5.3 Saved UDP policy H4 ‘Affordable housing’ states that: 
 
 “In areas where there is a demonstrable lack of affordable housing to meet 

local needs, developers will be required, by negotiation with the city council, to 
provide an element of affordable housing, of appropriate types, on all 
residential sites over 1 hectare, irrespective of the number of dwellings, or in 
housing developments of 25 or more dwellings.” 

 
5.4 As of September 2019 there were 6,514 households on the housing register 

seeking affordable housing in Salford, with the vast majority of these being in 
priority need. Using the methodology in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance, the 2019 Greater Manchester Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment21 identifies a need for 613 affordable homes per annum in 
Salford if the backlog of need were to be addressed over the next five years.   
Given this, the city council will negotiate the provision of affordable housing in 
all residential schemes that are above the thresholds set out in saved UDP 
policy H4. Having regard to the evidence (including that relating to financial 
viability), the policy below sets out as a starting point for negotiation, the 
proportion, size, type and tenure of affordable housing that will be sought.   

 
5.5 This policy supplements saved UDP policies H1 and H4.  
  

                                            
21“Greater Manchester Strategic Housing Market Assessment” – Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (January 2019) 

Page 61



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

25 
 

 
Policy OB1 – Affordable housing 
 
Affordable housing should be provided in housing developments of 25 or more 
dwellings, or on all residential sites over 1 hectare which comprise 11 or more 
dwellings. 
 
The proportion and tenure of the affordable housing should be provided in 
accordance with the table below, except in the case of build to rent and co-living 
schemes. Where the requirements do not result in whole dwellings, provision will 
be rounded up where it is 0.5 or more, and rounded down where it is below 0.5. 
 

Residential 
value area 

Dwelling 
type 

Affordable housing requirement (excluding build to 
rent and co-living schemes) 

Minimum 
proportion  of 

affordable 
housing 

Tenure mix of affordable housing 

High 
Houses 20%  75% social / affordable rented  

 25% intermediate Apartments 20%A 

Mid/high 

Houses 20%  75% social / affordable rented 

 25% intermediate 

Apartments 10%A  100% intermediate 

Mid 

Houses 10%  50% social / affordable rented 

 50% intermediate 

Apartments By negotiation 

Low/mid 
Houses By negotiation 

Apartments By negotiation 

LowC 
Houses By negotiation 

Apartments By negotiation 
A Affordable housing will be required for high density apartment schemesB in this value area by 
negotiation. 
B  High density apartment schemes are those comprising six or more storeys. 
C Note that the refreshed SPD does not identify any ‘Low’ residential sales value areas in the 
City, based on the January 2019 viability assessment. 
 

 
In the case of build to rent schemes, including co-living developments, 20% of 
units should be in the form of affordable private rent at a minimum rent discount of 
20% relative to local market rents (inclusive of service charges), in accordance 
with National Planning Practice Guidance on Build to Rent22.  

                                            
22 “National Planning Practice Guidance – Build to rent” Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 60-002-
20180913– Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 13 September 
2019) 

Page 62



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

26 
 

 
The affordable housing should be provided on-site, unless off-site provision or a 
financial contribution of broadly equivalent value is robustly justified. For example, 
in some circumstances on-site provision may not be practicable, whilst off-site 
provision or a financial contribution may better meet identified need.    
 
In the high, mid/high and mid value areas where there is a specified requirement 
for social and affordable rented dwellings, the total number to be provided to meet 
the requirement should be made up of 50% social rented and 50% affordable 
rented.  
 
Given that there is a demonstrable need for all types and sizes of affordable 
housing, in the first instance the city council will expect that the affordable 
dwellings should reflect the dwelling mix across the development as a whole. 
 
A different mix of tenures, types and sizes may be appropriate on an individual site 
where there is clear evidence that this would help to better meet specifically 
identified local needs and address site-specific circumstances. The identification of 
any such need will be informed by discussions with the city council and registered 
providers where they are to manage the affordable housing, having regard to the: 

 Most up to date choice based lettings data 

 Households likely to be allocated to the affordable dwellings  

 Existing supply of affordable housing in the local area 

 Size and type of dwellings in the surrounding area 

 Characteristics of a site 

 Scale of the proposed development 

 Level of local house prices and incomes 

 Financial viability of a proposed scheme 
 
Affordable housing should be designed and built to an appropriate and agreed 
standard, such that homes are fully integrated into a development as far as 
practicable, with visible differences between tenures minimised. Although the 
affordable dwellings should normally be “pepper-potted”, small clusters of up to ten 
will be acceptable given the practicalities of managing and maintaining units.  
 
Early involvement of the city council and registered providers in site discussions 
and design is strongly encouraged, preferably at the pre-application stage, in order 
to ensure that the affordable housing will meet relevant standards and 
requirements.    
 
The provision of affordable housing will be secured through a section 106 
agreement. 
 
Financial viability 
 
In instances where an applicant demonstrates to the city council’s satisfaction that 
full or partial delivery of the affordable housing requirement is not possible on 
viability grounds, the city council will negotiate alternative provision having regard 
to local need. In circumstances where obligations are reduced or waived, clawback 
mechanisms will be put in place should viability improve subsequently.  

Page 63



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

27 
 

 
Definitions 
 
Affordable housing is defined in annex 2 of the NPPF. It includes housing for sale 
or rent, provided to eligible households whose needs are not met by the market. 
For the purposes of this policy, ‘intermediate’ dwellings should be provided in the 
form of shared ownership.  
 
Affordable housing should include provisions to remain at an affordable price for 
future eligible households or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative 
affordable housing provision.  
 
Starter homes and discounted market sales housing are not considered able to 
meet the identified affordable housing need in Salford, and will not therefore be an 
acceptable form of provision when the city council considers compliance with 
saved UDP policy H4 and this supplementary planning document.  
 
The requirement for affordable housing set out in this policy applies to all types of 
self contained residential development including retirement dwellings. Care 
homes, residential and nursing homes, and student accommodation that are not 
individual units of self contained accommodation are not required to provide 
affordable housing.  
 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
5.6 The thresholds for when affordable housing is required as part of new 

developments are set out in saved UDP policy H4. Policy OB1 applies the 
UDP thresholds in the context of national guidance23.  

 
5.7 The requirements within the policy are a starting point for negotiations. As 

required by the NPPF they are based on a range of viability appraisals that 
considered various sizes and dwelling mixes in different parts of the city, as 
part of an assessment of the viability of residential development. The detailed 
methodology and assumptions that justify the approach are set out in full 
within the assessment24. 

 
5.8 Separate requirements are set for schemes comprising houses and schemes 

comprising apartments, given that the viability assessment demonstrates that 
there are significant differences between them in terms of their viability and 
therefore their scope to support affordable housing. Where a scheme as a 
whole exceeds the thresholds for when the policy applies, and comprises both 
houses and apartments, the relevant affordable requirements will be applied 
proportionately to the houses and the apartments. For example, in a 
development of 100 dwellings, comprising 60 houses and 40 apartments (of 

                                            
23 National Planning Practice Guidance identifies that affordable housing contributions should only be 
sought from developments comprising 10 dwellings or more, or where the site has an area of 0.5 
hectares or more. 
24 “Salford Revised Draft Local Plan: Assessment of residential viability” – Salford City Council 
(January 2019) 

Page 64



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

28 
 

less than six storeys in height) in the mid/high value area, the following 
requirements would apply:  

 

Dwelling type  Total dwellings 
in scheme 

Affordable housing 
requirement 

Affordable 
dwellings 

Houses 60 20% 12 

Apartments 40 10% 4 

Total 100  16 

 
5.9 The required tenure mix highlighted in the policy was primarily derived from a 

range of housing and other socio-economic data including the 2011 Census; 
the findings of the city council’s published Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment and evidence of the need for affordable housing; the objectives 
of securing mixed communities and greater diversity in the stock; the longer 
term sustainability of neighbourhoods; and financial viability. Furthermore, 
regard has been had to criterion 1 of saved UDP policy H1 relating to 
contributing to a balanced mix of dwellings in the local area.      

 
5.10 It is recognised that there may be site-specific circumstances where a lower 

level of provision, a different tenure mix, or no provision at all may be 
appropriate given the financial viability of development. The approach that will 
be taken in relation to the negotiation of reduced contributions is set out in 
paragraphs 4.29 to 4.35 of this SPD.  

 
5.11 In line with national guidance, the city council will allow for a vacant building 

credit when calculating the affordable housing contribution25. The vacant 
building credit will be applied where development would involve a vacant 
building being brought back into lawful use, or being demolished to be 
replaced by a new building. In such instances, the developer would be offered 
a financial credit equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of relevant vacant 
buildings in the calculation of the affordable housing contribution. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the vacant building credit will not be applied where any of 
the following apply to the building: it has been demolished; it has been 
abandoned; it has been made vacant for the sole purpose of redevelopment; it 
was occupied at the time the planning application was submitted; it is covered 
by an extant or recently expired planning permission for a similar 
development; it is protected for an alternative land use; it is a temporary 
structure; or it is of a secondary nature such as a shed or outbuilding. 

 
5.12 There is a demonstrable affordable housing need across the city for houses 

and apartments, and properties ranging from one bedroom to four bedrooms 
or more. It is considered impracticable and potentially undeliverable for each 
individual development to make provision to meet all of the varied needs that 
have been identified. Therefore, the approach set out in the policy is that 
where affordable housing is required, the starting point is that the type and 
size of the affordable dwellings should reflect the development as a whole. 
Given that new developments across the city when taken on a cumulative 

                                            
25 “National Planning Practice Guidance – planning obligations” Paragraphs: 026 to 028 – Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 15 March 2019) 

Page 65



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

29 
 

basis will provide a full range of types and sizes, this approach will ensure that 
new developments will be making provision that contributes towards meeting 
the identified affordable housing need for different property types and sizes.  

 
5.13 The city council would strongly encourage developers to bring forward 

affordable housing in partnership with registered providers (RP) of affordable 
housing. Early engagement between the city council, RP and developer is 
also encouraged given the complexity of providing affordable housing. This 
will be particularly important for high density apartment schemes where there 
may be specific management issues for RPs associated with the integration of 
affordable dwellings in such schemes. 

 
5.14 Where an RP is involved, the developer should normally build the dwellings to 

the specification of the RP and sell them to the RP at an agreed discount on 
the sale price. This discount will be based on the projected rental income and 
the RP’s borrowing limits, and will vary by property type, number of bedrooms, 
and tenure to be provided.   

 
5.15 Where affordable housing is required it should be provided on-site. However, 

in accordance with NPPF paragraph 62 (bullet point a), off-site provision or a 
financial contribution of broadly equivalent value may be acceptable where 
this is robustly justified. Where a financial contribution is considered 
acceptable, the approximate cost of on-site provision to the developer will be 
established and the developer will pay this value to the city council. The cost 
to a developer of providing affordable housing is different by tenure, and so 
account will be taken of the tenure mix that would normally be sought on-site 
when calculating the value of the financial contribution. In addition,  the city 
council will have regard to information from RPs active in the city in relation to 
the discounts they would normally need off the open market sales value to be 
able to manage properties.     

 
5.16 Where a financial contribution has been agreed the city council will expect the 

developer to enter into a s106 agreement which will set out details including 
the timing of the payment and the point at which it is calculated, and the 
timescale within which it will be used. Any payment received will be held in a 
ring-fenced account and will be used to support affordable housing delivery. 
Having regard to this, amongst other things, financial contributions towards 
affordable housing will be used by the city council in the following ways: 

 

 Assembly of land to support affordable housing delivery; 

 Gap funding for affordable housing provision by RPs; 

 Funding to support city council approved affordable housing products, 
including shared ownership and shared equity; and  

 Any suitable means to support affordable housing as per objectives within 
the housing strategy (or equivalent). 

 
 
 
 

Page 66



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

30 
 

6 Open space 
 
Background  
 
6.1 The provision of high quality open space facilities is a vital element of 

successful residential areas. New housing development creates additional 
demand for such facilities, and it is therefore important that this is satisfied 
either through the provision of new facilities or the improvement of existing 
ones. 

 
6.2 Saved unitary development plan (UDP) policy H8 ‘Open space provision 

associated with new housing development’ requires new housing 
development to make adequate and appropriate provision for formal and 
informal open space, and its maintenance over a twenty year period.   

 
6.3 In some instances the most effective means of meeting the need generated 

by a development will be through providing an area of open space on-site 
within a development scheme. Equally, in some instances the most effective 
means of meeting the need generated will be by the provision or improvement 
of open space facilities within the surrounding area.  

 
6.4 Where a development does not provide any open space on-site, a financial 

contribution will be sought towards off-site provision. Equally, where a 
development does provide open space on-site, subject to the nature and 
value of this provision, it may be that a proportionate financial contribution 
towards off-site provision will be required in addition. Such financial 
contributions will be secured via planning obligation and this policy provides 
guidance on how the appropriate scale of contribution will be calculated. 

 

 
Policy OB2 – Open space contribution 
 
New housing development that would result in a net increase of 11 or more 
dwellings and which includes no on-site provision of open space will be expected 
to make a financial contribution towards the provision or improvement of off-site 
open space as follows: 
 

 House: £1,594 per bed space (at 2019/20 financial year prices) 

 Apartment (and other forms of accommodation which are not encompassed 
within the definition of a house): £1,151 per bed space (at 2019/20 financial 
year prices) 

 
Where a development does provide open space on-site, a calculation of the value 
of this facility will be made. Where the value of the on-site provision falls below the 
scale of the formula-based financial contribution (as set out above) and the 
proposed development would not meet the recreation standards set out in the 
saved UDP policies, payment of the balance will be required via a financial 
contribution towards off-site provision. 
 

Page 67



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

31 
 

Whether open space is provided on-site or whether a contribution is made towards 
off-site provision, the developer will be required to ensure that the open space will 
be appropriately maintained in the long term.  
 
For the purposes of this policy, a bed space is defined as the number of bedrooms 
within a dwelling, plus one. 
 
The open space cost per bed space will be published annually by the city council. 
The most up to date published cost at the point of an application’s determination 
will be used for the purposes of calculating the financial requirement.  
 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
6.5 Saved UDP policy H8 identifies that the amount of open space to be provided 

associated with new housing development will be calculated having regard to 
the aim of achieving the standards set out in saved UDP policy R2 ‘Provision 
of recreation land and facilities’. Policy R2 identifies standards relating to four 
types of open space provision: 

 a full range of youth and adult facilities in each service delivery area; 

 a minimum proportion of 0.92 hectares of high quality managed sports 
pitches per 1,000 population26; 

 a minimum of 0.25 hectares of equipped children’s playspace per 1,000 
population; and 

 amenity open space to a standard reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development it serves and sufficient to meet the need for casual 
children’s play space.   

 
6.6 In addition to these standards, the policy also identifies walking distance 

standards, relating to the accessibility of households to equipped children’s 
playspace and to neighbourhood and district parks. 

 
6.7 In order to calculate the appropriate scale of contribution that each new 

development will generate, the costs of providing open space have been 
calculated on a per bed space basis.  

 
6.8 The policy identifies that a bed space is defined as the number of bedrooms 

within a dwelling, plus one. For example, a two bedroom dwelling has three 
bed spaces, and a four bedroom dwelling has five bed spaces. Bed spaces 
represent the number of people that could reasonably be expected to occupy 
a dwelling, and therefore its likely impact on the need for open space. Studio 
apartments are considered to have two bed spaces, given that they will 
normally be designed to enable occupation by up to two persons.  

 

                                            
26 In relation to this standard, saved UDP policy R2 identified a minimum proportion of 0.73 hectares 
of high quality managed sports pitches per 1,000 population. The requirement was however 
subsequently revised upwards on the basis of the ‘Playing pitch and outdoor sports assessment 
report’ (Knight, Kavanagh and Page on behalf of Salford City Council (December 2007)), which 
updated the local sports pitch standard to 0.92 hectares per 1,000 population. 

Page 68



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

32 
 

6.9 The policy applies to all forms of dwelling, including other forms of 
accommodation which are not encompassed within the definition of a house. It 
therefore applies to specialist forms of accommodation, recognising that such 
development will typically generate a requirement for open space provision. In 
calculating the number of bed spaces within specialist forms of 
accommodation, the city council will have regard to the nature of proposed 
use and occupation. For example, in relation to student accommodation 
where each bedroom is designed for occupation by one student, each student 
bedroom will be counted as one bed space. In relation to retirement living 
accommodation, where each unit is designed for occupation by up to two 
persons, each unit will be counted as two bed spaces. 

 
6.10 The costs of delivering each of the types of open space provision have been 

informed by data published by Sport England on the costs of delivering new 
sports facilities, and by empirical data collated by the city council on the costs 
associated with recent investment in open space across the city. The table 
overleaf provides a summary of how the open space costs were derived for 
2015/16, which have then been inflated using the Retail Prices Index (all 
items) to give the figures for 2019/20. A more detailed explanation is set out at 
Annex B.     

 
Type of 
facility 

Cost of provision per m2 Provision 
standard 
(hectares 
per 1,000 

population) 

Cost per capita (or bed space) to achieve 
provision standard (i.e. (cost of provision 
per m2 x provision standard x 10,000) / 

1,000) 

Capital Maintenance 
(over 20 year 

period) 

Capital Maintenance 
(over 20 year 

period) 

Total (capital 
and 

maintenance) 

Youth and 
adult 
facilities 
 

£120.33 £65.57 0.4A £481 £262 £743 

Sports 
pitches 
 

£9.74 £8.48 0.92B £90 £78 £168 

Equipped 
children’s 
playspace 
 

£97.56 £62.46 0.25C £244 £156 £400 

Amenity 
space 
 

£17.50 £14.40 0.4A £70 £58 £128 

2015/16 total £1,439 
 

Total inflated to 2019/20 prices using the Retail Prices Index (all items) £1,594 
A Derived from “The Six Acre Standard” – National Playing Field Association (1998). 
B Derived from “Playing pitch and outdoor sports assessment report” – Knight, Kavanagh and Page on 
behalf of Salford City Council (December 2007). 
C Identified in saved UDP Policy R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities, and also derived from 
“The Six Acre Standard” – National Playing Field Association (1998). 

 
6.11 This identifies that the proportionate cost (capital and maintenance) 

associated with meeting all of these standards would equate to £1,594 per 
capita (or per bed space) at 2019/20 prices.  

 

Page 69



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

33 
 

6.12 It is recognised that the open space needs of different types of dwelling will 
vary. Houses can be expected to generate a requirement for each of the four 
types of provision, and therefore the £1,594 per capita figure is appropriate in 
this context. There will however typically be a reduced requirement for 
equipped children’s playspace associated with the development of 
apartments. The evidence base which was assembled in order to inform the 
education contribution demonstrates that the average primary pupil yield from 
dwellings in the form of apartments within the city is minimal27. On this basis, it 
is not considered that a contribution towards equipped children’s playspace 
can be justified from apartments or other forms of accommodation which are 
unlikely to be occupied by households with children. Removing this from the 
calculation, the proportionate cost (capital and maintenance) to be applied in 
relation to apartments (and other forms of accommodation which are not 
encompassed within the definition of a house) would be £1,151 per capita (or 
per bed space) at 2019/20 prices.  

 
6.13 It should be noted that this approach does not calculate a separate financial 

contribution towards parks as there is no defined standard from which to 
quantify the provision of parks on a per capita basis. These figures are 
therefore likely to underestimate the actual cost of open space requirement 
that new housing will generate, however no additional contribution over and 
above the requirement set out in policy OB2 will be sought in this regard. It will 
however be appropriate for financial contributions to be directed to parks, 
recognising that this will often be the most appropriate location for open space 
facilities to be located.  

 
6.14 In the absence of evidence which justifies a more substantive change in costs, 

the open space cost per bed space will be increased annually in line with 
inflation. This will be undertaken by applying the Retail Prices Index (all items) 
annual percentage change to the value of the cost. The revised cost will be 
published annually by the city council. The most up to date published cost at 
the point of an application’s determination will be used for the purpose of 
calculating the financial requirement. 

 
Maintenance 
 
6.15 Whether open space is provided on-site, or a financial contribution is secured 

towards its off-site provision, the developer will need to ensure that the long 
term maintenance of the open space is effectively provided for.  

 
6.16 Where open space is to be provided on-site, the city council’s preference will 

generally be to assume management responsibility for any new open space. 
This is in order to provide a consistent and reliable approach to maintenance 
that is clearly accountable to the local community, recognising that where a 
developer has put private management arrangements in place and issues 
have arisen, the city council has often needed to intervene to rectify any 
issues that could not otherwise be resolved.  

                                            
27 “Planning obligations SPD: background document on primary pupil yield methodology and evidence 
base” – Salford City Council (June 2015). 

Page 70



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

34 
 

 
6.17 Where the city council assumes management responsibility for new open 

space, the developer will therefore be required to make a financial contribution 
towards the maintenance costs over a twenty year period. The appropriate 
contribution will be calculated having regard to the maintenance element of 
the published open space costs that applies to the particular type of open 
space which is being provided. 

 
6.18 Where the city council does not assume management responsibility for new 

open space, the developer should ensure that its ongoing maintenance is 
provided for in the form of a management company or trust that is responsible 
for the upkeep of the open space in perpetuity to the satisfaction of the city 
council. In these circumstances, a covenant will be required to ensure that the 
area is available as public open space, together with an agreed specification 
for maintenance and management to ensure that the open space is properly 
cared for. 

 
6.19 Where a financial contribution is secured towards the off-site provision of open 

space, a sum to cover its maintenance over a twenty year period is factored in 
to the value of the open space contribution set out within the policy.  

 
How contributions will be spent 
 
6.20 Financial contributions raised will be directed towards funding the capital costs 

associated with the provision or improvement of open space facilities, and 
towards the ongoing maintenance of those facilities which have been subject 
to provision or improvement.  

 
6.21 Contributions will be directed towards a specific project which will be named 

within the planning obligation agreement, or towards a type of open space in 
order to provide more flexibility in how the open space needs of the 
development are met. Other sources of funding from the city council or other 
organisations may also be directed towards a project where appropriate, and 
therefore developers may only provide a proportion of the total investment 
required to deliver the project.  

 
6.22 Whilst the scale of the financial contribution has been calculated having 

regard to the four types of open space facility as derived from the UDP policy, 
it would not be realistic to direct each individual contribution towards all of 
these four types. Such an approach would typically result in a small 
contribution towards each type, which would be insufficient to deliver any 
single facility. It would therefore be contingent on awaiting a number of 
contributions of a sufficient scale to be secured within the surrounding area 
which could be pooled together towards delivering a facility. This could mean 
that contributions are not spent until a number of years after a development is 
complete, resulting in a deficit of local provision in the interim. In order to 
maximise the effectiveness of any investment and to minimise any delay 
between a development’s completion and the provision or improvement of an 
open space facility, each contribution will therefore typically be directed 
towards funding a single facility type, having regard to the priority schemes 

Page 71



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

35 
 

locally. Whilst an individual contribution may be directed towards only one 
facility type, over time contributions will be directed towards the full range of 
open space facilities in the context of addressing any deficits in local 
provision.   

 
6.23 Contributions may be directed towards the provision or improvement of a 

range of open space facilities, including: 

 The full range of youth and adult facilities, such as bowling greens, tennis 
courts, all weather pitches, skateboard and wheeled facilities, basketball 
courts; 

 High quality managed sports pitches, including football, rugby and cricket, 
and associated changing facilities; 

 Equipped children’s playspace; 

 Amenity open space; 

 Natural greenspace; 

 Parks; and 

 Allotments. 
 
6.24 Contributions may also be directed towards access improvements to such 

open space facilities, focused on their immediate vicinity. This will help to 
minimise potential barriers to residents of a development enjoying such 
facilities, and hence increase the effectiveness of off-site open space 
provision in meeting the needs generated by the development. 

 
6.25 In relation to maintenance, it will generally only be appropriate for 

contributions to be directed towards the ongoing maintenance of those 
facilities which have been subject to provision or improvement via developer 
contributions, or where open space investment has been forward funded 
utilising public funding in advance of development coming forward.  

 
Calculating the value of on-site provision 
 
6.26 In calculating the value of any on-site open space provision, the city council 

will have regard to the quantity, quality and location of the provision. The 
quantity will be calculated as a proportion of the relevant local standard based 
on the total number of bed spaces within the development. The quality will be 
specific to the type of open space being provided, but the space must have a 
clear recreation function and be appropriately located within the site. The 
value of any land set-aside for open space provision will not be included for 
the purposes of the calculation.  

 

Page 72



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

36 
 

7 Education 
 
Background 
 
7.1 Over recent years, Salford has faced a significant increase in the demand for 

primary school places, and pupil projections indicate that this increase will be 
sustained. The increase in demand for school places is creating significant 
pressures at the primary school level, where the majority of schools across 
the city are already full or approaching capacity. The issue is citywide in its 
scope, and whilst there are some areas of the city where the shortage of 
primary places is more acute, it is an issue facing all of the city’s 
neighbourhoods. 

 
7.2 Salford began to experience a particular increase in demand for primary 

school places in late 2010. The rise in birth rate, along, with an increase in 
migration has led to increased and on-going demand for places. Since 2011, 
with the expansion of existing schools, the local authority has created an 
additional 5,000 primary school places (the equivalent of twenty four 1-Form 
Entry primary schools). Government data shows that by 2020/21 there will 
have been a 33% growth in primary pupil numbers since 2009/10 across the 
city28.   

 
7.3 Salford City Council derives its primary pupil projections from GP-registration 

data and Office of National Statistics data relating to births, enabling the city 
council to project with significant confidence the number of pupils that will 
require places in future years.  

 
7.4 It is important to highlight that these projections do not take account of any 

additional requirement for pupil places that will be generated by new housing 
development within the city. It is clear that additional housing development will 
create further pressure in terms of the requirement for school places. 

 
7.5 In order to fulfil its statutory duty to provide school places, the city council has 

had to direct significant investment towards the creation of additional primary 
school places. This has been achieved through a range of measures, 
including bringing back all available space within existing school buildings to 
create additional classrooms, extending school buildings on their existing site, 
and where necessary through the expansion of existing schools via split-site 
solutions using land within the city council’s ownership for the erection of new 
school buildings. 

 
7.6 In response to the shortage of pupil places nationally, central government has 

previously made financial allocations to those authorities facing the greatest 
pressure on pupil places via basic need funding. The National Planning 
Practice Guidance states that government funding for delivery programmes 
for the provision of new school places do not replace the requirement for 

                                            
28 “Local Authority School Places Scorecards 2018” – Department for Education (June 2019) 

Page 73



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

37 
 

developer contributions for education in principle29. Following this in April 
2019, the Department for Education published guidance stating that it 
“expects local authorities to seek developer contributions towards school 
places that are created to meet the need arising from housing development.”30  

 
Basis for requiring contributions 
 
7.7 As identified above, the city council’s pupil projections are derived from GP-

registration data of pre-school age children but these do not take account of 
any additional requirement for pupil places that will be generated by new 
housing development within the city.  
 

7.8 Whilst the interventions that the city council has delivered to meet the 
requirement arising from pupil projections have created a degree of localised 
capacity in the short term, this is to accommodate the projected future 
requirement for places arising from existing households within the local area. 
It would not therefore be appropriate for this short term capacity to be used by 
a developer as a basis for not making a proportionate contribution towards the 
additional requirement for pupil places that their scheme will generate.  

 
7.9 Such an approach would absorb capacity designed to address future pupil 

projections arising from existing households, resulting in an overall shortfall of 
primary pupil places. It would also result in a first-come first-served approach 
whereby the first developer to obtain consent within an area would absorb any 
spare capacity, whilst subsequent developers would be required to make a 
contribution. It would be inequitable for this capacity to be used up by earlier 
developers as the basis for not making a proportionate contribution. 

 
7.10 New housing development will clearly generate an additional requirement for 

pupil places over and above the city council’s pupil projections. As at 31 
March 2019, there were 3,129 houses with extant planning permission for 
housing within Salford31. The delivery of these houses can be expected to 
generate a requirement for around 845 additional primary pupil places at the 
citywide level32. This would result in the working surplus which exists at the 
citywide level being eroded within the short term, and would result in an 
overall deficit of around 675 pupil places by 2023/24. There will need to be 
continued expansion of the city’s primary school estate in order to 
accommodate the requirement for pupil places that new housing development 
will generate. It is therefore appropriate that all new housing development 
contributes towards the requirement for additional pupil places on a 
proportionate basis. 
 

                                            
29 “National Planning Practice Guidance – planning obligations” Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 23b-
007-20190315 – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 15 March 
2019) 
30 “Securing developer contributions for education” – Department for Education (April 2019), p.4 
31 “Residential development monitoring 1 April 2018 – 31 March 2019” – Salford City Council (June 
2019). 
32 Based on applying the average pupil yield of 0.27 primary pupil places per house, as derived from 
“Planning obligations SPD: background document on primary pupil yield methodology and evidence 
base” – Salford City Council (June 2015). 

Page 74



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

38 
 

 
 
7.11 For the purposes of primary pupil place planning, the city council divides the 

city into 12 pupil planning areas (PPAs) which broadly reflect established 
catchment areas for primary schools. The plan at Annex C identifies the 
distribution of the 12 PPAs across the city.  

 
Exemptions 
 

 
Financial contributions towards education provision will not be sought from the 
following types of accommodation: 

 Apartments 

 One-bedroom houses 

 Non-family units (e.g. sheltered housing, student housing, residential 
institutions, houses in multiple occupation) 

 

 
7.12 In order to inform the approach to requiring an education contribution, the city 

council assessed the number of primary pupils resident within recent housing 
developments within the city. The assessment demonstrated that the average 
primary pupil yield from dwellings in the form of apartments within the city is 
minimal33. On this basis, contributions will not be sought in relation to 
dwellings in the form of apartments. 

 
7.13 One-bedroom houses are exempt as they should not typically result in a 

primary pupil yield, as they do not allow for separate sleeping accommodation 
for a parent and child. Whilst there may be particular circumstances where a 
family is occupying a one-bedroom house, this is considered to be exceptional 
and contributions will not therefore be sought in relation to one-bedroom 
houses.  

 
7.14 Non-family units will not typically result in a primary pupil yield. Whilst there 

may be exceptions to this (for example, student housing that includes units 
designed specifically for occupation by students with children), such cases are 
exceptional and therefore contributions will not be sought in relation to non-
family units.   

 
Approach to seeking developer contributions towards education provision 
 
7.15 In the majority of instances the city council will apply a formula-based 

approach to calculate the financial contribution towards education provision 
that will be sought from new housing development. The financial contribution 
secured via this mechanism will enable the city council to fund the capital 
infrastructure works associated with addressing the increased pressure on 
school provision that the development will generate. Expenditure of 

                                            
33 “Planning obligations SPD: background document on primary pupil yield methodology and 

evidence base” – Salford City Council (June 2015). 

Page 75



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

39 
 

contributions will be directed to school facilities within the catchment of the 
contributing development. 

 
7.16 In applying the policies of this SPD, the city council will seek to minimise the 

capital cost to developers as far as practicable, by seeking to expand existing 
schools in the first instance, and by utilising the city council’s land assets to 
accommodate additional school facilities or new schools where necessary. 

 
7.17 There will however be certain instances where there is no scope to expand 

existing schools within an area, and there are no suitable alternatives 
available to the city council to create additional places within an area. In these 
circumstances, the city council will enter into negotiation with the developer in 
order to ensure that appropriate provision for the pupil place requirement that 
will arise from the development can be made. This may require the developer 
to set aside land to accommodate a school.  

 
7.18 In line with saved policy DEV5 of the UDP, the city council considers that 

where a development would result in a material increase in the requirement 
for additional pupil places but the developer fails to make appropriate 
provision as set out in this SPD, this would justify the refusal of planning 
permission.   

 

 
Policy OB3 – Calculation of education contribution 
 
New housing development that would result in a net increase of 11 or more 
houses will be expected to make a financial contribution towards education 
provision on the basis of the following calculation: 
 

Financial contribution per house =  
primary pupil yield factor  x  cost per primary pupil place 

 
 
Primary pupil yield factor 
 
This is calculated according to the number of non-principal bedrooms within a 
house. Each non-principal bedroom is expected to generate a requirement for 
0.11 primary pupil places. The number of non-principal bedrooms within a 
house is the total number of bedrooms minus one. The primary pupil yield 
factor for houses is set out in the table below. 
 

 Calculation 
(non-principal bedrooms) x 0.11 

Primary pupil yield 
factor 

1-bed house (1 – 1) x 0.11 0 

2-bed house (2 – 1) x 0.11 0.11 

3-bed house (3 – 1) x 0.11 0.22 

4-bed house (4 – 1) x 0.11 0.33 

5-bed house (5 – 1) x 0.11 0.44 

6-bed house (6 – 1) x 0.11 0.55 

Etc.   

Page 76



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

40 
 

 
Cost per primary pupil place 
 
This cost will be published annually by the city council, to reflect the average 
capital cost of creating an additional primary school place through new-build 
construction / extension. The most up to date published cost at the point of an 
application’s determination will be used for the purpose of calculating the 
financial requirement.  
 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
7.19 This policy sets out the approach to the calculation of the financial contribution 

towards education provision that will be sought from new housing 
development. It uses a formula-based approach to calculation that ensures 
consistency in its approach and will ensure that new housing development 
makes a proportionate contribution to the additional requirement for primary 
pupil places that it will generate. This approach will contribute to ensuring that 
the requirement is fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. 

 
Primary pupil yield factor 

 
7.20 In defining the primary pupil yield factor, the city council assessed the number 

of primary pupils resident within recent housing developments within the city. 
The primary pupil yield factor provides the basis for calculating the average 
number of primary pupils that a new housing development can be expected to 
generate. It therefore forms the basis of the approach to calculating a 
proportionate contribution from new development. The methodology for how 
the primary pupil yield factor was derived is set out in full in the background 
document on the primary pupil yield methodology and evidence base34. There 
is some evidence that pupil yields have increased since that document was 
produced, and it may be necessary for a future review of this SPD to raise the 
pupil yield factor.   

 
Cost per primary pupil place 

 
7.21 The cost factor that the city council applied in the 2015 SPD for the 2015/16 

financial year was £9,525 per primary pupil place. This was derived from the 
Education Funding Agency’s contractors’ framework rates, as set out within 
cost guidance published by the Department for Education in 2013, with 
inflation applied35. The 2015/16 primary pupil place cost has been adjusted to 
2019/20 as part of the 2019 SPD refresh using the Retail Prices Index (all 
items) to give a cost of £10,553 per primary pupil place. The cost factor will 
be published annually by the city council, to reflect the average capital cost of 

                                            
34 “Planning obligations SPD: background document on primary pupil yield methodology and evidence 
base” – Salford City Council (June 2015). 
35 Additional detail on how the 2015/16 cost was derived is set out in the background document on 
costs “Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 
2015). 

Page 77



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

41 
 

creating an additional primary school place through new-build construction / 
extension. The most up to date published cost at the point of an application’s 
determination will be used for the purpose of calculating the financial 
requirement. When the primary pupil yield factor is applied, the cost per 
primary pupil place equates to a cost of £1,160.87 per non-principal bedroom 
for 2019/20 (i.e. £10,553 x 0.11). 

 
7.22 In order to fully meet the additional requirement for primary pupil places that a 

development will generate, there may be exceptional circumstances where it 
is appropriate for the city council to agree a contribution that is either higher or 
lower than the standard calculation where there is clear evidence to justify 
departing from this. Such instances will be exceptional however, and the 
calculation set out within the policy will be the most appropriate mechanism 
for calculating the financial contribution in the majority of instances.  

 
Application of calculation 

 
7.23 The calculation will be applied to all dwellings in the form of houses within a 

development. It will therefore be applied equally to private tenure dwellings 
and to all forms of affordable tenure dwellings. 

 
7.24 Affordable tenure dwellings will generate a primary pupil yield, and will 

therefore require provision for additional primary pupil places to be made. 
Notwithstanding that securing affordable housing is an important policy 
objective, the city council will seek contributions regardless of tenure in order 
that new development makes appropriate provision for the requirement it will 
generate. In calculating the scale of contributions that development can 
support, the viability assessment which underpins the policy approach has 
been undertaken on this basis36. 

 
7.25 A worked example of the how the formula-based calculation set out in this 

policy would be applied for a large scheme comprising a range of dwelling 
types is set out at Annex D. 

 
 

 
Policy OB4 – Approach where the city council will require the setting 
aside of land for  the provision of a school 
 
Where it is not practicable for the city council to expand capacity within 
existing schools sufficient to accommodate the additional requirement for 
pupil places that will be generated by a development, and there are no 
alternative solutions available in this regard, the city council will negotiate with 
developers to secure the setting aside of land to accommodate a school.  
 
Land set aside for schools should: 
 

                                            
36 “Salford Revised Draft Local Plan: Assessment of residential viability” – Salford City Council 
(January 2019) 

Page 78



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

42 
 

1. Be of sufficient size to accommodate the school facilities, including 
appropriate provision for outdoor recreation space. A one-form entry 
primary school will typically require a site of 0.9 to 1.1 hectares, and a two-
form entry primary school will typically require a site of 1.6 to 2.0 hectares; 
 

2. Be accessible to the development it is primarily intended to serve, and the 
wider catchment. The school site should be located in order that it can 
effectively serve its catchment having regard to maximising accessibility by 
sustainable means of transport.  The school site should typically be 
located no more than a 1 mile walking distance from any of the dwellings 
on the development it is primarily intended to serve; 
 

3. Be located to minimise the impacts of associated traffic and car parking on 
the surrounding area; and 
 

4. Be consistent with other national and local planning policies. 
 
Where land is to be set aside for a school, the school should be operational 
at a sufficiently early stage in the phasing of the overall development in order 
to ensure that the demand for school places can be satisfactorily 
accommodated. 
 
The financial contribution set out in Policy OB3 will be reduced accordingly to 
reflect the cost of setting aside the land. Where the value of the land to be set 
aside falls below the value of the financial contribution as set out in Policy 
OB3, the developer will be expected to pay the remaining balance of the 
contribution towards the delivery of the school.  
 

 
 
Reasoned justification 
 
7.26 In the majority of instances, the approach to raising financial contributions as 

set out in Policy OB3 will be the most appropriate mechanism for a developer 
to make a proportionate contribution to the requirement for additional pupil 
places that their development will generate. The financial contribution secured 
will enable the city council to fund the capital infrastructure works associated 
with addressing the increased pressure on existing school provision that the 
development will generate. 

 
7.27 There will however be certain instances where there is no scope to expand 

existing schools within an area (i.e. where schools occupy constrained sites), 
and there are no suitable alternatives available to the city council (for 
example, where there are no land or property assets within the city council’s 
ownership which would be suitable to accommodate a school).  

 
7.28 Where there are no options available to the city council to provide additional 

pupil places within an area, the city council will enter into negotiation with the 
developer in order to ensure that appropriate provision is made for the pupil 

Page 79



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

43 
 

place requirement that the development will generate. In such circumstances, 
the developer will be required to set aside land for the provision of a school.  

 
7.29 This situation is more likely to arise in relation to larger development schemes, 

given that such developments will generate a significant requirement for 
additional pupil places which may not be able to be met through expanding 
existing schools.  

 
7.30 Where land is to be set aside for a school, the city council will need to ensure 

that this is of an appropriate size and location. The land will need to be of a 
sufficient size to accommodate a school and its associated outdoor recreation 
space. The site sizes identified in the policy are derived from the guidance 
within Building Bulletin 10337 which is considered to represent best practice in 
relation to primary school space standards, and will provide some flexibility for 
future expansion. The site should also be accessible to the catchment it is 
intended to serve. It should typically be located no more than a 1 mile walking 
distance from any of the dwellings on the development it is primarily intended 
to serve. This is to enable households to access the school by walking and 
minimise the number of car-based trips associated with school drop-off and 
pick-up.  

 
7.31 Where land is to be set aside for a school, it will be important to ensure that 

the school is complete and operational at an appropriate stage with regard to 
the phasing of the development. It will therefore normally be appropriate for 
the city council to use a planning condition that requires the school to be 
complete and available for use before defined phases of the development 
may proceed. Conditioning the delivery of the school in this way will be 
necessary in order to ensure that sufficient pupil places are available to meet 
the demand arising as the development is built out. Given the shortage of 
primary places across the city, the city council will typically require the school 
to be complete and operational within the early phases of development, as 
there will necessarily be limited, if any, capacity within existing schools to 
accommodate the pupil place requirement that the development will generate. 

 
7.32 The financial contribution set out in Policy OB3 will be reduced accordingly to 

reflect the cost of setting aside the land. Where the value of the land to be set 
aside falls below the value of the financial contribution as set out in Policy 
OB3, the developer will be expected to pay the remaining balance of the 
contribution towards the delivery of the school. This will ensure an equitable 
approach so that the setting aside of land does not result in the overall value 
of a developer’s contribution being below what would typically be sought via 
Policy OB3. Conversely, where the value of the land exceeds the value of the 
financial contribution that would be sought via Policy OB3, the developer will 
be expected to set aside the land at no additional cost to the city council. In 
such instances, the setting aside of a site for a school will by definition be 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, and 
therefore it would not be appropriate for the city council to have to make a 

                                            
37 “Building bulletin 103: Area guidelines for mainstream schools” – Department for Education (Last 
updated 4 March 2015). 

Page 80



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

44 
 

payment to the developer for the setting aside of a part of their development 
site, given that the need for the school arises from the need generated by the 
development itself. 

 
How contributions will be spent 
 
7.33 Financial contributions will be directed to funding the capital infrastructure 

works associated with addressing the increased pressure on school provision 
that a development will generate. Contributions will be directed towards a 
specific project or pupil planning area(s) which will be named within the 
planning obligation agreement. Other sources of funding from the city council 
or other organisations may also be directed towards a project where 
appropriate, and therefore developers may only provide a proportion of the 
total investment required to deliver the project. 

 
7.34 Contributions may be directed towards a range of projects, including for 

example: 

 Investment in expanding or converting existing school facilities, including 
classroom space and non-teaching facilities necessary to accommodate 
additional children (for example assembly space and catering facilities); 

 Construction of new school buildings, or conversion of existing buildings 
into schools; 

 Improvement and expansion of playground and playing field facilities 
necessary to accommodate additional children; 

 Acquisition of land or buildings to accommodate school facilities; and 

 Transport works around a school to enhance accessibility for residents of 
the development and mitigate the impacts of additional pupils, such as 
new/improved pedestrian crossing and parking management. 

 
7.35 Expenditure will be directed to state-funded schools within the catchment of 

the contributing development. This will typically be within the pupil planning 
area within which the development lies. In certain circumstances it may be 
appropriate for contributions to be directed to facilities within an adjacent pupil 
planning area, where a development scheme would result in additional 
pressure on these facilities. 

 
7.36 Contributions will only be directed to the one-off capital infrastructure costs 

associated with addressing the increased pressure on school facilities. 
Contributions will not be used to fund school revenue expenditure. There is 
therefore no double-counting in terms of the use of contributions and the 
education grant funding that the city council receives from central government.  

 
7.37 The city council will in the first instance seek to direct investment associated 

with increasing the number of pupil places towards strengthening Salford’s 
established education base. The expansion of existing schools will therefore 
be the city council’s first preference where practicable. Where the only option 
available is the establishment of a new school, the city council will seek to 
work with developers to ensure that the establishment of any new school 
complements existing education provision across the city. 

 

Page 81



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

45 
 

8 Transport 
 
8.1 New development will place additional pressure on existing transport networks 

within the city, and may in turn generate a requirement for improvements to 
transport infrastructure and services. A development may require specific 
transport works to be undertaken in order to make the scheme acceptable in 
planning terms. It is therefore appropriate that planning obligations are utilised 
as a mechanism to secure developer contributions towards these works. 

 
8.2 Increasing levels of congestion will act as a barrier to the city’s future growth, 

and therefore it is important that all new development maximises its potential 
to encourage sustainable travel patterns. In this context, it will be appropriate 
that planning obligations are secured to ensure that new development 
encourages walking, cycling and public transport use. This could involve 
securing financial contributions towards a range of infrastructure such as the 
provision or improvement of pedestrian and cycle routes, bus stops, or cycle 
storage facilities. 

 
8.3 Where development requires the construction of new highways or works 

adjacent to or on existing highways, this is typically secured via planning 
condition and the provisions within the Highways Act 1980. As such, these 
works are controlled by an alternative process and do not need to be secured 
via planning obligation. Additional information on the relevant provisions of the 
Highways Act 1980 and the associated fees that the city council will apply are 
set out in Annex E.  

 
8.4 Planning applications for development likely to give rise to significant transport 

implications will be accompanied by a transport statement, or a transport 
assessment and travel plan. The city council’s validation checklist identifies 
the thresholds for when transport assessments and transport statements will 
be required. The mitigation measures identified as necessary to make a 
development acceptable in planning terms will typically be secured via 
planning obligation. 

 

 
Policy OB5 – Transport contribution 
 
The city council will seek a financial contribution towards the provision or 
improvement of transport infrastructure or services on a case by case basis from 
relevant developments comprising 11 or more dwellings, or 1,000 square metres 
or more of non-residential floorspace. The appropriate scale of any contribution will 
be negotiated having regard to site-specific circumstances. 
 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
8.5 The policy identifies that the city council will negotiate with developers on a 

case by case basis to secure an appropriate scale of financial contribution 
towards the provision or improvement of transport infrastructure or services 
where it is necessary to make a development acceptable in planning terms. It 

Page 82



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

46 
 

is not appropriate to define a standard formula for calculating the scale of any 
transport contribution that is required, as this will clearly vary on a site-specific 
basis depending on the scale, location and accessibility of the development. 
The strategic viability assessment assumes an average of £200 per bed 
space for transport38, but the appropriate contribution for an individual 
development could be considerably higher or lower. The appropriate 
contribution for non-residential development will vary depending on the use. 

 
8.6 Any mitigation measures identified within a transport statement, transport 

assessment or travel plan as necessary to make a development acceptable in 
planning terms will typically be secured via planning obligation. Additional 
contributions may also be required in order to ensure that all new 
development maximises its potential to encourage sustainable travel patterns. 
Developers are therefore encouraged to engage with the city council at the 
pre-application stage, in order to determine whether any transport contribution 
will be required, and the appropriate scale of any contribution.  

 
How contributions will be spent 
 
8.7 Contributions will be directed towards a specific transport project which will be 

named within the planning obligation agreement. Other sources of funding 
from the city council or other organisations may also be directed towards a 
project where appropriate, and therefore developers may only provide a 
proportion of the total investment required to deliver the project.  

 
8.8 Contributions may be directed towards a range of projects, including for 

example: 

 Rail station improvements; 

 Improvements or extension to the Metrolink network; 

 Provision of new public transport services, or increased frequency of 
existing services; 

 Measures to reduce travel demand, for example through travel planning 
and demand management, and the associated monitoring of travel plans; 

 Subsidised travel passes for residents of new development; 

 Parking management measures, such as a resident permit holder parking 
scheme, where a new development would result in an unacceptable 
impact in terms of demand for on-street parking; and 

 The provision or improvement of the following transport infrastructure: 
o Bus stop facilities; 
o Metrolink stop facilities; 
o Footbridges; 
o Pedestrian routes, including pedestrian crossings; 
o Cycle routes, including toucan crossings; 
o Cycle facilities, including storage and changing facilities; 
o Canal towpaths 
o Equestrian routes, including Pegasus crossings. 

 

                                            
38 "Salford Revised Draft Local Plan: Assessment of residential viability”, table 22 – Salford City 
Council (January 2019) 

Page 83



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

47 
 

9 Public realm 
 
9.1 National policy states that the creation of high quality buildings and places is 

fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve39. 
The design and quality of the public realm is central to creating successful 
places, in terms of providing the space for movement, interaction and activity, 
as well as defining the setting and relationship between surrounding buildings. 
A high quality and well designed public realm can also serve to promote 
sustainable transport choices, by encouraging walking and cycling, and 
facilitating access to public transport hubs and services. 

 
9.2 Policy DEV5 of the unitary development plan provides the basis for the city 

council to seek contributions towards the provision or improvement of the 
public realm. There will be instances where new development will require 
improvement to the surrounding public realm in terms of providing a setting for 
the development that ensures its positive integration within the urban form, as 
well as facilitating access to and movement around the development. In other 
instances, a development may generate a requirement for an improvement to 
the public realm within the vicinity of the development, where that 
development will generate intensified use of the public realm. The requirement 
for improvement to the public realm can therefore extend beyond those areas 
that directly adjoin a development. 

 
9.3 Not all developments will require an improvement to the public realm to make 

them acceptable in planning terms, and therefore a public realm contribution 
will not be sought in all instances. Similarly, it is not appropriate to define a 
standard formula for calculating the scale of any public realm contribution that 
is required, as this will clearly vary on a site-specific basis depending on the 
scale and location of the development. The strategic viability assessment 
assumes an average contribution of £550 per bed space for public realm for 
apartment schemes40, but the appropriate contribution for an individual 
development could be considerably higher or lower, and contributions may be 
required from schemes of houses. 

 
9.4 The city council will therefore negotiate with developers on a case by case 

basis to agree an appropriate scale of financial contribution towards the 
provision or improvement of public realm. Whilst it is not possible to define all 
instances where a public realm contribution is likely to be sought, 
development within the vicinity of the following locations is likely to generate a 
requirement for investment in the public realm, given the additional pressure 
on the public realm that development will generate: 

 

 Irwell River Park – a new urban river park which is transforming an 8km 
stretch of the Irwell from The Meadows to Salford Quays. Irwell River Park 
is improving pedestrian and cycle connections both along and across the 

                                            
39 “National Planning Policy Framework” – Department for Communities and Local Government 
(February 2019), paragraph 124 
40 "Salford Revised Draft Local Plan: Assessment of residential viability”, table 22 – Salford City 
Council (January 2019) 

Page 84



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

48 
 

river corridor, and provides a valuable recreation resource for those who 
live and work within the area.   

 City Centre Salford and Salford Quays – high quality public realm is central 
to underpinning the success of these areas, and strengthening their 
economic vitality, environmental quality and ability to attract substantial 
housing and commercial investment. 

 Bridgewater Canal – the Bridgewater Canal is being transformed with new 
towpaths and public spaces, to create a valuable recreation resource and 
visitor destination.   

 Town and local centres – a high quality public realm is an important 
element of a successful centre, through improving its attractiveness to 
retailers and shoppers as well as providing valuable civic space for activity 
and community interaction.  

 Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal – the city council supports the 
restoration of the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal. It will be appropriate 
for development along the line of the canal to contribute towards its 
restoration or improvement, or its use as a green transport and recreation 
corridor.   

 
 

 
Policy OB6 – Public realm contribution 
 
The city council will seek a financial contribution towards the provision or 
improvement of public realm on a case by case basis from relevant developments 
comprising 11 or more dwellings, or 1,000 square metres or more of non-
residential floorspace. The appropriate scale of any contribution will be negotiated 
having regard to site-specific circumstances. 
 
Where a contribution towards the provision or improvement of public realm is 
required, a contribution towards its maintenance over a twenty year period will also 
be secured. 
 

 
Reasoned justification 
 
9.5 The policy identifies that the city council will negotiate with developers on a 

case by case basis to secure an appropriate scale of financial contribution 
towards the provision or improvement of public realm where it is necessary to 
make a development acceptable in planning terms. It is not appropriate to 
define a standard formula for calculating the scale of any public realm 
contribution that is required, as this will clearly vary on a site-specific basis 
depending on the scale and location of the development.  

 
9.6 Developers are therefore encouraged to engage with the city council at the 

pre-application stage, in order to determine whether a public realm 
contribution will be required, and the appropriate scale of any contribution.  

 
9.7 The costs of delivering public realm works can be significant. It may be that 

within a particular area, the delivery of public realm works is considered to be 

Page 85



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

49 
 

the highest priority. Where submitted viability evidence demonstrates that a 
scheme could not support a significant public realm contribution in addition to 
the other range of required contributions, the city council may consider that 
public realm is the highest priority and that the full scale of available 
contributions should be directed towards its delivery.  

 
9.8 Where a contribution towards the provision or improvement of public realm is 

secured, it will be important that a contribution towards its future maintenance 
is also obtained in order to ensure that the infrastructure can be managed to a 
high standard that ensures its longevity.  

 
How contributions will be spent 
 
9.9 Contributions will be directed towards a specific public realm project which will 

be named within the planning obligation agreement. Contributions will be 
directed to locations where the provision or improvement of public realm 
would be directly related to the development, although this may not always be 
immediately adjacent to the development site. Other sources of funding from 
the city council or other organisations may also be directed towards a project 
where appropriate, and therefore developers may only provide a proportion of 
the total investment required to deliver the project.  

 
9.10 Contributions may be directed towards a wide range of projects, including for 

example: 

 Environmental enhancements; 

 Footpath, footway or cycleway improvements; 

 Footbridges; 

 Tree planting, landscaping and other green infrastructure; 

 Provision / improvement of public space, such as public squares; 

 Signage and interpretation boards; 

 Street lighting; 

 Pedestrian prioritisation; and 

 Street furniture. 
 
9.11 In relation to maintenance, it will generally only be appropriate for 

contributions to be directed towards the ongoing maintenance of those 
facilities which have been subject to provision or improvement via developer 
contributions, or where public realm investment has been forward funded 
utilising public funding in advance of development coming forward. 

 
 
 

Page 86



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

50 
 

10 Other site-specific planning obligations 
 
10.1 There may be instances where a development would result in a material 

increase in the need or demand for other types of infrastructure or services 
which are not specifically addressed within this document, and where 
provision is required in order to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms. In these cases, the city council will negotiate with a developer on a 
case by case basis having regard to site-specific circumstances, and planning 
obligations may be the mechanism for securing provision. 

 
10.2 The potential scope of site-specific planning obligations is very wide and may 

include a diverse range of infrastructure and services. Examples of the types 
of site-specific planning obligations which could be required include: 

 Off-site provision of suitable replacement recreation land or facilities, 
where a development would involve the loss of existing recreation land or 
facilities (as required by saved UDP policy R1); 

 Ecological mitigation or compensatory measures, where development 
would result in a negative impact on biodiversity and habitats; 

 Flood defence infrastructure, where a development would be at a 
significant risk of flooding 

 Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), where these are necessary to 
make a development acceptable in planning terms and cannot be provided 
on-site; 

 Pollution or air quality mitigation measures, where development would 
result in an unacceptable impact.  

 Works that would result in a positive impact on an identified heritage asset, 
where a development would adversely affect the asset or its setting. 

 
10.3 In addition, Salford’s local plan may identify site-specific infrastructure 

requirements that will be required to facilitate delivery of the sites it allocates 
for development. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

51 
 

11 Implementation 
 
11.1 Where a s106 legal agreement is required, draft heads of terms setting out the 

type and extent of planning obligations should be submitted with the planning 
application. A planning obligation proforma statement41 is available on the city 
council’s website and should be submitted alongside any planning application 
that would meet the thresholds defined within this document. 

 
Provision of works by a developer 
 
11.2 In certain instances, the best means of addressing the impact of a 

development may be for a developer to deliver infrastructure works 
themselves as an alternative to making a financial contribution towards off-site 
provision. For example, a developer may undertake public realm 
improvements and subject to the nature of such works, there may be no 
requirement for a separate financial contribution towards off-site public realm 
improvements in order to mitigate the impact of the development.  

 
11.3 Where a developer considers that they can satisfactorily address the impact of 

a development by delivering infrastructure works themselves, they should 
discuss their proposals with the city council at an early stage prior to the 
submission of an application. The city council will consider whether the scope 
of the works would be appropriate to address the impact of the development. 
Any works will need to be implemented to an agreed standard, having regard 
to the quantity, quality and location of the provision. 

 
11.4 Where a developer undertakes open space or public realm works and the city 

council is to assume responsibility for the future management of the space, 
the developer will be required to make a financial contribution towards its 
ongoing maintenance as per the approach set out in policies OB2 and OB6 of 
this SPD. In exceptional circumstances where the city council does not 
assume management responsibility, the developer will be required to make 
effective provision for the ongoing long term maintenance of the space and 
this will typically be secured via a covenant. 

  
Unilateral undertakings 
 
11.5 In certain instances, where only the applicant needs to be bound by a  

planning obligation and not the city council, it may be appropriate for a 
developer to make a unilateral undertaking in relation to the delivery of 
planning obligations. This represents an alternative mechanism to negotiating 
a s106 agreement. Resolving planning obligations through unilateral 
undertakings can offer advantages in terms of time, cost and resourcing to 
both the city council and the developer. Where a developer is considering 
making a unilateral undertaking, it should seek the views of the city council as 
to the appropriateness of the proposed approach and the relevant projects 
which funding is to be directed towards. 

                                            
41 “Planning obligations proforma statement” – Salford City Council 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/388084/planning_obligations_pro_forma_statement.doc 

Page 88



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

52 
 

 
Approach to phasing of payments 
  
11.6 In relation to the residential component of any development, the following 

approach to the phasing of payments will typically be appropriate: 

 25% of the total contribution upon completion of the first dwelling or; 

 a further 50% of the total contribution upon completion of 50% of the 
dwellings; and 

 the balance of the total contribution upon completion of 75% of the 
dwellings. 

 
11.7 An alternative approach is typically required for apartment schemes, as all of 

the dwellings may be completed at the same time. In this situation, the 
phasing of payments will be linked to construction stages and first occupation. 

 
11.8 In relation to the non-residential component of any development, contributions 

will usually be required in full within 7 days of the commencement of 
development. 

 
11.9 Where it is agreed that a developer will deliver infrastructure works 

themselves as an alternative to making a financial contribution, trigger points 
for the delivery of such works will be agreed between the city council and the 
developer on a case by case basis.  

 
11.10 Where a developer considers that this approach to the phasing of payments 

would compromise the deliverability of a scheme, the city council will 
negotiate with developers and seek to agree an alternative approach to 
phasing that has regard to the particular cashflow issues of the development 
scheme. In negotiating an alternative approach, the city council will however 
need to have regard to whether there is a requirement for infrastructure to be 
in place prior to occupation of the development. For example, in relation to 
education provision, where there is no existing capacity within an area it may 
be that school expansion would need to be completed prior to occupation of 
the dwellings in order to ensure that there are sufficient school places 
available. 

 
Forward funding of infrastructure and services 
 
11.11 Where a planning obligation involves a financial contribution from a developer, 

it may be necessary for the city council to spend that money on the 
infrastructure scheme or service provision prior to the contribution being 
received from the developer. For example, this may be required in order for 
the infrastructure to be available before the development is operational, or 
because the availability of match-funding is time-limited. 
 

11.12 In these circumstances, the city council will not accept any renegotiation of the 
planning obligation to reduce the contribution that has effectively been spent. 
The payment of that contribution will be used to reimburse the city council for 
its forward funding of the infrastructure or services, which could include for 
example repaying borrowing that has been incurred as a result. This 

Page 89



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

53 
 

reimbursement will continue to be deemed necessary for the development to 
be acceptable, irrespective of the time that has elapsed since the city council 
has incurred the expenditure. 

 
Index linking of financial contributions 
 
11.13 For the purposes of calculating the value of the open space and education 

contributions, the associated cost factors will be republished annually to 
ensure that the calculation reflects the most up to date costs. In the absence 
of evidence which justifies a more substantive change in costs, they will be 
increased annually in line with inflation. This will be undertaken by applying 
the Retail Prices Index (all items) annual percentage change to the value of 
the open space cost per bed space (as identified in policy OB2) and to the 
cost per primary pupil place (as identified in policy OB3). The revised costs 
will be published annually by the city council. The most up to date published 
cost at the point of an application’s determination will be used for the purpose 
of calculating the scale of each contribution. 

 
11.14 All financial contributions will be index linked (using the Retail Prices Index – 

all items) to the date of the determination of the planning application by the 
city council. 

 
Non-payment  

 
11.15 The city council will monitor planning obligations to ensure compliance. 

Interest will be charged on late payments. Delivery of obligations will be 
required in line with trigger points in the legal agreements. 

 
Unspent contributions 
 
11.16 Legal agreements will specify timeframes for planning obligations to be 

delivered on or off-site or for the spending of monies secured through 
planning obligations. If money has not been spent by the end of the relevant 
contribution period, the city council will make provision to refund it upon 
request. It is unreasonable for the city council to hold money in perpetuity, but 
for some projects a longer timeframe may be appropriate. 

 
Costs to be met by the developer 
 
11.17 All reasonable legal fees incurred by the city council in preparing a legal 

agreement will be recovered in full from the developer, and the city council will 
not enter into negotiations on planning obligations until there is a commitment 
to this from the developer. 

 
11.18 A developer may submit financial viability evidence in order to demonstrate 

that the cumulative impact of all policy requirements would compromise 
development viability, and that the contribution should be reduced or waived 
accordingly. In such instances, the submitted viability evidence will be subject 
to independent financial appraisal for which the city council incurs a charge. It 

Page 90



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

54 
 

is therefore appropriate that the city council should recover these costs from 
the developer.  

 
11.19 Similarly, where a developer seeks to undertake works as a payment in kind 

as an alternative to providing a financial contribution, the developer will be 
liable to pay any fees incurred by the city council associated with the 
independent financial appraisal of the value of the works proposed, and to pay 
any fees incurred associated with the preparation of a formal agreement to 
secure provision of the works.  

 
11.20 Where a clawback mechanism is entered into between the city council and a 

developer, the developer will be liable to pay any fees incurred by the city 
council in relation to the independent financial appraisal of the viability 
evidence, and to pay any fees incurred associated with the preparation of the 
legal agreement.  

 
11.21 In accordance with The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) 

(England) (No. 2) Regulations 2019, the city council will charge an additional 
fee for monitoring planning obligations. This fee is based on an estimate of 
monitoring the development over the lifetime of the planning obligations which 
relate to that development, and for 2019/2020 is as follows: 

 

 1.5% of the total value of all planning obligations capped at a maximum of 
£5,000 

 
11.22 The monitoring fee will be applicable to the value of specific financial 

contributions secured, and also to non-financial contributions which will be 
calculated on a case by case basis (for example if open space or public realm 
is provided on-site by the developer in lieu of a financial contribution). 

Page 91



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

55 
 

12 Monitoring and review 
 
12.1 The city council will keep under review the range of variables which would 

impact on the application of the SPD policies in terms of calculating the 
appropriate level of financial contribution. This will include the following: 

 

 Cost information – as identified in the implementation section above, the 
city council will review on an annual basis the cost information which 
underpins the open space and education contributions. In the absence of 
evidence which justifies a more substantive change in costs, they will be 
increased annually in line with inflation by applying the Retail Prices Index 
(all items) annual percentage change. 
 

 Assumptions underpinning the assessment of residential viability – the city 
council will keep under review any substantive changes in variables which 
could impact on development viability and imply a need to undertake a 
review of the viability assessment and the SPD as a whole. 

 

 Assumptions informing the education contribution (Policy OB3) – the city 
council will publish updated details on capacity and pupil projections. This 
will ensure that there is transparency with regard to the existing level of 
capacity at any point in time, in order to demonstrate the need to seek 
contributions from new housing development. In addition, the city council 
will keep under review the average primary pupil yield from recent housing 
completions in order to ensure that the pupil yield factor identified within 
the SPD presents an accurate basis for calculating the appropriate level of 
financial contribution. Any update to the primary pupil yield factor would 
need to be undertaken via a formal review of the SPD. 

 
12.2 The city council will report annually on the financial contributions raised via 

this SPD and their expenditure, as part of the city council’s monitoring of s106 
receipts and expenditure. The city council will publish information on an 
annual basis on the number of planning obligations secured and how they 
have been spent. This will be available to view on the city council’s website.  

 
 

Page 92



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

56 
 

ANNEXES 
 
 
 

Page 93



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

57 
 

Annex A – plan of residential value areas  
 

P
age 94



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

58 
 

Annex B – detailed methodology for deriving open space provision 
costs  
 
The methodology for deriving the costs which form the basis of the open space 
contribution (Policy OB2) is set out below. The costs used here have a 2015/16 
base, and in the main part of this SPD have then been adjusted to 2019/20 using the 
Retail Prices Index (all items). 
 
Sports pitch provision 
 
The cost of providing a full-size sports pitch, measuring 0.77ha including safety 
runoff areas, is £75,000 (equating to £9.74 per square metre)42. The costs of 
providing junior pitches and mini soccer pitches are higher per square metre, at 
£10.58 and £13.56 respectively43. 
 
Utilising the lower of these figures, to meet the standard of 0.92ha of sports pitches 
per 1,000 population44 would cost £89,608. This equates to £90 per bed space. 
Utilising the figures for junior or mini soccer pitches would give a figure of around 
£97 or £125 per bed space respectively. 
 
Maintenance costs for sports pitches over a twenty year period are £8.48 per square 
metre45. This equates to £78,016 per 1,000 population (based on the 0.92 ha 
standard), or £78 per bed space. 
 
Therefore, an average development may reasonably be expected to contribute at 
least £168 per bed space for the provision and maintenance of sports pitches. 
 
Equipped children’s playspace 
 
The standard for equipped children’s playspace set out in saved UDP policy R2 is 
0.25ha per 1,000 population. The cost of providing this amount of playspace 
depends very much on the type of facilities included within it. These could include, 
for example, traditional playground areas, swings or high quality imaginative play 
areas aimed at younger children, or skate parks, tennis courts, basketball courts, 
youth shelters, and multi-use games areas (MUGAs) aimed at older children. 
 
The average cost of providing an equipped children’s play area, measuring 0.1ha, 
varies from £58,650 within existing parks to £178,240 for stand-alone sites46. This is 

                                            
42 Based on average Sport England Facility Costs (2nd Quarter 2012) 
https://www.sportengland.org/media/32654/Kitbag-Facility-Costs-2Q12.pdf  
43 Ibid. 
44 Standard derived from “Playing pitch and outdoor sports assessment report” – Knight, Kavanagh 
and Page on behalf of Salford City Council (December 2007). 
45 Based on average maintenance costs in Salford for this type of facility, as set out in Annex A of 
“Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 
2015). 
46 Based on review of schemes implemented by Salford City Council as set out in Annex A of 
“Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 
2015). 
 
 

Page 95

https://www.sportengland.org/media/32654/Kitbag-Facility-Costs-2Q12.pdf


Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

59 
 

based on a design including toddler and junior swings, springers, seesaw, multi-
action units, slide and roundabout, together with fencing, surfacing, seats, picnic 
tables, litter bins and footpath link. The twenty year maintenance cost for such a 
facility would be £60,04047. 
 
The cost of providing a 0.078ha MUGA would be £115,00048, and the twenty year 
maintenance cost for such a facility would be £51,14349. 
 
A typical play area, providing facilities aimed at both younger and older children, 
might therefore combine these two facilities and measure 0.178ha, with a capital 
cost of between £173,650 – £293,240 and a twenty year maintenance cost of 
£111,183. Utilising the lower of these figures in relation to the 0.25ha per 1,000 
population standard would equate to a £243,890 capital cost and a £156,156 
maintenance cost, representing a combined total of £400 per bed space. 
 
Youth and adult facilities 
 
Saved UDP policy R2 includes a standard for adult and youth facilities, which is the 
provision of a full range of such facilities within each service delivery area. The 
National Playing Field Association (NPFA) recommends the provision of 0.4 – 0.6ha 
of youth and adult facilities per 1,000 population50, and this is considered to 
approximate to what is required to deliver a full range of facilities in each part of the 
city. 
 
The table below identifies the capital costs of providing a range of different youth and 
adult facilities51. 
Capital costs of youth and adult facilities 

Type of facility Size (hectares) Total cost Cost per square 
metre 

Bowling green 0.16 £110,000 £69 

Tennis – 2 courts 0.123 £160,000 £130 

Tennis – 4 courts (0.234) (£280,000) (£120) 

All-weather pitch – mini 
3G 

0.26 £375,000 £144 

(0.09) (£138,365) (£154) 

                                            
47 Based on average maintenance costs in Salford for this type of facility, as set out in Annex A of 
“Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 
2015). 
48 Based on review of schemes implemented by Salford City Council as set out in Annex A of 
“Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 
2015). 
49 Based on average maintenance costs in Salford for this type of facility, as set out in Annex A of 
“Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 
2015). 
50 “The Six Acre Standard” – National Playing Field Association (1998). 
51 Based on average Sport England Facility Costs (2nd Quarter 2012) 
https://www.sportengland.org/media/32654/Kitbag-Facility-Costs-2Q12.pdf and review of schemes 
implemented by Salford City Council as set out in Annex A of “Planning obligations SPD: background 
document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 2015). 
 
 

Page 96

https://www.sportengland.org/media/32654/Kitbag-Facility-Costs-2Q12.pdf


Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

60 
 

Skateboard and wheeled 
facility 

0.051 £69,682 £136 

Basketball court 0.0061 £7,294 £120 

TOTAL 0.60 £721,976  

 
Providing one of each type of facility (utilising the smaller of the options for both 
tennis and for a skateboard and wheeled facility) would have a total cost of £721,976 
and a size of 0.60ha, equating to £120.33 per square metre. On the same basis, the 
provision of 0.4ha of youth and adult facilities per 1,000 population (thereby meeting 
the lower end of the NPFA standard) would have a capital cost of £481,317, or £481 
per bed space.  
 
Maintenance costs vary considerably between different types of facility, but the cost 
for a multi-use games area would be a representative average. This would give a 
maintenance cost of £66 per square metre, or £262 per bed space.  
 
Taking the capital and maintenance costs together, this would give a total cost of 
£743 per bed space. 
 
Amenity space 
 
Saved UDP policy R2 requires the provision of amenity open space to a standard 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development it serves and sufficient to 
meet the need for casual children’s play space. 
 
The NPFA recommends a minimum of 0.4 – 0.5ha of informal children’s playspace 
per 1,000 population. Therefore, the provision of 0.4ha of amenity space for all users 
per 1,000 population is likely to be the minimum that is required in order to meet the 
policy standard. 
 
The capital cost of providing amenity space is £17.50 per square metre52, which 
equates to £70,000 for an area measuring 0.4ha, or £70 per bed space. The twenty-
year maintenance cost is £14.40 per square metre53, which equates to £57,600 for 
an area measuring 0.4ha, or £58 per bed space. 
 
Taking the capital and maintenance costs together, this would give a total cost of 
£128 per bed space. 
 
Parks 
 
Saved UDP policy R2 also includes standards for accessibility to park facilities, in 
terms of all households being within 1,200 metres walking distance of a 
neighbourhood park and 3,200 metres walking distance of a district park. 
 

                                            
52 Based on review of schemes implemented by Salford City Council as set out in Annex A of 
“Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 
2015). 
53 Based on average maintenance costs in Salford for this type of facility, as set out in Annex A of 
“Planning obligations SPD: background document on cost updates” – Salford City Council (June 
2015). 

Page 97



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

61 
 

There is no defined standard from which to quantify the provision of parks on a per 
capita basis and therefore it is not possible to identify an associated cost of provision 
per bed space. It is however recognised that some of the identified facility types 
could be provided within parks. 
 
 

Summary and adjustment for inflation 
 
The table below summarises these costs per bed space and calculates the total for 
2015 accordingly. The totals are then adjusted for inflation, using the Retail Price 
Index (RPI) 12-month rate for January each year. These RPI figures were 1.3% in 
January 2016, 2.6% in January 2017, 4.0% in January 2018 and 2.5% in January 
2019. 
 

 

Page 98



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

62 
 

Type of facility Cost of provision per m2 Provision 
standard 
(hectares 
per 1,000 

population) 

Cost per capita (or bed space) to 
achieve provision standard (i.e. 

(cost of provision per m2 x provision 
standard x 10,000) / 1,000) 

Adjustment for inflation (RPI) 

Capital Maintenance 
(over 20 year 

period) 

Capital Maintena
nce (over 
20 year 
period) 

Total 2015 
(capital and 

maintenance) 

2016 
+ 1.3% 

2017 
+ 2.6% 

2018 
+ 4.0% 

2019 
+ 2.5% 

Youth and 
adult facilities 

£120.33 £65.57 0.40A £481 £262 £743 £753 £772 £803 £823 

Sports pitches 
 

£9.74 £8.48 0.92B £90 £78 £168 £170 £175 £182 £186 

Equipped 
children’s 
playspace 

£97.56 £62.46 0.25C £244 £156 £400 £405 £416 £432 £443 

Amenity space 
 

£17.50 £14.40 0.40A £70 £58 £128 £130 £133 £138 £142 

           

Total  £1,439 £1,458 £1,496 £1,555 £1,594 

 
A Derived from: National Playing Field Association (1998) The Six Acre Standard 
B Derived from: Knight, Kavanagh and Page on behalf of Salford City Council (December 2007) Playing pitch and outdoor sports assessment report 
C Identified in saved UDP Policy R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities, and also derived from: National Playing Field Association (1998) The Six Acre 
Standard 

P
age 99



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

63 
 

Annex C – plan of primary pupil planning areas 

P
age 100



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

64 
 

 

P
age 101



Refreshed 2015 Planning Obligations SPD: Version for Cabinet (26 November 2019) 

 

65 
 

Annex D – worked example of the calculation of the education 
contribution 
 

 
Worked example 
 
A development scheme comprising a total of 160 dwellings, with the 
following mix of dwelling types proposed: 
 
Apartments 

 6 x 1-bedroom apartments 

 12 x 2-bedroom apartments 

 2 x 3-bedroom apartments 
 

Houses 

 24 x 2-bedroom houses 

 48 x 3-bedroom houses 

 52 x 4-bedroom houses 

 16 x 5-bedroom houses 
 

Dwelling type Pupil 
yield 
factor 

Calculation Number 
of 

primary 
pupil 

places 

Contribution 
(£10,553 per 
primary pupil 

place) 

6 x 1-bedroom 
apartments 

n/a n/a n/a Exempt 

12 x 2-bedroom 
apartments 

n/a n/a n/a Exempt 

2 x 3-bedroom 
apartments 

n/a n/a n/a Exempt 

24 x 2-bedroom 
houses 

0.11 24 x 0.11 2.64 
 

£27,860 

48 x 3-bedroom 
houses 

0.22 48 x 0.22 10.56 
 

£111,440 

52 x 4-bedroom 
houses 

0.33 52 x 0.33 17.16 
 

£181,089 

16 x 5-bedroom 
houses 

0.44 16 x 0.44 7.04 
 

£74,293 

  TOTAL 37.40 
 

£394,682 

 
On the basis of applying the pupil yield factors, the development would be 
expected to generate a requirement for an additional 37.40 primary pupil 
places.  
 
Applying the per pupil place cost (£10,553 for 2019/20 financial year) this 
would result in the requirement for a developer contribution of £394,682 
towards education provision. 
 

 

Page 102



 

 
 

Annex E – developer guidance on provision of highway 
improvement works and associated fees 
 
Delivering obligations for highway improvements 
 
The construction and improvement of highways in connection with development are 
normally controlled by planning conditions and provisions in the Highways Act 1980 
and are therefore outside the scope of planning obligations. A summary of the city 
council’s approach to securing highway infrastructure works associated with new 
development is set out below. 
 
The two key provisions within the Highways Act 1980 relating to the implementation 
of highway infrastructure works associated with new development are Section 38 
and Section 278. A Section 38 (S38) Agreement applies to new highway 
infrastructure works. A Section 278 (S278) Agreement is for highway works adjacent 
to or on existing highways. 
 
For Section 38 Agreements, and where appropriate for Section 278 Agreements 
(Highways Act 1980), the requirement will be for the developer to implement the 
approved highway infrastructure works, which will then be adopted by the city council 
once they are in an adoptable condition.  
 
Where such agreements are used, development must not commence until: 
1) the development has entered into a bond with an approved surety for an amount, 

based on the estimated cost of the adoptable highway infrastructure works, to 
ensure that the city council’s position is protected should the developer default in 
any way with regard to the works; and 

2) the developer has received written approval of the submitted detailed engineering 
drawings, setting out the highway infrastructure works; and 

3) the developer has paid a fee to cover the city council’s costs incurred in 
designing the works (applies to S278 Agreements only), approving the drawings, 
supervising the adoptable highway infrastructure works, and administration of the 
Agreement. 

 
Planning conditions or obligations will normally require that the development not be 
occupied until the adoptable highway infrastructure works are implemented by the 
developer and completed to the point that the city council or its agent can issue a 
S38 Part 1 Certificate (Certificate of Substantial Completion). However, where 
developments are phased, they may be occupied in accordance with an agreed 
phasing plan, subject to the necessary highway works for each phase being 
completed. 
 
The adoptable highway infrastructure works should be maintained by the developer, 
at their expense, for a minimum period of 12 months following the issue of the S38 
Part 2 Certificate and/or the S278 Certificate of Completion. 
 
After this period, the S38 Final Certificate and/or the S278 Maintenance Certificate 
will be issued and the city council will adopt the highway infrastructure works as 
maintainable at public expense, subject to: 
a. any defects being remedied to the satisfaction of the city council; and 

Page 103



 

 
 

b. sewers beneath the adoptable highway infrastructure works being adopted by 
United Utilities PLC. 

 
Materials 

 
All materials proposed for use on the highway network require city council Highway 
Network Management prior approval. Where appropriate these shall be subject to 
HAPAS approval (or other nationally recognised testing and trial procedures). 

 
Materials (paving etc) shall be from a readily available source so that repair 
timescales of 28 days can be achieved. Areas subject to enhanced materials, and 
products which carry additional inspection/maintenance liability, shall where 
appropriate require a calculated commuted sum for future maintenance. 
 
Section 38 and 278 fees 
 
The city council’s total fee for drawing approval, inspection of the works and 
administration of the Agreement will be calculated as a proportion of the value of the 
cost of the adoptable highway infrastructure works. Currently these are: 
 

 Section 38 Agreements: 
o for developments with an estimated cost of adoptable highway 

infrastructure works up to £25,000, the minimum standard supervision 
fee is £2,000. 

o for developments with an estimated cost of adoptable works over 
£25,000, the standard supervision fee will be calculated at 8% of the 
estimated cost of adoptable highway infrastructure works.  
 

 Section 278 Agreements: 
o The city council (as the highway authority) has the right to design and 

construct the works on behalf of the developer, because the works are 
on or adjacent to the adopted highway. Therefore, fees will be 
calculated on an individual basis, dependent on the works involved. 

o Where the City Council (as Highway Authority) does not undertake its 
right to design and construct the works, a fee figure of 8% shall be 
charged against the estimated cost of the works. 

 
Works on the motorway network 
 
For works on the motorway network, developers will need to enter into a S278 
Agreement with the Highways Agency, which is the highway authority for the 
motorway and trunk road network in England (there are currently no trunk roads 
within Salford). Early discussion with the Highway Agency is therefore advised where 
a development could potentially affect the motorway network. 
 
Traffic Signal Schemes – S278 Agreements and Commuted Sums 
 
Following the creation of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) on 1 
April 2011 the ownership of all traffic signal assets in Greater Manchester transferred 
to GMCA. The maintenance and operational running costs are the responsibility of 

Page 104



 

 
 

GMCA and this is funded by a central levy. The Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority Order statutorily delegates to the GMCA several key functions related to 
the installation, upgrading, maintenance and management of traffic signals on local 
highway authority roads. The Local Authority Protocols prescribe that Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM) will undertake this work. 
 
Under the agreed Traffic Signals Protocols between the GMCA, TfGM, the TfGM 
Committee, and the Association of Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA) Local 
Highway Authorities, the GMCA has the power to enter into agreements under S278 
of the Highways Act 1980 to obtain third party funding for the installation, 
maintenance and operating costs of signal controlled junctions and crossings. 
 
For works that will impact on an existing traffic signal junction/crossing or where a 
new installation is proposed, developers will need to enter into a S278 agreement 
with GMCA. Early discussion with Transport for Greater Manchester is therefore 
advised. 
 
Developer’s responsibilities and commuted sums 
 
1) Where a new development, which is not funded and promoted by the local 

authority, requires traffic signal work to be carried out on the existing (publicly 
maintained) highway it will be necessary to enter into an agreement with GMCA. 
It will not be acceptable to describe a development as promoted by the local 
authority to avoid the need for a S278 agreement with GMCA and the required 
commuted sums. 
 

2) If a planning application is approved on the understanding that a new or modified 
traffic signal installation must be provided at the developer’s expense then the 
developer will be required to covenant with GMCA and TfGM to pay the following 
sums: 
a) the design costs for the signal scheme; 
b) the costs incurred by TfGM for carrying out the works. This includes the 

supply and installation of the traffic signal equipment, utility connections and 
management fees; 

c) TfGM’s legal fees for the preparation of the S278 agreement; and  
d) a commuted sum for the 15 year maintenance and running costs of the traffic 

signal installation. This includes the first line maintenance of the signals using 
the TfGM Traffic Signal Maintenance Contract, the mains electricity charges, 
the communications between the remote site and the UTC in-station and the 
in house costs of ongoing signal management. 

e) these responsibilities exist for all developer led traffic signal schemes within 
the AGMA Local Highway Authorities where design work has commenced 
after 1 April 2011. 

 
3) The commuted sum, as of 1st December 2012, is as follows: 

a) for new signal junctions: £3,300 per year over 15 years = £49,500. 
b) for new signal crossings (puffin, toucan and pegasus): £1,650 per year over 

15 years = £24,750. 
c) where an existing site is modified, for example by adding pedestrian facilities, 

an additional approach arm or converting a pelican to a puffin, then the 

Page 105



 

 
 

proportional increase in the value of the asset is calculated and used to 
determine what proportion of the normal commuted sum is payable. 

d) the costs for the signal installation, the legal fees and the commuted sums are 
all payable in advance by the developer to GMCA at the time when the S278 
agreement between the developer and GMCA is signed. If there is no 
payment forthcoming then the procurement of traffic signal equipment will not 
commence. 

 
4) Other costs that apply under the S278 agreement: 

a) the design costs will be agreed in advance based on a general 
arrangement layout agreed between the city council and TfGM. 

b) the actual total installation costs payable will depend on the size and 
complexity of the installation and will be agreed before any installation 
works are commenced. 

c) the final decision on the need for a commuted sum to be payable rests 
with TfGM on behalf of the GMCA. 

d) so that a S278 agreement can be processed the legal section of TfGM will 
need the name and address of the developers solicitor at an early stage of 
the scheme development. 

 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) fees 
 
A Traffic Regulation Order is a legal order, enforceable by law, which allows the 
highway authority to regulate the speed, movement and parking of vehicles, and 
regulate pedestrian movement. 
 
If the highway infrastructure works result in the introduction of a new TRO, or the 
amendment of an existing TRO, a fee of £4,000-£6,000 (2018/19 financial year 
prices) will be required to cover the city council’s costs in introducing or amending 
the TRO. 
 
Licensing 
 
Some developments will require licensing in accordance with Highways Act 1980 
and NRSWA 1991. It will be incumbent on developers to ensure that appropriate 
highway licensing arrangements (both temporary and permanent) are in place. 
 
Further information 
 
Further information can be obtained from Urban Vision’s Highways Group, which 
provides highway services on behalf of the city council. 
 
Highways Group 
Salford Civic Centre 
Chorley Road 
Swinton 
Salford 
M27 5AW 
 
T: 0161 779 4894  

Page 106



 

 
 

W: https://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/road-status-
enquiries/road-adoption-section-38/ 

Page 107

https://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/road-status-enquiries/road-adoption-section-38/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/parking-roads-and-travel/roads/road-status-enquiries/road-adoption-section-38/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Salford City Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Refreshed 2015 Planning 
Obligations 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Consultation Statement – November 
2019 
  

Page 109



2 
 

  

Page 110



3 
 

Contents 
 

  Page 
   
1. Introduction 5 
   
2. Statement of community involvement 6 
   
3. Background to the refresh of the Planning Obligations SPD 7 
   
4. Scoping consultation 8 
   
5. Consultation on a draft SPD 10 
   
6. Implications of September 2019 changes to National Planning 

Practice Guidance and response to comments to the draft SPD 
13 

   
 

Annexes 

  Page 
   
A. List of stakeholders consulted at the scoping stage of the review of 

the planning obligations SPD 
15 

   
B. Letter to consultees on scoping stage 22 
   
C. Schedule of responses submitted at the scoping consultation stage, 

the city council’s response and implications for the draft SPD 
24 

   
D. List of stakeholders consulted at the draft stage of the review of the 

planning obligations SPD 
48 

   
E. Letter to consultees on draft SPD 81 
   
F. Schedule of representations submitted on the draft SPD, the city 

council’s response to them and the implications for the refreshed 
SPD 

86 

   

 
  

Page 111



4 
 

  

Page 112



5 
 

1.  Introduction  
 
1.1  This document has been prepared to comply with the requirements of 

Regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012. Regulation 12(a) requires that before a local planning 
authority adopt a supplementary planning document (SPD), it must prepare 
a consultation statement setting out i) the persons consulted when preparing 
the SPD, ii) a summary of the main issues raised by those persons, and iii) 
how those issues have been addressed in the SPD. 

 

  

Page 113



6 
 

2. Statement of community involvement 
 
2.1 The city council’s statement of community involvement (SCI) was formally 

adopted on 20 January 2010. The SCI aims to increase public involvement in 
planning processes. It sets out who will be involved, by what method and at 
what point in the process of document production or in the determination of 
planning applications. It gives more certainty to those wishing to get involved 
in the planning process.  

 
2.2 The SCI sets the council's policy for community engagement in the production 

of formal planning documents. Below is a summary of the SCI guidance in 
respect of consultation at the different stages of SPD production: 

 
Stage 1 – pre-production 
This stage is based around the gathering of evidence and asking people to 
identify issues and make suggestions in order to inform the preparation of the 
SPD. 

 
Stage 2 – production 
A draft document is produced following the evidence gathering pre-production 
stage. Whilst the regulations simply require that draft SPDs are subject to a 
consultation period of at least 4 weeks, the SCI commits the city council to 
always consulting on the draft SPD for 6 weeks in order to maximise potential 
involvement. The city council will carefully consider any representations 
received during the consultation period and will update the SPD where it is 
considered necessary and appropriate. 

 
Stage 3 – adoption 
The SPD will then be adopted. A summary of representations received and 
how they have been taken into account will be published at this stage. 

 

 

  

Page 114



7 
 

3 Background to the refresh of the Planning Obligations SPD 
 

3.1 Salford City Council undertook a review of its approach to securing planning 
obligations from development, within the framework established via the 
relevant saved policies of the Salford Unitary Development Plan. 
 

3.2 The city council secures planning obligations from new development within 
Salford via section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Planning 
obligations are sought in order to mitigate the impact of new development, 
and to make development acceptable in planning terms. Planning obligations 
can be secured to support the delivery of a wide range of infrastructure, such 
as the provision of affordable housing, the improvement of open space, the 
delivery of transport improvements, or the expansion of schools to create 
additional places. 
 

3.3 A review of the Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) was undertaken for three main reasons: 

 

 To reflect changing national policy, guidance and legislation 

 To respond to the latest information on development viability in Salford 

 To provide additional guidance on the implementation of local policies 
on planning obligations in light of experience in applying the existing 
SPD 

 
3.4 A key principle guiding the review was the need to ensure that the city 

council’s approach to planning obligations has clear regard to development 
viability. The cumulative impact of all financial requirements when taken 
together with other policy requirements should not compromise development 
viability across the city. 

 

3.5 The SPD will specifically supplement the following policies of the UDP: 
 

 DEV5 – Planning conditions and obligations  

 ST5 – Transport networks 

 DES3 – Design of public space 

 H1 – Provision of new housing development 

 H4 – Affordable housing 

 H8 – Open space provision associated with new housing development 

 EHC3 – Provision and improvement of health and community facilities 

 A8 – Impact of development on the highway network 

 CH3 – Works within conservation areas 

 CH7 – Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal 

 R2 – Provision of recreation land and facilities 
 

3.6 Whilst the SPD will not form part of the development plan, it will be an 
important material consideration in the determination of planning applications. 

  

Page 115



8 
 

4. Scoping consultation 
 
4.1 Between March and April 2018, the city council sought the views of 

stakeholders and consultees on its intention to undertake a review of its 
approach to securing planning obligations. The city council issued a scoping 
consultation letter which set out the intention to undertake a review of the 
existing Planning Obligations SPD. 

 
4.2 The city council consulted 503 consultees registered on its planning consultee 

database, including all statutory consultation bodies together with other 
consultees who the city council considered may have an interest in the 
production of the document. This included housebuilders, developers and 
landowners, together with property and planning agents, and residents and 
community groups who had previously expressed an interest or submitted 
representations on related planning policy documents. A list of all those 
consulted is set out at Annex A, and a copy of the scoping consultation letter 
which was sent to consultees is set out at Annex B. Details of the consultation 
were also published on the city council’s website and an electronic version of 
the letter was available to download.  

 
4.3 Comments were invited from Friday 9 March 2018 upon the issue of the 

scoping consultation letter, to the end of the consultation period on Friday 6 
April 2018. 

 
4.4 The following organisations and individuals submitted representations on the 

scoping consultation: 
 

 Canal and River Trust 

 Culcheth and Glazebury Parish Council 

 Environment Agency 

 Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 

 HOW Planning 

 Natural England 

 Network Rail 

 Peel Holding (Land and Property) Ltd 

 Sport England 

 Transport for Greater Manchester 
 
4.5 The following organisations responded to confirm that they had no comments 

to make on the scoping consultation: 
 

 Education and Skills Funding Agency 

 Historic England 
 

4.6 A schedule of all representations received together with the city council’s 
response and how this informed the next stage in the production of the SPD 
(i.e. producing a draft version) are set out at Annex C. 

 

Page 116



9 
 

4.7 A summary of the main issues raised by representations submitted to the 
scoping consultation is set out below. 

 
Summary of representations submitted 

 
4.8 A number of the respondents commented in relation to what the priorities 

should be for planning obligations. In particular, it was suggested that the 
following should be identified: the mosslands; flood defences; watercourses; 
the Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal;  allotments; health; semi-natural 
green spaces; biodiversity; rail stations; and transport assessments. One 
respondent commented that sports pitch requirements should be made 
separate to wider requirements for open space.  
 

4.9 Comments were received with regards to the need for flexibility, particularly 
the need to take into account the implications of planning obligations on 
financial viability. Related to this, it was commented that polices should not be 
overly prescriptive, whilst flexibility was specifically sought by one respondent 
with regards to affordable housing requirements, particularly around tenure, 
size and pepperpotting. 
 

4.10 Two respondents made comments with regards to how certain obligations are 
calculated under the current adopted Planning Obligations SPD. These 
related to how open space contributions are calculated for outline planning 
applications where the precise mix of dwellings is unknown, and also the 
principle of using a per bedspace figure for calculating open space 
contributions.  
 

4.11 Two representations offered support for making the planning obligations 
process more transparent, particularly around viability assessments. However 
the issue of commercial sensitivity was raised in relation to how this should be 
implemented.  
 

4.12 One representation was received from a statutory consultee which identified 
that SEA of the revised SPD would only be required in exceptional 
circumstances.  

 
  

Page 117



10 
 

5. Consultation on a draft SPD 
 
5.1 Between 25 January 2019 and 2 March 2019, the city council consulted on a 

draft planning obligations SPD as part of its review of the approach to 
securing planning obligations.  

 
5.2 The city council consulted 2,066 consultees registered on its planning 

consultee database, including all statutory consultation bodies together with 
other consultees who the city council considered may have an interest in the 
production of this document. This included housebuilders, developers and 
landowners, together with property and planning agents, and residents and 
community groups who had previously expressed an interest or submitted 
representations on related planning policy documents.  
 

5.3 A list of all those consulted is set out at Annex D, and a copy of the 
consultation letter which was sent to consultees is set out at Annex E. Details 
of the consultation were published on the city council’s website where the 
draft SPD and all associated background documents were available to 
download. In addition, the draft SPD and associated documents were 
available to view in each of the city’s libraries.  
 

5.4 13 responses were received during the consultation period from the following 
organisations: 

 

 Agecroft Cemetery Chapel Restoration Group 

 Bellway Homes 

 Canal and River Trust 

 Derwent Holdings Ltd 

 English Cities Fund 

 Environment Agency 

 Historic England 

 Legal and General Property Fund 

 Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal Society 

 Natural England 

 Progressive Living Ltd 

 Sport England 

 The Peel Group 
 

Summary of representations submitted 
 
5.5 A number of respondents provided general support for producing an updated 

planning obligations SPD in line with the tests as set out in the NPPF, i.e. the 
obligations are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development. One respondent noted however that the 
government’s viability guidance was changed in March 2019, whilst they also 
noted that the new SPD should not be adopted until new CIL regulations are 
formally put in place (which include removing the current pooling restrictions 
for planning obligations).  

Page 118



11 
 

 
5.6 A comment was received that each policy in the SPD should explicitly set out 

which policy from the saved UDP it is supplementing, whilst there was 
concern raised that as the Draft SPD policies mirror large parts of the Revised 
Draft Local Plan the council is potentially seeking to circumvent and subvert 
the Local Plan Examination by imposing policies through the SPD.   
 

5.7 A respondent commented that Agecroft Cemetery should be a priority for 
planning obligations. 

 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) / Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
 
5.8 Natural England stated that they had reviewed the council’s Draft SA and SEA 

determination statement that was published alongside the Draft SPD and 
agree with its conclusions that a SA or SEA is not required.  

 
Viability evidence 
 
5.9 Reference was made by one consultee to representations they submitted with 

regards to the Revised Draft Local Plan residential viability assessment 
(which was also the viability evidence base for the Draft Planning Obligations 
SPD). These representations considered that the council had over-estimated 
the viability of development. Another respondent raised concerns with some 
of the council’s assumptions and also questioned why only the viability of 
residential development had been assessed. 

 
Policy OB1 – Artificial splitting of sites 
 
5.10 There was general support for the approach that seeks to ensure that 

developers do not artificially split sites (to below the thresholds in the policies) 
to avoid planning obligations. 

 
Policy OB2 – Reduced planning obligations 
 
5.11 The approach to accepting reduced obligations having regard to viability 

evidence was supported by a number of the consultees, although two 
respondents wanted the SPD to be updated to specifically refer to 
regeneration benefits being a circumstance where reduced obligations are 
acceptable.  

 
Policy OB3 – Affordable housing 
 
5.12 It was commented that the proposed 50% affordable housing requirement in 

some parts of the city would have a fundamental impact on delivery of new 
homes. A number of respondents also commentated that the affordable 
housing requirements in the policy are contrary to the viability evidence 
prepared by the council; in particular the minimum 20% affordable 
requirement ignores the evidence that affordable housing is not viable in 
certain areas. It was stated by one respondent that affordable housing 
requirements in policy OB3 should not apply to co-living developments, 

Page 119



12 
 

instead a financial contribution or discounted market dwellings should be 
sought.   

 
Policy OB4 – Build to rent  
 
5.13 Two responses were received to state that wording relating to a minimum 

tenancy of 3 years (subject to break clauses) should be amended to provide 
greater flexibility as set out in the NPPF.  

 
Policy OB5 – Vacant building credit 
  
5.14 The merits of this policy were questioned by two respondents on the basis 

that it duplicates the NPPF and associated planning practice guidance.  
 
Policy OB6 – Open space contributions 
 
5.15 One consultee commented that a per-person approach to calculating 

contributions significantly over-estimates the realistic approach of individual 
housing developments, having regard to household size in the Census. 
Therefore a per-property contribution should be made having regard to the 
Census average data. Sport England noted that the policy applies local 
standards for outdoor sports; they recommend that a separate Outdoor Sport 
policy should be prepared instead that has regard to the 2018 Playing Pitch 
Strategy prepared by the council, and Sport England’s New Development 
Pitch Calculator and up to date Facility Costs.   

 
Policy OB7 – Education 
 
5.16 It was commented that the policy should be amended so that any contribution 

sought takes into account the capacity of exiting primary schools.  
 
Policy OB8 – Setting aside land for school provision 
 
5.17 No comments of direct relevance received. 
 
Policy OB9 – Transport contributions  
 
5.18 Support was given to transport contributions being determined on a case by 

case basis, although one respondent wanted specific reference to canal 
towpath improvements as part of seeking contributions. 

 
Policy OB10 – Public realm 
 
5.19 Support was given to transport contributions being determined on a case by 

case basis, and reference to the Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal. Two 
respondents commented that on site public realm works should be taken into 
account when determining the scale of any contributions for public realm.  

 
  

Page 120



13 
 

6. Implications of September 2019 changes to National Planning 
Practice Guidance and response to comments to the draft 
SPD 

 
6.1 On 1 September 2019 (i.e. following consultation by the city council on its 

2019 Draft Planning Obligations SPD), the Government published updates to 
its planning practice guidance (PPG) on Planning Obligations1. Two 
sentences that have been added to paragraph 004 of the PPG have particular 
implications for the review of Salford’s adopted 2015 Planning Obligations 
SPD: 
 
“Policies for planning obligations should be set out in plans and examined in 
public.” 
 
“It is not appropriate for plan-makers to set out new formulaic approaches to 
planning obligations in supplementary planning documents or supporting 
evidence base documents, as these would not be subject to examination.” 
 

6.2 Having regard to the above guidance, the city council considers it is unlikely 
that it is the Government’s intention to remove all weight from existing SPD 
policies on which local authorities rely (such as Salford’s SPD on Planning 
Obligations that was adopted in June 2015), as this could leave them with no 
policies governing the use of planning obligations. Instead it would seem that 
the government is seeking to ensure that following 1 September 2019 any 
new policies are included in the development plan rather than an SPD.  
 

6.3 The draft SPD that the city consulted on between January and March 2019 
could be interpreted as introducing new formulaic approaches that would not 
be subject to examination and so would be contrary to the PPG. For example, 
the draft SPD set out an approach where there was an affordable housing 
requirement as high as 50% in some value areas, compared to a lower 
maximum of 20% as set out in the adopted 2015 SPD.  

 
6.4 Salford’s 2015 Planning Obligations SPD has been successfully implemented 

since adoption and has provided certainty and clarity to developers how 
relevant saved policies in the adopted Development Plan will be implemented. 
As a result it has helped to ensure that the impacts of new development are 
satisfactorily mitigated. Given this, and in order to avoid conflict with the 
updated PPG with regards to setting out new approaches to formulaic 
approaches to planning obligations in SPDs, the city council has made the 
decision to not proceed with a comprehensive review of the 2015 SPD, as 
consulted upon in early 2019.  
 

6.5 Although the decision has been taken to not proceed with a comprehensive 
review of the SPD, the city council has instead carried out a minor refresh of 

                                                           
1 “National Planning Practice Guidance – planning obligations” Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 23b-
004-20190901– Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (last updated 1 September 
2019) 

 

Page 121



14 
 

the 2015 adopted SPD that does not involve changing existing formulas or 
introducing new ones, or changing the overall approach. As part of the minor 
refresh, factual references to national policy and legislation have been 
updated, and additional clarity such as updating financial costs to the 2019/20 
financial year added. In addition, changes have been made to the affordable 
housing requirements having regard to updated viability evidence (although 
no requirement has been set in excess of the 20% set out in the SPD as 
adopted in 2015). Other changes to the 2015 SPD resulting from the refresh 
are set out at paragraph 1.13 of the refreshed SPD.  
 

Response to draft SPD comments 

 

6.6 The approach in the 2019 draft SPD that was consulted upon in early 2019, 
was informed by comments received to the scoping consultation that took 
place between March and April 2018, as set out at Annex C of this 
consultation statement. However, given the change in approach of the SPD 
(i.e. a minor refresh of the adopted 2015 SPD as opposed to the 
comprehensive review as set out in the 2019 draft SPD), some of the 
comments and changes made by the city council at the draft stage 
unfortunately now fall outside of the scope of the SPD refresh.  
 

6.7 With regards to comments made during consultation on the 2019 draft SPD, 
these comments and the city council’s response to them can be found at 
Annex F. Some of these comments now fall outside of the scope of the 
refreshed 2015 SPD and where applicable this has been highlighted in that 
Annex. Notably two respondents (English Cities Fund and Legal and General 
Property Fund) identified at the draft stage that: 

 

 The 2019 draft SPD was in a large part copying the form of the emerging 
Local Plan policies (2019 Revised Draft Local Plan) and so was therefore 
seeking to circumvent and subvert the Local Plan Examination 

 The city council was therefore opening itself up to challenge upon adoption 
of the SPD and would have to fundamentally reconsider its approach 

 

6.8 These comments as well as the changes to the PPG highlighted above have 
ultimately led to the city council changing the scope of the SPD to a minor 
refresh of that which was adopted in 2015.   
 

 
  

Page 122



15 
 

ANNEX A - List of stakeholders consulted at the scoping stage of the review of 
the planning obligations SPD2 
 

Consultee - Organisations 

Abstract Securities 

Acremoss Designs 

Action Against Astley Road Development 

Aecom 

Aew 

Age Uk 

Ainscough Stratgeic Land 

Allied London 

Ambulance Service North West NHS Trust 

Amec (National Grid) 

Amion 

Ar Planning 

Arcon Housing Association 

Arcus Consultancy Services Ltd 

Argent Group 

Armitage Residents Assoc. 

Arqiva 

Artisan 

Arup 

Ask Developments 

Atelier Mb Architects 

Atkins Global 

Bardsley Construction 

Barnes Construction 

Barratt Homes Manchester 

Barton Wilmore 

BDP 

Bdw Trading Ltd 

Beaumont Morgan Developments Ltd 

Beech Farm Residents Association 

Bellway Homes North West 

Benmore Group 

Bfls 

Bloc 

Blue Mantle 

Blue Sky Planning Ltd 

BNP Paribas 

Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council 

Bovis Homes 

Breem Centre 

Bridgewater Canal Company Ltd 

British Gas 

British Telecom 

Broadway Malyan Planning 

Brookfinch Developments 

Brookhouse Community Association 

Brookhouse Group 

Bruntwood Estates 

                                                           
2 A total of 503 individual stakeholders were consulted at the scoping stage were consulted at the scoping 
stage of the SPD review. It should however be noted that these numbers include multiple stakeholders within 
the same organisation. To avoid duplication, this table therefore lists each organisation / individual only once. 

Page 123



16 
 

Bullock Construction 

Bury MBC 

Business Consultative Forum 

CA Planning 

Campaign For Real Ale 

Canal And River Trust 

Canmoor 

Canning O'Neill 

Capital and Centric 

Carillion Igloo Limited 

Carrington Parish Council 

Carter Jones 

Casserly Property Management 

CBI - North West Office 

CBRE 

Centre for Local Economic Strategies 

Cheetham and Mortimer 

Chesters Coaches 

Chris Thomas Ltd 

Christopher Dee 

Church Of England Diocese Of Manchester 

City Airport Manchester 

City Centre Cruises 

City Heart 

City Of Trees 

City West Housing 

Civil Aviation Authority 

Claremont Community Association 

Clifton Hamlet 

Colliers International 

Cooperative Group Property Division 

Copthorne Hotel 

Council for British Archaeology 

Country Land And Business Association North 

Countryside Properties PLC 

CPRE Lancashire Branch 

Culcheth and Glazebury Parish Council 

Cushman and Wakefield 

Cussons Technology 

Dalton Warner Davies 

Dandara 

David Wilson Homes 

Davies Harrison 

Davis Langdon LLP 

De Pol Associates 

De Traffords Resident Assoc. 

Deloitte LLP 

Department for Transport 

Deputy Director of Public Health 

Derwent Holdings 

Development Securities 

Director of Public Health 

DMS Architecture Ltd 

Dorribo T/A Regional Map Distributers 

Dpp One Ltd 

DTZ 

Dundedin Property 

Eccles and Salford Mosque 

Page 124



17 
 

Eddisons 

Education and Skills Funding Agency 

Edward and Co 

Edward Symmons 

EE Telecommunications 

EFM Ltd 

Ekosgen 

Elan Homes 

Electricity North West 

Ellesmere Park Residents Association 

Emery Planning 

English Cities Fund (Muse Developments) 

Environment Agency 

Euan Kellie Property Solutions 

Eversheds LLP 

Fairhurst 

Faithful and Gould 

Federation of Jewish Services 

FICM Ltd 

Fields in Trust 

First Plan 

Forestry Commission NW 

Framptons 

Freight Transport Association Northern Region 

Friends, Families and Travellers and Traveller Law Reform Project 

Gamma Telecommunications 

Gerald Eve 

GL Hearn 

Glenbrook Property 

GM Fire And Rescue Services HQ 

GM Pedestrians Association 

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service 

Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 

Greater Manchester Minerals and Waste Planning Unit 

Greater Manchester Police 

Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority 

Greenoaks Ltd 

Groundwork Manchester Salford Trafford 

GVA 

Hamilton Davies Trust 

Harland Machine Systems Ltd 

Harrow Estates Plc 

Harworth Estates 

Health And Safety Executive NW 

Heaton Planning Ltd 

Highway Authority 

Highways England 

Hill Street Residents Association 

Himor Group 

Historic England 

HMP & YOI Forest Bank 

Hollins Strategic Land 

Home Builders Federation 

Homes And Communities Agency 

Hourigan Connolly 

How Planning 

Page 125



18 
 

Igloo 

Ignite Homes Ltd 

Iliad Group 

Indigo Planning 

Inpartnership 

Institute Of Directors North West 

Irlam Medical Centre 

Isis  Waterside Regeneration 

J. Fletcher (Engineers) Ltd 

JASP Planning Consutancy Ltd 

Jewish Representative Council Of Manchester 

JMP Consulting 

Jones Lang Lasalle 

JWPC Ltd 

Keepmoat 

Keppie Massie 

Kier Limited 

Kingsland Wines and Spirits 

Kirkwells 

Knight Frank 

Lambert Smith Hampton 

Lancashire  Wildlife Trust 

Lancashire Gardens Trust 

Lancs Circuit Of Jehovah's Witnesses 

Langtree Group 

Lichfields 

Lidl UK Properties 

Local Enterprise Partnership 

Local Nature Partnership 

Lovell Partnerships Ltd 

LPC Living 

Lvmh Uk Ltd 

Mace Group 

Maghull Developments 

Magnesium Elecktron UK 

Makro (Booker Group Plc) 

Manchester Airport Group 

Manchester City Council 

Manchester Civic Society 

Manchester Doors & Cubicals 

Manchester Enterprise Partnership 

Manchester Friends of the Earth 

Maple Grove Developments 

Marine Management Organisation 

Mawdsley Brooks and Co 

Mcaleer and Rushe Group 

Mcr Property 

Miller Construction 

Miller Homes 

Miller Homes North West 

Mister Blister Ltd 

Morgan Sindall 

Morris Homes (North) Ltd 

Morris Homes Ltd 

Mosaic Town Planning 

N M Rothschild and Sons Ltd 

Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners 

National Federation of Gypsy Liasion Groups 

Page 126



19 
 

National Grid 

Natural England 

Neptune Developments 

Network Rail (Infrastructure) Ltd 

Nexus Planning Ltd 

NFU 

NHS England (NHS Commissioning Board) 

NHS Property Services Ltd 

Nikal 

Nimans Ltd 

NJL Consulting 

Northbank Management Company 

Novotel  Hotel 

Npower Renewables 

Off The Rails Ltd 

Office for Graham Stringer MP 

Office for Rebecca Long Bailey MP 

Office for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Greater Manchester 

Office Of Barbara Keeley MP 

Office Of Rail And Road 

Oldham MBC 

OMI Architects 

Orbit Developments Emerson 

Partington Town Council 

Paul Butler Associates 

PBN 

Peacock And Smith 

Peel Holdings 

Peel Investments Ltd 

Peel Ports Ltd 

Pegasus Planning Group Ltd 

Pendleton College 

People First Manchester 

Persimmon Homes NW 

Peterloo Estates 

Plan Info (Part Of DPDS Group) 

Planning Potential 

Planware Ltd 

Pochins Ltd 

Pozzoni 

Praxis 

Prds 

Property Alliance Group 

Public Health Service Salford 

Ramblers Association 

Rapar 

Rapleys Llp 

Realty Estates 

Red Property Serrvices 

Red Rose Forest 

Redrow Homes 

Regeneris 

Renaker Build 

Renewable Uk 

Rg+P Ltd 

Riverside Island Tenants Assoc 

Rixton With Glazebrook Parish Council 

Rochdale MBC 

Page 127



20 
 

Roger Hannah And Co 

RSPB 

Rybram Ltd 

Safety Systems UK Ltd 

Salford City College 

Salford City Partnership 

Salford Community Leisure 

Salford Deaf Gathering 

Salford Disability Forum 

Salford Disabled Motorists Association. 

Salford Equality Network 

Salford Forum Of Older People 

Salford Link Project 

Salford NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

Salford Youth Service 

Salix Homes 

Sanderson Weatherall 

Savills 

Scarborough Group 

Seddon Group Ltd 

Seddons 

Sedgwick Associates 

Seybourne 

Shed Km 

Shelter (London) 

SISI Development 

Skills Funding Agency 

SLR Consulting Ltd 

Sport England 

SSA Planning Ltd 

St Modwen Developments 

Stama Development Ltd 

Steven Abbott Associates LLP 

Stewart Ross Associates 

Stockport Council 

Storeys Edward Symonds 

Story Homes Ltd 

Stratus Environmental Ltd 

Swinton Judo Club 

Swinton Open Space Community Association 

Symphony Housing Group 

Tameside MBC 

Taylor Wimpey Strategic Land 

Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd 

Terrace Hill 

Tesco 

Tetlow King Planning 

The Coal Authority 

The Emerson Group 

The Emerson Group (Jones Homes NW Ltd) 

The Gardens Trust 

The Lawn Tennis Association 

The Manchester Ship Canal Company 

The Planning Bureau 

The Seedley And Langworthy Trust 

The SPAB 

The Stables 

The Theatres Trust 

Page 128



21 
 

The Twentieth Century Society 

The Wildlife Trust 

The Woodland Trust 

Thomas Eggar LLP 

Thorn Court Residents Association 

Three Telecommunications 

Together Housing 

Trafford MBC 

Transport For Greater Manchester 

TSG 

Turley 

Turner and Townsend 

Tushingham Moore 

Tyler Parkes Partnership 

UK Coal Head Office 

UK Land And Property 

United Utilities Plc 

United Utilities Property Services 

Urban Splash 

URS Global 

Vanguard Self Storage 

Ventures 

Villafont Ltd 

Vincent and Gorbing 

Vision Developments 

Vita Ventures 

Vodafone and O2 

Wainhomes 

Walton And Co 

Warburton Parish Council 

Ward Headway 

Warrington Borough Council 

Wates Living Space 

West Properties Uk Ltd 

Westhoughton Town Council 

Westleigh Developments Ltd 

White Young Green 

WHR Property Consultants 

Wigan Council 

Worsley Civic Trust & Amenity Society 

Wrightington Parish Council 

WSP 

X1 

Your Housing Group 

Mr And Mrs Stringer 

Beryl Patten 

Derek Butterworth 

Peter Ball 

Gary James 

Mr Nazar 

Mrs P Walker 

Christopher Gray 

Hamish Robertshaw 

R D Boyd 

 
  

Page 129



22 
 

ANNEX B – Letter to consultees on scoping stage 

Page 130



23 
 

 

 

 

Page 131



24 
 

Annex C – schedule of responses submitted at the scoping consultation stage, the city council’s 

response and implications for the draft SPD 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

001 Canal and River Trust Which aspects of the current SPD should be retained/amended? 
The Trust is committed to maximising the potential of the Manchester, 
Bolton & Bury Canal (MBB) and its towpath as a leisure and recreation 
resource, a heritage and wildlife corridor and a sustainable transport 
route. The Trust also remains committed to supporting the restoration of 
the canal to full navigation, alongside other partners and stakeholders 
including the Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal Society. In our role as 
statutory consultee on planning applications, the Trust seeks to secure 
improvements to the canal infrastructure through planning obligations 
where such contributions would meet the tests set out at paragraph 204 
of the National Planning Policy Framework, i.e. necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the 
development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.  
 
With this in mind the Trust would wish to see the following 
aspects/mechanisms retained in the updated Planning Obligations SPD. 
 
Policy OB5 – Transport Contribution 
The towpath of the Manchester, Bolton & Bury Canal provides a 
sustainable transport route for walking and cycling, connecting residential 
areas to employment, shops and local facilities both with Salford and in 
the neighbouring communities of Bolton. Where development in the 
vicinity of the canal will result in the increased use of the towpath by 
pedestrians and cyclists, it will be reasonable to secure a developer 
contribution towards further improvements to the surface of the towpath 
and/or access improvements. 
 

One of the saved UDP policies that 
the draft SPD specifically supplements 
is Policy CH7 (Manchester, Bolton and 
Bury Canal).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Support welcomed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 132



25 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

The Trust therefore supports Policy OB5 of the SPD and the supporting 
text which enables contributions to be sought towards the improvement of 
transport infrastructure, having regard to site-specific circumstances. The 
existing policy allows such contributions to be directed towards a range of 
projects (para 8.8) including the improvement of existing pedestrian and 
cycle routes. This mechanism should be retained. 
 
Policy OB6 – Public Realm 
Policy CH7 of the adopted Unitary Development Plan (as saved) states 
that: 
“In circumstances where the restoration or improvement of the canal or 
towpath is necessary to enable development to proceed satisfactorily, or 
where the development would benefit directly from the restoration or 
improvement, contributions will be sought with a view to securing such 
restoration or improvement.” 
 
The Trust has previously commented that it is unfortunate that a similar 
standalone policy does not appear in the current draft Salford Local Plan. 
This said draft Local Plan policy D12 – Waterside Development and policy 
R1(8) – Recreation Spatial Strategy, which seeks to secure the 
restoration and protection the line of the MBB, do provide potential policy 
support. Given this it clearly remains an objective of the Council to 
support the restoration and protection of the MBB, especially as a 
monitoring indicator of the Plan includes increasing the restored length of 
the MBB (para 12:15 of the draft Local Plan). The review of the Planning 
Obligations SPD would provide an opportunity to address this matter 
further and set out a mechanism for securing contributions for the long 
term restoration or improvement of the MBB. 
 
In this regard the Trust support the thrust of Policy OB6 and would wish to 
see a similar policy retained, along with an updated version of the criteria 
at paragraph 9.4 of the current Planning Obligations SPD.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
The reasoned justification to Policy 
OB10 (Public realm contributions) 
continues to make reference to the 
Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal. 
The text has been amended to explain 
that “the city council supports the 
restoration of the Manchester, Bolton 
and Bury Canal, and it will be 
appropriate for development along the 
line of the canal to contribute towards 
its use as a green transport and 
recreation corridor, or the restoration 
of the canal”. 

P
age 133



26 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

That being: “Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal – the city council 
supports the restoration of the Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal. It will 
be appropriate for development along the line of the canal to contribute 
towards its restoration or improvement.” 
 
We suggest that the wording should however be reviewed and amended 
due to concerns in relation to meeting the planning obligations tests in 
terms of being able to demonstrate that such a contribution would be 
directly related to the development and necessary to make the 
development acceptable. There is also the matter of pooling restriction as 
well. It could be broadened and redrafted along the lines of:  
 
“Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal – the City Council supports the 
former line of the canal being safeguarded as a green corridor and for 
development along the line of the canal contributing towards the provision 
of a recreation route and its uses as a sustainable transport route, 
pending its long term restoration or improvement.” 
 
This would enable contributions to be sought towards public 
realm/sustainable travel/green infrastructure improvements, along the 
former line of the canal. 
 
The Trust would be happy to discuss an appropriate mechanism with the 
Council for significant new development to contribute towards the 
restoration of the canal, for example at Middlewood Lock.  
 

002 Culcheth and Glazebury 
Parish Council 

As we are a Parish bordering Salford our main interests are keeping the 
gap between settlements and protecting the moss lands and water 
courses. 
 
Our other concern is for developments which adversely affect the free 
flow of traffic on our region's roads and motorways. 

Other policy documents support the 
protection of the mosslands and 
watercourses. 
 
The reasoned justification to Policy 
OB9 (Transport contributions) 

P
age 134



27 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

Traffic problems already exist so planning obligations could be used, for 
example, to improve junctions and provide safe crossings for residents. 
Also parking standards in new development should be such that overflow 
parking on important transport routes is avoided. 
 

provides examples of how transport 
contributions may be spent, which 
include pedestrian crossings and 
parking management measures. The 
issue of parking standards will be 
considered through the Local Plan. 
 

003 Environment Agency We would recommend that within the current listed priorities in the SPD 
(affordable housing, open space, primary school places, transport, and 
public realm) that flood defence infrastructure and Green Infrastructure 
are also included as priorities. 
 
We would also encourage an approach for partnership working on wider 
flood management initiatives across the Borough of Salford between 
developers, local community, the Council and ourselves. 

Flood defence infrastructure has been 
added to the list of examples of other 
site-specific planning obligations in 
section 10. A reference to green 
infrastructure has been added to the 
examples of how public realm 
contributions could be spent, in the 
reasoned justification to Policy OB10 
(Public realm contributions). The 
approach to open space in Policy OB6 
will also have substantial green 
infrastructure benefits. 
 

004 Greater Manchester 
Ecological Unit (GMEU) 

Section 6 - Open Space only includes four typologies of open space. We 
believe this is too restrictive and that other forms of open space should be 
included as potential receptors of planning obligation funding including 
semi-natural greenspace and allotments. 
 
 
 
Section 10 – Other Site Specific obligations. Whilst we realise that section 
10.2 is only giving examples we recommend that riverside development 
be include as an example that may be required to provide financial 
provision towards either flood defence and/or improvements to the 

The reasoned justification to Policy 
OB6 (Open space contributions) 
provides examples of the types of 
open space on which contributions 
might be spent, including natural 
greenspace and allotments. 
 
Flood defence infrastructure has been 
added to the list of examples of other 
site-specific planning obligations in 
section 10. Ecological mitigation or 
compensatory measures are also 

P
age 135



28 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

ecological potential of the waterbody as defined under the Water 
Framework Directive. 
 
 
 
Our only experience with the current SPD related to the Charlestown 
Development where we recommended that the public open space 
contribution be spent on the riverside path. Whilst we did not follow this 
through, we were informed that the open space contribution was likely to 
be waived because of the affordable housing contribution. This was 
disappointing given that Salford CC is the lead authority on implementing 
the Natural Course project which seeks to enhance the Irwell Corridor in 
Greater Manchester. 
 

listed, which could include measures 
relating to the ecological potential of a 
waterbody. 
 
The approach to planning obligations 
needs to take into account the 
implications on development viability. 
This may mean that some types of 
contribution need to be prioritised over 
others on an individual site. 

005 HOW Planning OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
Policy OB2 (Open Space Contribution) of the 2015 SPD sets out the 
financial contribution requirement towards the provision or improvement 
of off-site open space which is required for new housing developments 
that would result in a net increase of 11 or more dwellings and which 
includes no on-site provision of open space. The financial contributions 
are set out as follows: 
 

 "House: £1,439 per bed space (at 2015/16 financial year prices) 

 Apartment (and other forms of accommodation which are not 
encompassed within the definition of a house): £1,039 per bed space 
(at 2015/16 financial year prices)" 

 
The policy further states that a bed space is defined as the number of 
bedrooms within a dwelling, plus one. Furthermore the reasoned 
justification states: 
 

 
Text has been added to section 3 
(Approach to securing planning 
obligations), which explains the 
approach that will be taken for outline 
planning applications. This says that: 
“The preferred approach will be to 
include the relevant cost formulae in 
the s106 agreement, so that there is a 
clear commitment to providing 
appropriate contributions to priorities 
such as open space and education. 
Those contributions can then be 
calculated at the reserved matters 
stage once the number, type and/or 
size of dwellings is known, without 
having to amend the agreement.” 
 

P
age 136



29 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

"The policy identifies that a bed space is defined as the number of 
bedrooms within a dwelling, plus one. For example, a two bedroom 
dwelling has three bed spaces, and a four bedroom dwelling has five bed 
spaces. Bed spaces represent the number of people that could 
reasonably be expected to occupy a dwelling, and therefore its likely 
impact on the need for open space. Studio apartments are considered to 
have two bed spaces, given that they will normally be designed to enable 
occupation by up to two persons." 
 
What the current SPD does not take account of is calculating financial 
contributions for off-site open space provision for outline planning 
applications. In normal circumstances house types and sizes and 
therefore, bed spaces, are not usually known at the outline stage and 
therefore the open space contributions cannot be calculated accurately in 
line with the SPD. 
 
It is recommended that the Council review the way financial contributions 
for off-site open space provision is calculated for outline planning 
applications to make this more user-friendly. 
 
VIABILITY TESTING 
A number of policies in the 2015 SPD refer to viability testing which is 
essential and fully supported by HOW Planning. These include policy 
OB1 (Affordable Housing) which sets out the affordable housing 
requirements which should be provided in housing developments of 25 or 
more dwellings or on all residential sites over 1 hectare which comprise 
11 or more dwellings. 
 
The policy refers to financial viability and states: 
 
"In instances where an applicant demonstrates to the city council's 
satisfaction that full or partial delivery of the affordable housing 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Support welcomed. 
 
The city council is committed to 
transparency in the planning 
application process, as this is 
considered important for retaining 
public confidence in the system. 
Consequently, and in accordance with 
the national Planning Practice 
Guidance, Policy OB2 (Reduced 
planning obligations) of the draft SPD 
states that: “Where a viability appraisal 
is submitted by an applicant in order to 
justify a reduced contribution, it will be 
published prior to the determination of 
the planning application unless there 
are exceptional circumstances.” 

P
age 137



30 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

requirement is not possible on viability grounds, the city council will 
negotiate alternative provision having regard to local need. In 
circumstances where obligations are reduced or waived, clawback 
mechanisms will be put in place should viability improve subsequently." 
 
The policy does not directly specify that if a reduced affordable housing 
contribution is proposed, a viability assessment is required to be 
submitted however, it is inferred through its requests for viability to be 
demonstrated. 
 
Furthermore, policy OB6 (Public Realm Contribution) sets out when 
contributions towards the provision or improvement of public realm are 
required. The reasoned justification makes reference to viability evidence 
being submitted. 
 
Finally, paragraph 11.15, which relates to 'costs to be met by the 
developer' states that: 
 
"A developer may submit financial viability evidence in order to 
demonstrate that the cumulative impact of all policy requirements would 
compromise development viability, and that the contribution should be 
reduced or waived accordingly…" 
Firstly, HOW supports the flexibility to allow viability assessment to be 
submitted if it is not financially viable for full contributions sought by the 
SPD to be provided. This flexibility needs to be retained and bolstered in 
the revised SPD. It is understood that regard will be had in the 
forthcoming SPD to the draft NPPF, which has been published alongside 
proposed guidance on viability in planning. This includes a requirement 
that all viability assessments (where needed) should be made publically 
available. Whilst we understand the requirement for transparency, if full 
information is to be published in the public domain, this could give others 
a commercial advantage in the development / site acquisition process. As 

P
age 138



31 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

such, this approach should be carefully considered. Should the Council 
adopt a more transparent approach, then it is suggested that viability 
assessments only be available for Planning Committee Members and 
redacted versions to the public to avoid any unnecessary disadvantage. 

006 Natural England We welcome this opportunity to give our views on Salford City Council’s 
updated Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning (SPD). As part of 
your review, we would like to bring to your attention Natural England’s 
previous comments on Salford City Council’s Planning Obligations SPD, 
which the following was stated: 
“We welcome the inclusion of ‘Open Space’ in the Draft Planning 
Obligations SPD but we are of the opinion that this could be strengthened 
by linking in with any green infrastructure (GI)/open space strategies so 
that planning obligations can help achieve GI objectives for the area. We 
would also like to see more of a focus on delivering enhancements to 
biodiversity by linking in with biodiversity action plans. 
We also welcome the inclusion on active transport infrastructure like cycle 
and foot paths and we would like to see this linked in with any appropriate 
transport plans that may highlight gaps and requirements in active 
transport infrastructure.” (NE Response 25.02.2015, Ref: 142398). 
The updated Planning Obligations SPD should ensure the above 
recommendation is taken forward as part of a revised version of the 
document. We do not wish to provide specific comments on the 
application of the SPD, but advise you to consider the following issues as 
part of the update: 
 
Green Infrastructure 
This SPD could consider making provision for Green Infrastructure (GI) 
within development. This should be in line with any GI strategy covering 
your area. 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that local planning 
authorities should plan ‘positively for the creation, protection, 
enhancement and management of networks of biodiversity and green 

A reference to green infrastructure has 
been added to the examples of how 
public realm contributions could be 
spent, in the reasoned justification to 
Policy OB10 (Public realm 
contributions). The approach to open 
space in Policy OB6 will also have 
substantial green infrastructure 
benefits. A new paragraph has been 
added to the chapter 3 (Approach to 
securing planning obligations) which 
explains that regard will be had to 
existing plans and strategies when 
spending financial contributions, with 
green infrastructure and greenspace 
strategies, biodiversity action plans 
and transport delivery plans included 
as examples. 
 
 
 
The structure and content of the SPD 
is determined in part by the saved 
UDP policies that it supplements. This 
is why the focus is on open space 
rather than green infrastructure more 
generally, but the SPD makes 
connections to green infrastructure 

P
age 139



32 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

infrastructure’. The Planning Practice Guidance on Green Infrastructure 
provides more detail on this. 
Urban green space provides multi-functional benefits. It contributes to 
coherent and resilient ecological networks, allowing species to move 
around within, and between, towns and the countryside with even small 
patches of habitat benefitting movement. Urban GI is also recognised as 
one of the most effective tools available to us in managing environmental 
risks such as flooding and heat waves. Greener neighbourhoods and 
improved access to nature can also improve public health and quality of 
life and reduce environmental inequalities. 
There may be significant opportunities to retrofit green infrastructure in 
urban environments. These can be realised through: 

 green roof systems and roof gardens; 

 green walls to provide insulation or shading and cooling; 

 new tree planting or altering the management of land (e.g. 
management of verges to enhance biodiversity). 

You could also consider issues relating to the protection of natural 
resources, including air quality, ground and surface water and soils within 
urban design plans. 
Further information on GI is include within The Town and Country 
Planning Association’s "Design Guide for Sustainable Communities" and 
their more recent "Good Practice Guidance for Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity". 
 
Biodiversity enhancement 
This SPD could consider incorporating features which are beneficial to 
wildlife within development, in line with paragraph 118 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. You may wish to consider providing guidance 
on, for example, the level of bat roost or bird box provision within the built 
structure, or other measures to enhance biodiversity in the urban 
environment. An example of good practice includes the Exeter Residential 

where appropriate such as in the 
reasoned justifications to policies OB6 
(Open space contributions) and OB10 
(Public realm contributions) as 
explained above. 
 
The SPD will be updated again once 
the Local Plan has been adopted, and 
this may provide an opportunity for 
more detail to be set out in relation to 
green infrastructure and biodiversity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Section 10 of the SPD provides 
examples of other types of site-
specific planning obligations that may 
be sought, one of which is: “Ecological 
mitigation or compensatory measures, 
where development would result in a 
negative impact on biodiversity and 
habitats”. 

P
age 140



33 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

Design Guide SPD, which advises (amongst other matters) a ratio of one 
nest/roost box per residential unit. 
 
Landscape enhancement 
The SPD may provide opportunities to enhance the character and local 
distinctiveness of the surrounding natural and built environment; use 
natural resources more sustainably; and bring benefits for the local 
community, for example through green infrastructure provision and 
access to and contact with nature. Landscape characterisation and 
townscape assessments, and associated sensitivity and capacity 
assessments provide tools for planners and developers to consider how 
new development might makes a positive contribution to the character 
and functions of the landscape through sensitive siting and good design 
and avoid unacceptable impacts. 
For example, it may be appropriate to seek that, where viable, trees 
should be of a species capable of growth to exceed building height and 
managed so to do, and where mature trees are retained on site, provision 
is made for succession planting so that new trees will be well established 
by the time mature trees die. 
 
Other design considerations 
The NPPF includes a number of design principles which could be 
considered, including the impacts of lighting on landscape and 
biodiversity (para 125). 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulations Assessment 
A SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment only in 
exceptional circumstances as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance 
here. While SPDs are unlikely to give rise to likely significant effects on 
European Sites, they should be considered as a plan under the Habitats 
Regulations in the same way as any other plan or project. If your SPD 
requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulation 

 
 
The city council has produced a 
separate SPD on ‘Trees and 
development’. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The city council has produced a 
separate SPD on design. 
 
 
 
The city council does not consider that 
the SPD requires a strategic 
environmental assessment or a habitat 
regulations assessment. 

P
age 141



34 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

Assessment, you are required to consult us at certain stages as set out in 
the Planning Practice Guidance. 

007 Network Rail The SPD states, “8.8 Contributions may be directed towards a range of 
projects, including for example: 
• Rail station improvements;” 
 
Consideration should be given in Transport Assessments to the potential 
for increased footfall at Railway Stations as a result of proposals for 
residential development / employment areas within the council area. 
Location of the proposal, accessibility and density of the development, trip 
generation data should be considered in relation to the station. Where 
proposals are likely to increase footfall and the need for car parking at 
Railway Stations, the council should include developer contributions 
(either via CIL, S106) to provide funding for enhancements as part of 
planning decisions. 

The city council’s validation checklist 
provides guidance on the 
requirements for transport 
assessments. 
 
Where the transport assessment 
identifies a possible impact on a 
railway station then the potential need 
for mitigation will have to be 
considered, but this must be balanced 
against the potential need for other 
planning obligations. 

008 Peel Holdings (Land and 
Property) Ltd 

Question 1: which aspects of the current SPD should be retained or 
amended? 
 
The need for flexibility in approach 
As a general comment, Peel supports the continued use of a dedicated 
SPD relating to planning obligations. This provides a consistent basis for 
determining some aspects of the infrastructure requirements of 
development and a sufficient degree of certainty as to the potential costs 
associated with these. Notwithstanding this, it is important that the 
Council’s approach to the agreement of planning obligations is flexible 
and able to respond to the context of each development proposal. For 
example, there may be opportunities to address the infrastructure 
requirements of developments in an alternative manner to that set out in 
the SPD to achieve more beneficial outcomes for the city and 
communities. A specific example is raised below in respect of public open 
space requirements. However, this principle applies to the other 
categories of planning obligation. All policies within the SPD should be 

 
 
 
The city council will always take into 
account any material considerations 
that suggest an alternative approach 
to the policies in the SPD may be 
more appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 142



35 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

clear that alternative approaches can be agreed with the Local Authority 
on a case-by-case basis. 
  
Calculating residential population 
For the purposes of calculating the resident population of housing 
developments, Policy OB2 of the current SPD uses a ‘per bed space’ 
approach. The number of bed spaces in a development is calculated as 
the number of bedrooms + 1. For example, a four bed house is assumed 
to contain five bed spaces and to therefore accommodate five persons. 
The assumed residential population of each dwelling, based on the above 
approach, is used to calculate the amount of public open space to be 
provided on site or off site via a financial contribution. The level of 
provision required is derived from a ‘per person’ standard. 
We consider that the ‘per bed space’ approach does not provide a 
realistic estimation of open space needs of development as it significantly 
overestimates the realistic residential population of individual housing 
developments. Based on the 2011 census, the average household size in 
Salford was 2.19 persons. [DC4405EW - Tenure by household size by 
number of bedrooms (ONS 2011)] The average number of people 
residing in different property sizes was reported as follows: 
• 1-bed = 1.25 persons 
• 2-bed = 1.82 persons 
• 3-bed = 2.51 persons 
• 4-bed = 3.18 persons 
• 5-bed = 3.64 persons 
To more accurately reflect the realistic population of a given residential 
development, the above figures should be used. As such, a ‘per property’ 
calculation, based on the above averages and having regard to the 
housing mix proposed, rather than a ‘per bed space’ contribution, should 
be used in the future for the purposes of calculating open space 
contributions. 

 
 
 
The SPD supplements saved UDP 
policy H8, which specifically states 
that financial contributions will be 
based on a standard cost per bed 
space. The SPD needs to be 
consistent with the development plan, 
and hence it is appropriate for it to use 
a per bed space approach. The overall 
value of the contribution set out in the 
SPD is not considered to overestimate 
the total impact of new development 
on open space needs, and indeed 
does not take into account parks. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 143



36 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

The approach set out in the current SPD places a significant burden on 
residential developments in requiring the provision of open space on site 
or via commuted sums which is disproportionate to the demand for such 
infrastructure arising from development. This arises from over estimating 
the residential population of individual developments based on the 
approach currently taken. This in turn presents a breach of Regulation 
122(2) (c) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 which 
confirms that planning obligations must be ‘fairly and reasonably related 
in scale and kind to the development.’ The current approach does not 
satisfy this test. 
 
Type of affordable housing 
Policy OB1 of the current SPD sets out the expected tenure mix of 
affordable housing provided as part of residential developments. This is 
partly informed by the latest Strategic Housing Market Assessment. 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the mix of affordable housing needs to 
respond effectively to local needs, it important that a flexible approach is 
also taken to reflect that local needs can change over time. It is therefore 
recommended that the revised SPD avoids an overly prescriptive 
approach with regards to this matter. It may set out an indicative mix but 
be clear that this can be determined on a case-by-case basis according to 
local needs and with advice and input from the preferred Registered 
Provider of Social Housing for the scheme. This ensures the policy is able 
to adapt to changing circumstances where needed to ensure the most 
appropriate mix of affordable housing is provided. 
 
 
 
 
 
Provision of Public Open Space - typologies 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The city council considers it important 
to set out the preferred tenure mix, as 
this will be important for developers in 
understanding the potential financial 
implications. The policy provides some 
flexibility for alternative tenure mixes, 
stating that: “A different affordable 
housing tenure mix may be acceptable 
where there is clear evidence this 
would help to better meet specifically 
identified local needs and address 
site-specific circumstances.” It then 
sets out the issues that will inform 
such decisions, and explains that any 
alternative tenure mix will be informed 
by discussions with registered 
providers where they are to manage 
the affordable housing. 
 
Policy OB6 (Open space 
contributions) provides considerable 

P
age 144



37 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

The current SPD sets out a highly prescriptive approach with respect to 
the typologies of open space which residential developments should seek 
to provide; this being youth and adult facilities, sports pitches, equipped 
children’s play space and amenity space. 
Some residential sites will offer the opportunity to provide a bespoke open 
space solution as part of a development proposal. For example, there 
may instances where there is an opportunity to deliver an enhancement 
to existing open space adjacent or near to a residential development site 
or where a site of significant size can deliver a bespoke on-site open 
space solution providing accessible open space (e.g. one of the Council’s 
defined park typologies). This may not sit neatly into any of the categories 
of open space covered in Policy OB2 of the current SPD but may provide 
at least the same or greater benefit in terms of access to open spaces 
and recreational opportunities. 
The SPD should recognise and allow for bespoke solutions to be agreed 
with the Local Authority as an alternative to the provision (on site or via off 
site commuted sums) of the typologies set out in Policy OB2. This 
approach was successfully used in respect of the development of land off 
High Clove Lane in Boothstown (outline planning permission reference 
15/67036/OUT). In this case a bespoke package of public open space 
proposals was agreed which will deliver significant local public open 
space benefits whilst meeting the needs of the development. The 
proposals put forward respond to opportunities presented by the site’s 
location adjacent to existing recreational assets (namely the Bridgewater 
Canal and the Bridgewater Nature Park). A tailored approached was also 
used in respect of the development of land at Burgess Farm, Hilton Lane 
(outline planning permission reference 10/58745/OUTEIA) where a new 
nature park, accessible to the wider community, was provided as part of 
the development. 
Other bespoke opportunities to deliver public open space benefits which 
go beyond meeting the standardised need of the development itself may 
exist in respect of future development sites. The SPD’s approach to the 

flexibility around the provision of open 
space. The policy supplements saved 
UDP policies H8 (Open space 
provision associated with new housing 
development) and R2 (Provision of 
recreation land and facilities), and so 
the starting point needs to be the open 
space standards set out in saved UDP 
Policy R2. However, the reasoned 
justification to Policy OB6 is clear that 
contributions may be spent on a range 
of open space facilities, with examples 
given that include natural greenspace 
as well as the facilities specifically 
mentioned in saved UDP Policy R2. 
 
A new paragraph has been added to 
section 3 (Approach to securing 
planning obligations) of the SPD, 
which explains that the city council will 
seek to maximise the wider benefits 
from planning obligations by having 
regard to other plans and strategies. 
An example of this would be the 
Salford Greenspace Strategy, which 
will be appropriate for influencing 
discussions about open space 
provision. This will help to ensure that 
the opportunities referred to in the 
representation are properly 
considered. 
 

P
age 145



38 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

provision of public open space should recognise this and should be 
supportive of this approach where such opportunities exist. This is 
particularly relevant in the context of proposals for the development of a 
number of large, phased sites through the emerging Salford Local Plan 
which will provide their own significant open space proposals as part of 
the masterplanning process. 
 
Approach to education contributions 
The current SPD sets out the requirement for financial contributions 
towards the provision of education (primary school) places as part of 
residential developments. At present, this assumes that a development 
will need to fund 100% of new primary school places for which a demand 
arises as a result of the development. No account is therefore taken of 
existing primary school capacity. 
Regulation 122(2) (a) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 
2010 states that a planning obligation should only be sought where it is 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. In 
instances where there is capacity within primary schools which can be 
reasonably expected to serve the residential population within a new 
development, this capacity should be taken into account in establishing 
the extent to which the development needs to fund the provision of new 
primary school places. Any revised SPD should include this provision to 
ensure the approach satisfies the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations. 
 
Question 2: are there problems with the implementation of the 
current SPD? 
 
Affordable housing mix 
Policy OB1 sets out the presumption that the affordable housing mix to be 
provided as part of a residential development should reflect the mix of the 
wider development. Whilst this may be helpful starting point, Peel 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
School place projections indicate that 
any existing primary school capacity 
will be taken up without any additional 
houses being provided beyond 
existing commitments. Hence it is 
appropriate for additional houses to 
make a proportionate contribution to 
the provision of new school places for 
which they will generate the demand. 
If this situation changes, and there is 
evidence that the education 
contributions are no longer necessary 
or should be reduced, then this will 
prompt a further review of the SPD. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy OB3 (Affordable housing) is 
considered to provide appropriate 
flexibility in this regard, enabling all 

P
age 146



39 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

considers that this can be problematic in instances where there is a need 
for certain types and sizes of properties, which may not reflect the mix of 
housing proposed as part of the wider development, and where 
Registered Providers therefore have a preference for these products. 
Indeed in some situations it may be that Registered Providers are unable 
to deliver a mix that reflects the size of units on site. For example, this 
may apply where a market housing scheme proposes to deliver 
predominantly larger family housing whereas the need for similar sized 
affordable accommodation, relative to the need for smaller affordable 
homes, may be very limited. In this regard, it should also be noted that 
due to recent changes in legislation, the demand for larger properties 
from Registered Providers and their ability to take on and manage larger 
properties has now decreased. 
Furthermore, given the very low levels of affordable housing secured 
within higher density apartment schemes and schemes within Central 
Salford, coupled with the likelihood of many schemes within higher value 
areas of West Salford (where affordable housing is more viable) being 
focused on 3 and 4+ bed family housing units, the prospect of a genuinely 
balanced mix of affordable housing being delivered by the portfolio of 
housing sites across Salford is low. The policy should therefore allow for 
the type of affordable units to be determined on a case-by-case basis 
having regard primarily to local evidence of need. 
 
Secondly, whilst the aspiration to pepper-pot affordable housing provision 
is supported, there are practical issues with restricting clustering to ten 
units each. For example, where a scheme delivers say 12 affordable 
units, this requires two separate clusters to be provided (e.g. 6 and 6). In 
our experience this level of pepper-potting is impractical for Registered 
Providers from a management and maintenance point of view. 
Conversely, where a scheme delivers a large number of affordable units, 
providing these in maximum clusters of ten may result in a large number 
of clusters across the site which is also impractical. In such instances, 

relevant evidence to be taken into 
account in determining the appropriate 
mix of affordable housing. It states 
that: “A different mix of types and 
sizes may be appropriate on an 
individual site where there is clear 
evidence that this would help to better 
meet specifically identified local needs 
and address site-specific 
circumstances.  The identification of 
any such need will be informed by 
discussions with the city council, and 
registered providers where they are to 
manage the affordable housing, and 
having regard to criteria A-G of this 
policy”. Criteria A-G specifically refer 
to choice based lettings data, and the 
characteristics of the households likely 
to be allocated to the affordable 
dwellings. 
 
 
 
The city council considers that pepper-
potting is an important principle. 
However, Policy OB3 (Affordable 
housing) explains that clusters larger 
than ten units may be appropriate 
where a high proportion of units are 
affordable and an identified Registered 
Provider considers that larger clusters 
are required to ensure the efficient and 

P
age 147



40 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

larger clusters should be supported which, given the overall size of the 
affordable housing aspect, will still result in an appropriate level of pepper 
potting without undermining the overall approach to achieving a mixed 
and inclusive development. The appropriate level of clustering should 
therefore be determined on a case-by-case basis. 
 
Question 3: are the current priorities in the SPD appropriate; that is, 
affordable housing, open space, primary school places, transport, 
and public realm? 
 
See comments under Question 1 above. 
 
Question 4: how can the transparency of the financial viability 
appraisal process for individual planning applications be maximised 
in order to maintain public confidence in the system? 
 
The Government has put forward suggested amendments to the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) in relation to this matter. These amendments 
are currently subject to consultation until 10th May. Peel is preparing 
representations to the consultation. 
Peel is not opposed to the principle of making some information about a 
scheme’s viability publically available where an appraisal is submitted to 
support a proposal for reduced planning obligations. However there will 
be instances where full viability appraisals contain commercially sensitive 
information and where it would be prejudicial to an applicant’s interests to 
make this sensitive information publically available. As such it would be 
appropriate to require a summary viability appraisal setting out the key 
findings and conclusions of this to be made publically available in respect 
of any individual planning applications where a reduction in the planning 
obligations against the policy requirement is proposed. The SPD could 
make provision for this. 
 

effective management of the 
affordable housing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The city council is committed to 
transparency in the planning 
application process, as this is 
considered important for retaining 
public confidence in the system. 
Consequently, and in accordance with 
the national Planning Practice 
Guidance, Policy OB2 (Reduced 
planning obligations) of the draft SPD 
states that: “Where a viability appraisal 
is submitted by an applicant in order to 
justify a reduced contribution, it will be 
published prior to the determination of 
the planning application unless there 
are exceptional circumstances.” 
 

P
age 148



41 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

Question 5: what are the potential implications of the government’s 
current consultations on: the draft revised national planning policy 
framework; draft planning practice guidance for viability; and 
supporting housing delivery through developer contributions? 
 
The SPD will need to be in full accordance with the revised NPPF, PPG 
and other relevant Government policy and guidance upon its publication. 
In this regard, Peel would wish to raise the following points. 
 
Definition of affordable housing 
Firstly there will be a need to ensure the definitions of affordable housing 
within the SPD are updated to reflect those in the revised NPPF – those 
being affordable housing for rent; starter homes; discounted market sales 
housing. Any policies relating to the provision of affordable housing and 
the typologies of affordable housing should reflect the range of types of 
affordable housing set out in emerging national planning policy. Any 
future assessment of affordable housing need should also consider these 
different typologies of affordable housing. 
 
Pooling restrictions 
Paragraph 102 of ‘Supporting housing delivery through developer 
contributions’ (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
March 2018) sets out the proposal that current pooling restrictions in 
relation to Section 106 contributions will be lifted in Local Authority areas 
where the average new build house price is within the lowest 10% of 
those in England. It is not clear how this will be determined at this stage. 
Whilst house prices are increasing in Salford at a faster rate than the 
national average, Salford may be a 10% Authority for the purposes of this 
provision. This does not materially affect the content of the SPD itself. 
However it may affect the content and scope of Section 106 Agreements 
insofar as they may or may not be required to be drafted so as to identify 

 
 
 
 
 
The SPD has been updated to reflect 
the latest national policy and 
guidance. 
 
 
The affordable housing sought through 
Policies OB3 (Affordable housing) and 
OB4 (Build to rent) reflects both NPPF 
definitions and evidence of need in 
Salford. This is consistent with 
paragraph 64 of the NPPF. 
 
 
 
 
In the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government 
document “Government response to 
supporting housing delivery through 
developer contributions: A summary of 
consultation responses and the 
Government’s view on the way 
forward” (October 2018), the 
Government stated its intention to lift 
the pooling restrictions. The draft SPD 
has been written on that basis. 
 

P
age 149



42 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

a specific beneficiary of the financial contribution to ensure the obligation 
does not fall foul of any pooling restriction. 
 
Provision of viability appraisals 
Lastly, the Draft PPG seeks to ensure that viability is frontloaded in the 
development plan process and considered as part of the formulation of 
Local Plans. Notwithstanding this, the Draft PPG supports the approach 
of permitting developers to submit viability evidence if policy compliant 
planning contributions cannot be viably provided. 

 
 
 
Policy OB2 (Reduced planning 
obligations) sets out the requirements 
for agreeing reduced planning 
obligations, which includes the 
submission of a viability appraisal. 

009 Sport England 1. Which aspects of the current SPD should be retained or 
amended? 

Sport England would like to see the outdoor sport and playing pitch 
element of open space separated out from the generic open space policy 
OB2. This is to recognise the distinct role and function outdoor sport and 
playing pitches have in the community. The supply and demand for 
outdoor sport is very different to other open typologies as shown in the 
Council’s current Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS). The demand for pitches 
and courts will be dependent on the type, size and accessibility of a pitch, 
the age of the players and format of the game being played. Different 
pitch types and sizes have different catchment areas. For instance adult 
rugby union often has a Borough wide catchment whereas the catchment 
for junior football is invariably at a neighbourhood level. 
The PPS is currently being refreshed with scenarios being included to 
assess the likely demand for each pitch sport type and size arising from 
housing growth. Sport England is assisting with this work and will help the 
Council devise a developer contributions process based on the 
information contained within the PPS. Sport England have been assisting 
other neighbouring Local Authorities develop similar processes. Please 
contact the undersigned for more details. 
Sport England agree that contributions should be directed towards 
specific projects, and for pitches that decision should be informed by an 
up to date PPS. 

The city council considers that the 
approach in the adopted SPD should 
be continued, as this provides an 
appropriate level of flexibility to 
respond to the open space issues 
relevant to each development. 
Separating outdoor sport and playing 
pitch elements into a new policy would 
reduce this flexibility. The city council 
has been successful at securing 
investment in sports pitches through 
the current approach, and does not 
consider that there is evidence that an 
alternative approach would deliver 
greater open space benefits overall. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 150



43 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

 
2. Are there any problems with the implementation of the current 

SPD? 
The use of standards to inform future demand for pitches and obtain 
developer contributions is not appropriate. Standards invariably result in 
single site pitches located in the middle of or adjacent to housing estates 
that are unsustainable and do not contribute effectively to the supply of 
pitches. These areas become informal kick about areas at best, and are 
often picked up as disused or lapsed sites in subsequent PPS and 
identified as informal open space in Open Space Audits. These sites are 
often in the wrong location and/or of the wrong pitch type to meet 
identified need in that area. 
It is noted the standards for all open space typologies contained in the 
current SPD are based on the NPFA’s Six Acre. This is not appropriate 
because the NPFA is a national benchmark and not a standard as such. If 
standards for other open space typologies are to be retained then it 
should be based on local data and local circumstances.  
As mentioned in point 1 Sport England is working with the Council to look 
at current unmet demand and estimate future demand for each pitch type 
arising from housing growth. A process can be developed using Sport 
England’s strategic planning tools as an alternative method to using 
standards.  
I have attached an Advice Note which sets out Sport England’s stance on 
standards and planning obligations for your information. 
 
3. Are the current priorities in the SPD appropriate; that is, 

affordable housing, open space, primary school places, 
transport, and public realm? 

Sport England agree with the priorities but like to see health included. 
Health will overlap with some of the other priorities such as open space 
used to promote physical activity and mental health but working with 
organisations such as Public Health England there could be specific 

 
The city council agrees that isolated 
single pitches are typically not 
appropriate. The combination of the 
Planning Obligations SPD and the 
Salford Greenspace Strategy SPD has 
been successful in directing 
investment in sports pitches to sites 
containing several pitches, enabling 
better management. A new version of 
the Greenspace Strategy SPD is 
about to be adopted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The contributions to affordable 
housing, open space, transport and 
public realm can all have significant 
health benefits, and regard to health 
will be had in their implementation. 
One of the development plan policies 
that the SPD specifically supplements 

P
age 151



44 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

projects related to that development that a developer contribution could 
help deliver. The draft NPPF also includes health as an example of a 
contribution at paragraph 34 and Section 8 relates to Promoting Healthy 
and Safe Communities. 
 
4. How can the transparency of the financial viability appraisal 

process for individual planning applications be maximised in 
order to maintain public confidence in the system? 

No comment 
 
5. What are the potential implications of the government’s current 

consultations on the draft revised national planning policy 
framework; draft planning practice guidance for viability; and 
supporting housing delivery through developer contributions? 

No comment. 

is saved UDP Policy EHC3 (Provision 
and improvement of health and 
community facilities). This highlights 
that there may be a need for 
contributions to health facilities, but it 
is not considered that a separate SPD 
policy is necessary as such 
contributions are unlikely to be 
required for most developments. 

010 Transport for Greater 
Manchester 

TfGM considers it is important that Salford City Council retain the 
"Transport" and "Public Realm" priorities within their approach to securing 
planning obligations. Congestion on the transport networks across 
Greater Manchester remains an issue and has recently been highlighted 
by the Mayor's Congestion Conversation and subsequent Congestion 
Deal. 
 
It remains important that all new development maximises its potential to 
encourage sustainable travel in order to prevent increasing levels of 
congestion acting as a barrier to the city's future growth. One method of 
helping to achieve this is through securing planning obligations towards 
necessary improvements to sustainable transport infrastructure or 
services, improvements to public realm can also serve to promote 
sustainable transport choices by encouraging walking and cycling and 
facilitating access to public transport. 
 

The transport and public realm 
sections have been retained. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 152



45 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

TfGM in partnership with the ten GM local authorities, are in the process 
of developing a GM wide Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP) which will build on Salford CC's recent Key Cycling Network 
Review and Infrastructure Recommendations. The LCW1P should allow 
future investment decisions in walking and cycling infrastructure to be 
informed by a coherent vision of how walking and cycling as modes of 
transport can contribute to the overall transport mix across GM. It will 
identify the walking and cycling networks and prioritise areas where 
improvements are required. In the future, planning obligations could be 
used to ensure where possible that all new development is linked to these 
networks and in some instances developer contributions could be used to 
help deliver identified improvements where the development will place 
additional demand on the network. 
 
Section 8.8 of the existing SPD lists examples of the range of transport 
infrastructure or services that contributions could be directed towards. It 
could also include equestrian provision in the form of Pegasus Crossings.  
The main issue with securing planning obligations for transport from 
development is that the transport impacts of a development and any 
necessary mitigation measures, are identified in the Transport 
Assessment accompanying the planning application. Unfortunately most 
Transport Assessments focus on the likely vehicle traffic that the 
development will generate and then assess the impact on the nearest 
junctions often leading them to conclude that the development will have 
no significant impact on the immediate highway network. However there 
is a wider, accumulative impact from development in the form of 
increased congestion over the wider highway network. If the Transport 
Assessment doesn't identify the need for mitigation, it is difficult to 
convince a developer that a planning obligation is necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms and directly related to the 
development. It is important that a revised SPD continues to recognise 

A new paragraph has been added to 
the chapter 3 (Approach to securing 
planning obligations) which explains 
that regard will be had to existing 
plans and strategies when spending 
financial contributions, with transport 
delivery plans included as an example. 
The Local Walking and Cycling 
Infrastructure Plan will also be relevant 
in this regard. 
 
 
 
 
Reference to equestrian routes and 
Pegasus crossings has been added to 
the list. 
 
The emphasis in the reasoned 
justification to Policy OB9 (Transport 
contributions) continues to be on 
sustainable travel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 153



46 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

the need for all new development to maximise its potential to encourage 
sustainable travel. 
 
Annex E of the existing document refers to developer guidance on 
provision of highway improvement works and associated fees and the 
following two paragraphs appear on page 62. TfGM would recommend 
that the closing paragraph (below in bold) is added to this section of the 
revised document.  
Traffic Signal Schemes — 5278 Agreements and Commuted Sums  
Following the creation of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(GMCA) on 1 April 2011 the ownership of all traffic signal assets in 
Greater Manchester transferred to GMCA. The maintenance and 
operational running costs are the responsibility of GMCA and this is 
funded by a central levy. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
Order statutorily delegates to the GMCA several key functions related to 
the installation, upgrading, maintenance and management of traffic 
signals on local highway authority roads. The Local Authority Protocols 
prescribe that Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) will undertake 
this work.  
Under the agreed Traffic Signals Protocols between the GMCA, TfGM, 
the TfGM Committee, and the Association of Greater Manchester 
Authorities (ALMA) Local Highway Authorities, the GMCA has the power 
to enter into agreements under 5278 of the Highways Act 1980 to obtain 
third party funding for the installation, maintenance and operating costs of 
signal controlled junctions and crossings.  
For works which will impact upon an existing traffic signal junction / 
crossing or where a new installation is proposed, developers will need to 
enter into a S278 Agreement with GMCA. Early discussion with Transport 
for Greater Manchester is therefore advised where there is an impact on 
existing traffic signal installations or traffic signal installations are planned 
as mitigation.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 154



47 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent where 
applicable) 

Representation Council response and implications 
for the draft SPD 

The amount of the commuted sum, (quoted on page 63) for the 15 year 
maintenance and running costs of the traffic signal installation, has not 
changed however this is subject to review.  
 
Government is currently consulting on "Supporting housing delivery 
through developer contributions" which includes proposals to lift the 
pooling restriction of Section 106 Agreements (currently limited to 5). 
Should this apply to Salford CC, this could significantly aid the funding of 
the infrastructure needed to support development on strategic sites. 

 
 
 
 
The draft SPD has been written on the 
assumption that the pooling 
restrictions will be lifted. 

 

P
age 155



48 
 

ANNEX D - List of stakeholders consulted at the draft stage of the review of 
the planning obligations SPD3 
 

Consultee 

110% Exhibitions 

5plusarchitects 

Abstract Securities 

Academy For Rabbinical Research 

Acremoss Designs 

Action Against Astley Road Development 

Aecom 

Aew 

Affinity Integrated Solutions Ltd 

Age Uk 

Ainscough Johnston Ltd 

Ainscough Stratgeic Land 

Allied London 

Alpha Omega Initiatives 

Amalgamated Ltd 

Ambulance Service North West Nhs Trust 

Amion 

Appliance World 

Ar Planning 

Architecturem Chartered Architects 

Arcon Housing Association 

Arcus Consultancy Services Lts 

Argent Group 

Armitage Residents Assoc. 

Armstrong Burton Planning 

Arqiva 

Artisan 

Arup 

Asda Stores Ltd 

Atelier Mb Architects 

Atkins Global 

Aylsham Mews Neighbours 

Aylward Town Planning 

Bangladesh Association 

Bardsley Construction 

Barnes Construction 

Barratt Homes Manchester 

Barton Moss Protest Group 

Barton Wilmore 

Bdp 

Bdw Trading Ltd 

Be Group 

Beaumont Morgan Developments Ltd 

Bellway Homes North West 

Benmore Group 

Bfls 

Bidwells 

Blackleach Country Park & Open Space Committee 

                                                           
3 A total of 503 individual stakeholders were consulted at the scoping stage were consulted at the scoping 
stage of the SPD review. It should however be noted that these numbers include multiple stakeholders within 
the same organisation. To avoid duplication, this table therefore lists each organisation / individual only once. 

Page 156



49 
 

Bloc 

Bloor Homes North West 

Blue Mantle 

Blue Sky Planning Ltd 

BME Forum 

BNP Paribas 

Bolton Council LDF Team 

Bolton MBC 

Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council 

Boothstown Residents Association 

Bowcliffe LLP 

Boys And Girls Clubs Greater Manchester 

Breem Centre 

Bridgewater Canal Company Ltd 

British Gas 

British Telecom 

British Toilet Association 

Broadway Malyan Planning 

Brookfinch Developments 

Brookhouse Community Association 

Brookhouse Group 

Bruntwood Estates 

BTCV 

Bullock Construction 

Burgess Farm Residents Group 

Bury MBC 

Business Consultative Forum 

C/O Refugee Community 

CA Planning 

Cable And Wireless 

Cadishead Sports Jfc 

Campaign For Real Ale 

Campaign For The Protection Of Rural England 

CAMRA And Friends Of Patricroft Station 

Canal And River Trust 

Canmoor 

Canning O'Neill 

Capital and Centric 

Carillion Igloo Limited 

Carrington Parish Council 

Carter Jones 

Casserly Property Management 

CBI - North West Office 

CBRE 

Centre For Local Economic Strategies 

Cerda Planning Ltd 

Chair Salford Allotment Federation 

Cheetham and Mortimer 

Chemipat Limited Trading as Adhesive and Coating Supplies 

Chesters Coaches 

Chris Thomas Ltd 

Christopher Dee 

Church Of England 

Church Of England Diocese Of Manchester 

City Airport Manchester 

City Centre Cruises 

City Heart 

City Of Salford Private Hire Association (CSPHA) 

Page 157



50 
 

City Of Trees 

City West Housing 

Civil Aviation Authority 

Claremont Community Association 

Clifton Hamlet 

Colliers International 

Colt Technology Services 

Contour Symphony Housing Group 

Cooperative Group Property Division 

Copthorne Hotel 

Council For British Archaeology 

Country Land And Business Association North 

Countryside Properties 

CPRE Lancashire Branch 

Crystal Vehicle Rental Services 

CSG Lanstar 

Culcheth And Glazebury Parish Council 

Cushman And Wakefield 

Cushwake 

Cussons Technology 

Dalton Warner Davis 

Dandara 

David L Walker 

David Wilson Homes 

Davies Harrison 

Davis Langdon Llp 

De Pol Associates Ltd 

De Traffords Resident Assoc. 

Defence Infrastructure Org 

Deloitte 

Department For Transport 

Deputy Director of Public Health 

Derwent Holdings 

Design Council 

Development Securities 

Director Of Public Health 

Directorate Of Airspace Policy 

DMS Architecture Ltd 

Dorribo T/A Regional Map Distributers 

DPDS 

Dpp One Ltd 

DTZ 

DTZ (Ask Real Estate) 

Dundedin Property 

Eccles And Salford Mosque 

Eddisons 

Edgeplan 

Education Skills Funding Agency 

Edward And Co 

EE Telecommunications 

EFM Ltd 

Ekosgen 

Elan Homes 

Electricity North West Ltd 

Ellesmere Park Residents Association 

Emery Planning 

English Cities Fund (Muse Developments) 

Entec Uk 

Page 158



51 
 

Environment Agency 

Euan Kellie Property Solutions 

Eversheds LLP 

Fairbridge - The Prince's Trust Programme 

Fairhurst 

Faithful And Gould 

Federation Of Jewish Services 

Ficm Ltd 

Fields In Trust 

First Plan 

Forest Sofa Ltd 

Forestry Commission NW 

Forviva 

Free Schools Capital 

Framptons 

Freight Transport Association Northern Region 

Friends Of Burgess Farm 

Friends Of Eccles Station 

Friends Of Roe Green 

Friends Of Walkden Station 

Friends, Families And Travellers And Traveller Law Reform Project 

Gamma Telecommunications 

Gerald Eve 

Gl Hearn 

Glenbrook Property 

GM Centre For Voluntary Organisations 

GM Fire And Rescue Services Hq 

GM Pedestrians Association 

GM Police Crime Prevention Team 

GM Police Force Hq 

GMCA 

Graham Bolton Planning 

Great Places Housing Group 

Greater Manchester Archaeological Advisory Service 

Greater Manchester Chamber Of Commerce 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority 

Greater Manchester Ecology Unit 

Greater Manchester Minerals And Waste Planning Unit 

Greater Manchester Police 

Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority 

Greenoaks Ltd 

Groundwork Manchester Salford Trafford 

Gva Grimley 

Hamilton Davies Trust 

Harland Machine Systems Ltd 

Harworth Estates 

Health And Safety Executive NW 

Healthy Waterways Trust 

Heaton Planning Ltd 

Higher Crumpsall and Broughton Hebrew Congregation 

Highway Authority 

Highways England 

Hill Street Residents Association 

Hill Top Residents Association 

Himor Group 

Historic England 

HMP & YOI Forest Bank 

Hollins Strategic Land 

Page 159



52 
 

Home Builders Federation 

Home Start Salford And Trafford 

Homes And Communities Agency 

Homes England 

Hourigan Connolly 

How Planning 

Hr Wallingford 

Hutchinson Network Services 

Iceni Projects 

Igloo 

Ignite Homes Ltd 

Iliad Group 

Indigo Planning 

Inpartnership 

Institute of Directors North West 

Irlam and Cadishead Branch Labour Party 

Irlam and Cadishead College 

Irlam Football Club 

Irlam Medical Centre 

Irlam Vale Junior Football Club 

Irwell Valley HA 

Irwell Valley Heritage 

J And R Allen (Culcheth) Ltd 

J. Fletcher (Engineers) Ltd 

Jasp Planning Consutancy Ltd 

Jewish Representative Council Of Manchester 

Jmp Consulting 

Jones Lang Lasalle 

JWPC Ltd 

Keepmoat 

Keppie Massie 

Kier Limited 

Kingsland Wines And Spirits 

Kirkwells 

Knight Frank 

Labour Spokesperson For Walkden South 

Lambert Smith Hampton 

Lancashire  Wildlife Trust 

Lancashire Aero Club 

Lancashire Gardens Trust 

Lancs Circuit Of Jehovah's Witnesses 

Lanes Landscapes(Holdings)Ltd 

Langtree Group 

Lee Metal Polishing Services 

LGBT 

LGBT Foundation 

Lichfields 

Lidl UK Properties 

Local Enterprise Partnership 

Local Nature Partnership 

Love Brothers Ltd 

Lovell Partnerships Ltd 

LPC Living 

Lvmh Uk Ltd 

M And G (Formally Prupim) 

Mace Group 

Maghull Developments 

Magnesium Elektron 

Page 160



53 
 

Mainair Flying School 

Makro (Booker Group Plc) 

Manchester Airport Group 

Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal 

Manchester City Council 

Manchester Civic Society 

Manchester Doors & Cubicals 

Manchester Friends Of The Earth 

Manchester Salford Housing Market Pathfinder 

Manchester, Bolton And Bury Canal Society 

Maple Grove Developments 

Marine Management Organisation 

Marrons Planning 

Marshalls Natural Stone 

Martin Leay Associates 

Matthews and Goodman Property Advisors 

Mawdsley Brooks and Co 

Mcaleer And Rushe Group 

Mcr Property 

Mel Chemicals (Part Of Luxfer Group) 

Miller Homes 

Minerals And Waste Planning Unit 

Mister Blister Ltd 

MOD 

Monton Village Community Association 

Morgan Sindall 

Morris Homes (North) Ltd 

Morris Homes Ltd 

Mosaic Consulting 

Mosaic Planning 

Mosaic Town Planning 

Moss Farm Fisheries 

MVA Ltd 

N M Rothschild And Sons Ltd 

Nathaniel Lichfield And Partners 

National Federation Of Gypsy Liasion Groups 

Natural England 

Neptune Developments 

Network Rail (Infrastructure) Ltd 

Nexus Planning 

NFU 

NHR Group 

NHS England (NHS Commissioning Board) 

NHS Property Services Ltd 

Nikal 

Nimans Ltd 

Njl Consulting 

NLP And Partners 

North Walkden Football Club 

Northbank Management Company 

Norton Villiers Ltd 

Novotel  Hotel 

Npower Renewables 

NW Strategic Health Authority 

Off The Rails Ltd 

Office For Graham Stringer MP 

Office For Rebecca Long Bailey MP 

Office For The Police And Crime Commissioner For Greater Manchester 

Page 161



54 
 

Office Of Barbara Keeley MP 

Office Of Rail And Road 

Older Peoples Partnership Board 

Oldham MBC 

Omi Architects 

Omi Architects 

Open Spaces Society 

Orange Personal Communications Services Ltd 

Orbit Developments Emerson 

Ordsall Health Surgery PPG 

Partington Town Council 

Paul Butler Associates 

Peacock And Smith 

Pearson Planning (The Scotts Company Uk) 

Peel Group 

Peel Holdings Ltd 

Peel Investments Ltd 

Peel Ports Ltd 

Pegasus Planning Group Ltd 

People First Manchester 

Persimmon Homes NW 

Peterloo Estates 

Plainview Planning Ltd 

Plan 8 

Plan Info (Part Of Dpds Group) 

Planning For Our Future In Irlam And Cadishead 

Planning Potential 

Planware Ltd 

Pochins Ltd 

Pozzoni 

Praxis 

Prds 

Property Alliance Group 

Quod Planning 

Rail Freight Group 

Ramblers Association 

Ramblers' Association Greater Manchester 

Rapar 

Rapleys Llp 

Rapleys Llp 

Realty Estates 

Red Property Services 

Red Rose Forest 

Redrow Homes 

Redrow Homes (North West) Ltd. 

Regeneris 

Renaker Build 

Renewable Uk 

Rg+P Ltd 

Rice Training 

Riverside Island Tenants Assoc 

Rixton With Glazebrook Parish Council 

Road Haulage Association North 

Rochdale MBC 

Roe Green Cricket Club 

Roger Hannah And Co. 

Rowland Homes 

Royal Horticultural Society 

Page 162



55 
 

RSPB 

Rybram Ltd 

Safeguarding 

Safety Systems UK Ltd 

Salford Allotments 

Salford Citizens Advice Bureau 

Salford City College 

Salford City Partnership 

Salford City Reds 

Salford College 

Salford Community Leisure 

Salford Conservative Group/Raid 

Salford Council For Voluntary Service 

Salford Crecent Neighbourhood Association 

Salford CVS 

Salford Deaf Gathering 

Salford Disability Forum 

Salford Disabled Motorists Ass. 

Salford Elim Church 

Salford Equality Network 

Salford Forum Of Older People 

Salford Lids 

Salford Link Project 

Salford NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

Salford School Health Service 

Salford Weight Management Service 

Salford Youth Service 

Salix Homes 

Salix Homes 

Salvation Army 

Sanderson Weatherall 

Savills 

Scarborough Group 

Seddon Group Ltd 

Seddons 

Sedgwick Associates 

Seedley And Langworthy Partnership Trust 

Seybourne 

Shed Km 

Shelter (London) 

Showmans Guild Of Great Britain 

Sigma Capital Group 

Signet Planning 

Skills Funding Agency 

Slr Consulting Ltd 

Sovereign Nominees Ltd 

Spangpar Ltd 

Spinoza Kennedy Vesey 

Sport England 

Sprint Motors 

SSA Planning Ltd 

St Modwen 

St Modwen Developments 

St Teresa Of Avila 

Stainton Planning 

Stama Development Ltd 

Steven Abbott Associates LLP 

Stewart Ross Associates 

Page 163



56 
 

Stockport Council 

Storeys Edward Symonds 

Story Homes Ltd 

Stratus Environmental Ltd 

Swinton Judo Club 

Swinton Open Space Community Association 

Symphony Housing Group 

Talk Talk (Carphone Warehouse) 

Tameside MBC 

Tarmac 

Tarmac Limited 

Tatton Estate Management 

Taxi Owners And Drivers Association 

Taylor Wimpey Strategic Land 

Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd 

Telewest Broadband (Northern Office) 

Tem Property Group 

Tesco 

Tetlow King Planning 

The Advent Centre 

The Business Group Salford 

The Coal Authority 

The Cooperative Group Ltd 

The Emerson Group 

The Gardens Trust 

The Lawn Tennis Association 

The Planning Bureau Ltd 

The Scotts Company Uk Ltd 

The Spab 

The Stables 

The Theatres Trust 

The Twentieth Century Society 

The Tyler Parkes Partnership 

The Wildlife Trust 

The Woodland Trust 

Thomas Eggar Llp 

Thorn Court Residents Association 

Three Telecommunications 

Thus 

Tim Claxton Property Ltd 

Tindall St Allotment Group 

Together Housing 

Trafford MBC 

Transport For Greater Manchester Committee 

TSG 

Turley 

Turner And Townsend 

Tyler Parkes Parnership 

UK Coal Head Office 

UK Land And Property 

United Utilities 

United Utilities Plc 

United Utilities Property Services 

United Utilities Property Solutions Ltd 

University Of Salford 

Urban Splash 

URS Global 

Utilities Connections Management Ltd 

Page 164



57 
 

Vanguard Self Storage 

Ventures 

Vernon And Co 

Vincent And Gorbing 

Virgin Media 

Viridor 

Vision Developments 

Vita Ventures 

Vodafone And O2 

W H Mawdsley Ltd 

Wainhomes 

Walton And Co 

Warburton Parish Council 

Ward Headway 

Wardley Residents Group 

Warrington Borough Council 

Wates Living Space 

West Properties Uk Ltd 

Westhoughton Town Council 

Westleigh Developments Ltd 

White Young Green 

Whitehead And Company 

Wigan Council 

Winwick Parish Council 

Wood Plc On Behalf Of National Grid 

Woodstock Farm 

Woolston Parish Council 

Worldcom International Ltd 

Worsley And Swinton Resident Association 

Worsley Civic Trust And Amenity Society 

Worsley Village Community Association 

Wrightington Parish Council 

WSP 

X1 

Your Housing Group 

Zerum Consultants 

 S Hodges 

A and A Fickling 

A and D Barnett 

A and G Boxer 

A and J Carruthers 

A and J Legerton 

A and J Norcross 

A and M Musgrave 

A and P Clayson 

A and P Lewin 

A and P Reader 

A Bloor 

A C Ford 

A Ellis 

A Luscombe 

A M Forbes 

A Neilson 

A Parncutt 

A Perkins 

A Rimmer and I Duffin 

A Solan 

A, C And L Jones 

Page 165



58 
 

A, G And A Williams 

Abigail Quigley 

Adele Walton 

Adrian J Wilkinson 

Adrian Morley 

Adrian O Sullivan 

Adrian Richards 

Adrienne Sloan 

Ae Sullivan 

Agnes Rice 

Alan And Lynn Hindley 

Alan Bannon 

Alan Cavanagh 

Alan Gorton 

Alan Hesford 

Alan Perryman 

Alan Ratcliffe 

Alan S Bibby 

Alastair Wilson 

Aled Owen 

Alex Jackson 

Alex Moore 

Alison And David Bennett 

Alison Blackburn 

Alison Booth 

Alison Wallworth 

Alma Moore 

Alwin Piets 

Amanda And Stephen Lovell 

Amanda Ashworth 

Amanda Brelsford 

Amanda Chadwick 

Amanda Rigby 

Amanda Williamson 

Amber Bryden 

Amy Challender 

Andrew Fearnley 

Andrew Field 

Andrew Green 

Andrew Ingham 

Andrew Jones 

Andrew Malone 

Andrew Moore 

Andrew Nelson 

Andy Halligan 

Andy Mcmullan 

Angela Davies 

Angela Eccles 

Angela Hawkes 

Angela West 

Ann Luckman 

Anne Broadbent 

Anne Clark 

Anne Crichton 

Anne Crompton 

Anne France 

Anne Grant 

Anne Grennan 

Page 166



59 
 

Anne Hepburn 

Anne Jones 

Anne Marie Gardener 

Anne Marie Grayson 

Anne Martins 

Annette Richardson 

Anonymous 

Anonymous 

Anthony Carlin 

As Foster 

At And S Robinson 

B And A Fletcher 

B And B Sutherland 

B And E Moult 

B And J Ravenscroft 

B And Rk Jones 

B Hamer 

B Hewitt 

B J Powell 

B Kershaw 

B Sullivan 

B Walker 

B Warrell 

B Wetherall 

Ba, Cj, La Blackburn 

Bailey Family 

Barrie And Dorothy  Jones 

Barry Watts 

Barry Woodling 

Bb Clegg 

Beccy Irving 

Becky Irving 

Ben Heravi 

Ben Jones 

Ben Pascall 

Benjamin Cardwell 

Bernadette Hewitt 

Beryl Bloor 

Beryl Carroll 

Beryl Hughes 

Beryl Patten 

Bethan Pickup 

Bettina Ellis 

Betty Hibbert 

Beverley Lowndes 

Beverley Royle 

Bhavin Patel 

Brenda Drinkwater 

Brenda Mcgovern 

Brenda Mort 

Brenda Stanley 

Brian Holden 

Brian Mccarthy 

Bridget Williams 

Bruce Kinloch 

Bryan Trevor 

C A Smith 

C And K Ogden 

Page 167



60 
 

C And R Bentley 

C And R Sherlock 

C And R Yeo 

C Annette Walsh 

C Bradley And L Hall 

C Brett Rowles 

C Cowx 

C Gleeson 

C Hemmins 

C Moreton 

C Taylor 

C W Williamson 

C Willis 

C Wright 

C,P,E And G Burke 

Calum Gray 

Carla Pasiero 

Carol A Smith 

Carol Boyce 

Carol Evans 

Carol Ward 

Carole A Wood 

Carole Bridge 

Carole Edwards-Viller 

Carole Moore 

Carole Woodward 

Caroline Devlin 

Caroline Gale 

Caroline Lightfoot 

Carolyn And Jack  Evans 

Cath Mcnicoll 

Cath Traynor 

Cath Walton 

Catharine Cooper 

Cathryn Smith 

Cathryn Smith 

Cathy Lascelles Higgins 

Charlie Woods 

Charlotte Hickson 

Cheryl Griffiths 

Chris  Williams 

Chris And Pat Seddon 

Chris Brown 

Chris Dickerson 

Chris Legerton 

Chris Muldoon 

Chris Richardson 

Chris Southern 

Christine Bold 

Christine Bradford 

Christine Cooper 

Christine Hamer 

Christine Hudson 

Christine Kemp 

Christine Lampard 

Christine Lomns 

Christine Marshall 

Christine Moss 

Page 168



61 
 

Christine Pugh 

Christine Richardson 

Christine Smith 

Christine Watson 

Christopher Gray 

Christopher Murray 

Claire Davies 

Claire Dean 

Claire Moore 

Claire Whalley Livesey 

Claire White 

Clare Atherton 

Clare Edwards 

Clare Platt 

Clive And Janet Roberts 

Cllr Laurence Keeley 

Cm And Rc Stephenson 

Cm Patel 

Colin Ainscough 

Colin And J Talbot 

Colin And Sybil Ackers 

Colin Dixon 

Colin Long 

Colin Lowndes 

Colin Welsby 

Colin Williams 

Colin Wood 

Corrine Batty 

Councillor Les Turner 

Councillor R Critchley 

Craig Stapley 

D And B Marsh 

D And C Heaton 

D And D Collins 

D And J Williams 

D And M Mccormick 

D And S Farrell 

D And V Greenhalgh 

D B And W Marshall 

D Hutchings 

D Lund 

D Mann 

Da And Nj Grimshaw 

Dale Robinson 

Daniel Hill 

Daniel Hodson 

Darrell Warner 

Darren Poole 

Darryl Wells Matthews 

Dave And Jackie Filer 

Dave Legerton 

Dave Thacker 

David A Sugden 

David And Jane Smith 

David And Joanne Done 

David Andkatherine Norris 

David Ashton 

David Battersby 

Page 169



62 
 

David Cooper 

David Cooper 

David Fox 

David Gape 

David Grant 

David Greaves 

David Horsfall 

David Isherwood 

David Jones 

David Leaver 

David Lees 

David Matthews 

David Mattison 

David Naylor 

David Selby 

David Sommerville 

David Steel 

David Wrennall 

Davinya Scott 

Dawn Mitchell 

Dean Pyke 

Debbie Dove 

Debbie Fletcher 

Deborah Guite 

Deborah Harvey 

Deborah Sleaford 

Deborah Swift 

Debra Adderley 

Debra Eames 

Delyse Gregory 

Denis Mclaughlin 

Denis Robbins 

Denise Cooper 

Denise Fox 

Denise Walsh 

Dennis Reynolds 

Derek Brooks 

Derek Butterworth 

Derek Matthews 

Derek Nuttall 

Diana Battersby 

Diane Butters 

Diane Hickford 

Diane Reed 

Diane Walker 

Dl Cookson 

Doig Ray 

Donna Phillips 

Donna Short 

Doreen Mahony 

Doreen Pye 

Dorothy Lennard 

Dorothy Smith 

Dr And Mrs D Grennan 

Dr And Mrs K Hyams 

Dr Bhavna 

Dr Frank Howell 

Dr Hoon Teo 

Page 170



63 
 

Dr Krister Fell 

Dr M Seely 

Dr Martin Hogg 

Dr Nandu Modi 

Dr Pandya 

Dr Paul Connolly 

Dr Philip Barooah 

Dr S And A Dhayaude 

Dr Sadia Jilani 

Dr Steve Fraser 

Dr Tl, Mr A And Tw Banks 

Duncan Chester 

E Joran 

E M Allsey 

E Roberts 

Ea And M Mclean 

Eddie Barnett 

Eddie Sheehy 

Edward Lowe 

Edyta Lipska 

Elaine Carter 

Elaine Mcholland 

Elaine Seddon 

Eleanor Attenborough 

Eleanor Hill 

Elizabeth Elton 

Elizabeth Griffin 

Elizabeth James 

Elizabeth Malin 

Elizabeth Planella 

Ellen M Blocksidge 

Ellie Lomas 

Ellie Shaw 

Elsie Hardman 

Em Blackridge 

Eman Altwairesh 

Emer Sheridan 

Emma Farrelly 

Enid Fisher 

Eric Lowndes 

Eunice Morris 

Eve And Amy Goodwin 

F And G Mackenzie 

F And J Oliver 

Fchh Barton 

Fiona Flanagan 

Foyzul Gani 

Fran Heslin 

Frank And Iris Greaves 

Frank Drabble 

Frank Marshall 

Frank Royle 

Fred And Judith Eyre 

Frederic O Gorman 

G And A Walkden 

G And B Morrison 

G And Dk Williams 

G And J Pelling 

Page 171



64 
 

G And S  Adamson 

G Faragher 

G Irwin 

G Jatwell 

G L Hill 

G M Summers 

G Ridgway 

G Tyrrell 

Gail Doherty 

Gary And Janet Mcmahon 

Gary Gardner 

Gary Hindle 

Gary James 

Gary Mckenzie 

Gary Mcmahon 

Gavin Peddie 

Gavin Wickham 

Gavin Wickham And F Steel 

Gayle Clipsham 

Ged Connor 

Gemma Ryan 

Genna Oliver 

Geoff Hamilton 

Geoff Laughton 

Geoffrey Collins 

George A C Howard 

George Bryan 

Georgina Cooper 

Georgina Cotton 

Gill Fahy 

Gillian Millett 

Gillian Ruleman 

Gillian Williamson 

Gillian Wright 

Glen Cogswell 

Glenys Williams 

Glyn And Jean Thomas 

Glyn Grainger 

Gordon Shepley 

Grace Choi 

Graham Smith 

Greta Barwise 

Guy Barnett 

Gwyneth Cooke 

Gwyneth Cooke 

H And M Legerton 

H And S Cotterill 

H L Watson 

H Sullivan 

Hall P And A 

Hamish Robertshaw 

Hani El-Qasem 

Hannah Mclaughin 

Harry Jones 

Harry Ralphs 

Hayley Cubley 

Heather Medlicott 

Heather Thorpe 

Page 172



65 
 

Helen Bertenshaw 

Helen Crowley 

Helen Hubbard 

Helen Lowe 

Helen Pendlebury 

Helen Pimlott 

Helen Sharples 

Helen Simpson 

Helena Graham 

Hessel F De Boer 

Hilda Johnson 

Huw Buckley 

I And E Heaton 

I And E Hill 

I And I Bailey 

I And J Ashton 

I And S Sidebotham 

I Yardley 

Ian Allen 

Ian And Christine Davies 

Ian And Debra Lingard 

Ian And Lynn Taylor 

Ian Furness 

Ian Hill 

Ian Hubbard 

Ian P Heffernan 

Ian Whitehouse 

Imelda Pitteway 

Irene Blay 

Irene Brice 

Irene Bridgford 

Irene Halliwell 

Irene Rowlinson 

Isla Gray 

J  And Mc Bradford 

J A Bainbridge 

J A Shaw 

J Absolom And Lb Wynne 

J and A Parncutt 

J and B Thompson 

J and H Ness 

J and J Austin 

J and J Roberts 

J and J Shaw 

J and L Hickson 

J and M Drew 

J and M White 

J and P Forquher 

J and P Shaw 

J and S Busby 

J and S Sargeson 

J Berry 

J Binns 

J Bracken 

J Davies 

J Fletcher 

J Hodges 

J K Hodgkiss 

Page 173



66 
 

J L Armitage 

J L Hodgson 

J Lloyd 

J M Leach 

J M Norcross 

J Mann 

J Marshall 

J Marshall 

J N Burke 

J Perryman 

J Phelan 

J R Cartwright 

J Wood 

J, N, J And J Hughes 

J, T, A And C Stiff 

Jack Carter 

Jack Lemmon 

Jackie Anderson 

Jackie Anderson 

Jacqueline Bewsher 

Jacqueline Mason 

Jade Creed 

Jaden 

James Austin 

James Ferguson 

James Hilton 

James Lester 

James Ness 

James Walsh 

James Young 

Jamie Bentham 

Jamie Mcwhir 

Jan Hart 

Jane Barry 

Jane Booth 

Jane Carney 

Jane Eberhart 

Jane Mcnulty 

Jane Thurston 

Jane Unwin 

Janet Draper 

Janet Hesford 

Janet Lewis 

Janet Mann 

Janet Nugent 

Janine Mchugh 

Jannine Mcmahon 

Jason Horsfall 

Jason Horsfall 

Jason Wilson 

Jason Woodward 

Jean And Ted Smith 

Jean Barnes 

Jean Carter 

Jean Croden 

Jean Grainger 

Jean Mangan 

Jean Robinson 

Page 174



67 
 

Jean Thomas 

Jean Whalley 

Jeanette Williams 

Jeff Holt 

Jennifer Reynolds 

Jennifer Waring 

Jf And Bp Burns 

Jim G Ness 

Joan And Diana Wroe 

Joan Massey 

Joan Mccann 

Joanne Egan 

Joanne Harding 

Joanne Zima 

Jodie Booth 

John And Aileen Cumbers 

John And Janet Pearson 

John And Lisa Warton 

John And Nicola Walton 

John Bohan 

John Colgan 

John Cottom 

John D Cleare 

John Docker 

John Gould 

John Hudson 

John J 

John Jordan 

John Marginson 

John Philip Wood 

John R Long 

John Roy 

John Snow 

John Stephens 

Jon Bell 

Jonathan Bell 

Jonathan Drew 

Jonathan Shasha 

Jonathan Wright 

Jose Assuncao 

Joseph And Nuala Rabbitt 

Joshua Galliano 

Josie Sevier 

Joyce Breadney 

Joyce Lightfoot 

Js And C Wright 

Jt And A Blore 

Judith Allsey 

Judith Barnes 

Judith King 

Judith Rose 

Judith Watts 

Judy Kent 

Julhas M Ahmed 

Julia Horner 

Julie Forrester 

Julie Hill 

Julie Lynch 

Page 175



68 
 

Julie Niland 

Julie Smith 

Julie White 

Juliet Young 

Justine Mcguinn 

K Allsey 

K And M Sharples 

K B Hoyle 

K Berry 

K Davis 

K Fitton D Walsh 

K J Hunt 

K Lowndes 

Karen Fisher 

Karen Jackson 

Karen Oldham 

Karen Taylor 

Kate Fowles 

Kath  Rigby 

Katherine Hesford-Preston 

Katherine Kershaw 

Kathleen Morris 

Kathryn Richardson 

Kayus Fernander 

Keith And Janet Davies 

Keith And June  Hunt 

Keith Luckman 

Kelly Mcfarlane 

Kenneth Edge 

Kerry Sommerville 

Kevin Crabtree 

Kieran Hedges 

Kristina Chapman 

L A Richards 

L And B Smith 

L And G Matthews 

L And G Wiszniewski 

L And P Griffin 

L Holmes 

L Murfin And L Black 

L Roberts 

Larry Merryweather 

Laura Cunliffe 

Laura Hawkins 

Laura Rawlinson 

Laura Slatcher 

Laura Summers 

Lauren Leigh Preston 

Lauren Thompson 

Laurie Cunliffe 

Lee Parkinson 

Les Green 

Leslie Turner 

Lewis Nelson 

Lilian Lo 

Lilla Berry And A Smith 

Linda And James Mull 

Linda Hilditch 

Page 176



69 
 

Linda Jones 

Linda Marsh 

Linda Meehan 

Linda Mitchell 

Linda Sidwell 

Lindsay Dalziel 

Lindsay Hall 

Lindsay Marsden 

Lisa Carruthers 

Lisa D Quigley 

Lisa Rooney 

Lisa Van Damms 

Liz Wallwork 

Lm Bruce 

Lm Critchley 

Lorna Hinsley 

Lorraine Allsey 

Lorraine Bradley 

Louise Adkin 

Louise Armstrong 

Louise Cowmeadow 

Louise Davies 

Lucia Williams 

Lucy Ainsworth 

Lucy Crabtree 

Luke Wareham 

Lynda Waring 

Lynn Beddows 

Lynn Keegan 

Lynsey Shaw 

M And J Heathcote 

M And S Dennison 

M Brimblecombe 

M Creer 

M Glover 

M J Rutter 

M J Shaw 

M Laffan 

M Lambert 

M Lawrinson 

M Mcwhirk 

M Mellor 

M Parker 

M Rigg And P Lewis 

M Sirett 

M Warburton 

M Woodcock 

M, L And A  Ruddy 

Margaret Bentham 

Margaret Duffy 

Margaret Hannah 

Margaret Lohan 

Margaret O'reilly 

Margaret Waddecar 

Maria Ashton 

Maria Smith 

Maria Stones 

Marie Levy 

Page 177



70 
 

Marion Gray 

Marion Wood 

Mark Ackerley 

Mark Charnock 

Mark Edwards 

Mark Elliott 

Mark Gardner 

Mark Hallen 

Mark Halliwell 

Mark Jones 

Mark Powell 

Mark Walsh 

Martin  And Barry Horner 

Martin Anglesey 

Martin Barlow 

Martin Critchley 

Martin Farrell 

Martin Garratt 

Martin Hudson 

Martin Sealy 

Mary Logan 

Matt Lord 

Matthew Morrison 

Maureen Noble 

Mavis Roberts 

Max Coyle 

Maxine Hepburn 

Mc Hazeldine 

Michael Dawson 

Michael Keegan 

Michael Quigley 

Michael Weston 

Michelle Grice 

Michelle Jenkins 

Mick Gorton 

Mike And Nicola Hazeldine 

Mike Eden 

Mike Lewis 

Mildred Peterson 

Miss A Gale 

Miss Anne Hector 

Miss Annette Lloyd 

Miss C Talbot 

Miss Claire Makin 

Miss Cv Stott 

Miss E Lyon 

Miss Keryn Green 

Miss M Hayes 

Miss Sarah Walton 

Miss Susan Parker 

Miss Susannah Kwok 

Miss Sylvia Hartley 

Moira Boyce 

Moira Farrelly 

Molly Leonard 

Molly Leonard 

Monica Yakiah 

Mr  D Farnworth 

Page 178



71 
 

Mr A G Cheetham 

Mr A Hindley 

Mr A Kelly 

Mr A Rowley 

Mr A Shaw 

Mr A Tonge 

Mr Ad And Mrs M Smethurst 

Mr Alan Woods 

Mr and Mrs A Attwell 

Mr and Mrs A Lawman 

Mr and Mrs A Steven 

Mr and Mrs Ahamed 

Mr and Mrs Ashley 

Mr and Mrs B Faulkner 

Mr and Mrs Bailey 

Mr and Mrs Balham 

Mr and Mrs Belshaw 

Mr and Mrs Binns 

Mr and Mrs Bradford 

Mr and Mrs Breward 

Mr and Mrs Chetcuti 

Mr and Mrs Derbyshire 

Mr and Mrs Dw Marshall 

Mr and Mrs Dw Minshall 

Mr and Mrs Dw Murphy 

Mr and Mrs E Turner 

Mr and Mrs Edkins 

Mr and Mrs Farley 

Mr and Mrs Fletcher 

Mr and Mrs Furse 

Mr and Mrs G Clay 

Mr and Mrs G Ogden 

Mr and Mrs Hall 

Mr and Mrs Hamer 

Mr and Mrs Hayes 

Mr and Mrs Haynes 

Mr and Mrs Heywood 

Mr and Mrs Holer 

Mr and Mrs Hopkins 

Mr And Mrs Howells 

Mr And Mrs I Bailey 

Mr And Mrs J Buckley 

Mr And Mrs J Foster 

Mr And Mrs J Heap 

Mr And Mrs J Lambley 

Mr And Mrs J West 

Mr And Mrs James 

Mr And Mrs K Patel 

Mr And Mrs Kemp 

Mr And Mrs Lally 

Mr And Mrs Leigh 

Mr And Mrs Leisuman 

Mr And Mrs Lever 

Mr And Mrs M Fitzsimmons 

Mr And Mrs M Robinson 

Mr And Mrs Pm Sharpe 

Mr And Mrs R Fowles 

Mr And Mrs R Franklin 

Page 179



72 
 

Mr And Mrs R Linford 

Mr And Mrs Roberts 

Mr And Mrs Schofield 

Mr And Mrs Smith 

Mr And Mrs Stott, 

Mr And Mrs Stringer 

Mr And Mrs Watson 

Mr And Mrs Watts 

Mr And Mrs Wilkins 

Mr And Mrs Yarwood 

Mr And Se Andrews 

Mr Andrew Aherne 

Mr Andy Brunt 

Mr Anthony Counsell 

Mr Ap Moore 

Mr Asim Rajpura 

Mr B Jones 

Mr B Kilner 

Mr C Knight 

Mr Chaplin 

Mr D Fidler 

Mr D J Corns 

Mr D Naylor 

Mr D Potts 

Mr D Yates 

Mr Dave Bartlett 

Mr Dave Turner 

Mr Dj Banks 

Mr E A Cavanagh 

Mr E R Jenkins 

Mr Eaton 

Mr G Ainsworth 

Mr G And Mrs C Ogden 

Mr G Crook 

Mr G Heston 

Mr G Platt 

Mr I Brown 

Mr I Davenport 

Mr I Jackson 

Mr J Banks 

Mr J E P Dodd 

Mr J J Connolly 

Mr J Roberts 

Mr J Winstanley 

Mr John Elton 

Mr John Roy 

Mr Jonathan Hart 

Mr Jr Hennessy 

Mr K L Ingram 

Mr K Taylor 

Mr L A Hall 

Mr La Robinson 

Mr Leather 

Mr M Anglessey 

Mr M Binds 

Mr M Burke 

Mr M G Hirst 

Mr M King 

Page 180



73 
 

Mr M Lyons 

Mr Mckelvey 

Mr Mclachlan 

Mr N Brown 

Mr N Gilbert 

Mr N Whitleley 

Mr Nazar 

Mr P Davis 

Mr P Guinnane 

Mr P Kearnley 

Mr P Mann 

Mr P Pascall 

Mr P Ridge 

Mr P Smith 

Mr Paul M Ashurst 

Mr Peter Hughes 

Mr Peter Walkden 

Mr R & Mrs G Coopersmith 

Mr R And Mrs M  Blears 

Mr R Ford 

Mr R J Mather 

Mr R L Maclennan 

Mr R Speakman 

Mr Robin Stimson 

Mr Ronnie Lam 

Mr S Jones 

Mr S Mckay 

Mr S Rennie 

Mr Sean Dunne 

Mr Sj Davis 

Mr Stephen Rigby 

Mr Trevor Davies 

Mr Turner 

Mr W Heaton 

Mrs  A L Turnbull 

Mrs A Beswick 

Mrs A Day 

Mrs A O'connor 

Mrs A Rogerson 

Mrs A Singleton 

Mrs Aj Smith 

Mrs Ann Warrington 

Mrs At Campbell 

Mrs B Cheape 

Mrs B Lees 

Mrs B Leigh 

Mrs B Segal 

Mrs B Williams 

Mrs Barbara Lyon 

Mrs C Booth 

Mrs C Howarth 

Mrs C Tomlinson 

Mrs Carole O'brien 

Mrs D Birkhead 

Mrs D Sunter 

Mrs De Gresty 

Mrs E Davenport 

Mrs E Jones 

Page 181



74 
 

Mrs E Pointon 

Mrs Ebert 

Mrs Eileen Hill 

Mrs Ellen Cotogni 

Mrs Fagan 

Mrs G Ledger 

Mrs Glynn 

Mrs H Hague 

Mrs I Booth 

Mrs I Gordon 

Mrs I Sherlock 

Mrs Irene Counsell 

Mrs J Boolk 

Mrs J Byron 

Mrs J Ford 

Mrs J Gelder 

Mrs J Hazeldine 

Mrs J M Mckenna 

Mrs J Morgan 

Mrs J Savage 

Mrs J Wilson 

Mrs Joan Mattock 

Mrs Joan Summers 

Mrs K Barlow 

Mrs L K Cunliffe 

Mrs L Knapper 

Mrs L Marsh 

Mrs M Lunn 

Mrs M Preston 

Mrs M Rawcliffe 

Mrs Marilyn Barlow 

Mrs Mariya Rai 

Mrs P Armstrong 

Mrs P Dunn 

Mrs P Eaton 

Mrs P Jackson 

Mrs P Potts 

Mrs P Turpin 

Mrs P Walker 

Mrs Pallans 

Mrs R Bannister 

Mrs R Batten 

Mrs S Crosland 

Mrs S Higham 

Mrs S Miller 

Mrs S Norcott 

Mrs S Redshaw 

Mrs Skinner 

Mrs Susan Seely 

Mrs Sylvia Hewart 

Mrs Turner 

Mrs V Allberry 

Mrs V M Blackburn 

Ms B Wilkinson 

Ms C Pennington-Armstrong 

Ms Clare Batten 

Ms H Cooper 

Ms Nina Ainsworth 

Page 182



75 
 

Ms S Keen 

Ms Sj Sumner 

Muriel And Brian  Dunn 

Mylvia Hunt 

N And E Austin 

N And S Meiring 

N Graham 

N J Jones 

N Kennedy And D Ashworth 

N Nixon 

N Ward 

N, L And F Gilbert 

Nancie Walsh 

Natalie Dickson 

Natalie Mansell 

Nathan And Clair Philips 

Neil Broadbent 

Neil Horner 

Neil Shepherd 

Neill Virtue 

Newton Ashley 

Nick Harrison 

Nick Ketley 

Nick Rawlinson 

Nickie J Mcglynn 

Nicola Fogg 

Nicola Marsh 

Nigel Gray 

Nigel Moore 

Nigel Openshaw 

Noel Gaskell 

Noel Griffiths 

Norah Virtue 

Norma Gill 

Olive Ovvietto 

Olivia Gray 

P And A C Podlasiuk 

P And A Coggins 

P And Ba Legerton 

P And I Blay 

P And J Baxter 

P And K Atkinson 

P And L Mansfield 

P And M Acheson 

P And P Heslop 

P And S Morrison 

P Burke 

P C Legerton 

P Gaffney 

P Kempster 

P Massey 

P Mathieson 

P Mcdonald 

P O'reilly 

P.E.T Houghton 

Pam And Paul Rimmer 

Pamela Kearon 

Pamela Welsh 

Page 183



76 
 

Pat Kelly 

Pat Longbottom 

Pat Sugden 

Patricia Brock 

Patricia Dawson 

Patricia Hodges 

Patricia Lumney 

Patricia Mary Still 

Patricia Mathews 

Patricia Murfin 

Patricia Varley 

Patrick Farrelly 

Patrick Hanley 

Patrick Lynch 

Paul And Cath Traynor 

Paul And Helen Gates 

Paul And Susan Tobin 

Paul Burgess 

Paul Davies 

Paul Dennen 

Paul Farnsworth 

Paul Gilseman 

Paul Glover 

Paul Hassall 

Paul Kelly 

Paul Lowndes 

Paul Medlicott 

Paul Nuttall 

Paul Taylor 

Paula Chapman 

Paula Gibson 

Paula Murphy 

Pauline Atkinson 

Pauline Feehan 

Pauline Haynes 

Peter And Mary Liz Walker 

Peter Andrew 

Peter B Henry 

Peter Ball 

Peter Banks 

Peter Bloor 

Peter Denwood 

Peter Fensome 

Peter Lynch 

Peter Raven 

Peter Shaw 

Peter Thomas 

Peter Thomas 

Peter Yates 

Phil Hinsley 

Phil Paterson 

Philip Carter 

Philip Hesketh 

Philip Parry 

Philip Picken 

Philip Sharples 

Prof Mark Gabbay 

PT Brown 

Page 184



77 
 

R and A Chaplin 

R and A Malone 

R and B Alldred 

R and D Doyle 

R and H Edwards 

R and J  Wickham 

R and J Holbrook 

R and LC Gilbert 

R and S Pritchard 

R and S Waters 

R D Boyd 

R Kerr and C Hickson 

R Lanyon 

R Mitchell and N Hopwood 

R Paley and A Kenyon 

R, S and A Mather 

Rachael Durham 

Rachel Chape 

Rachel Whittaker 

Ralph Fildes 

Ray Christian 

Rebecca Pugh 

Rebecca Wild 

Reita Sheehy 

Rekha Senapit 

Rekha Serapit 

Renay Brennan 

Rennie Mcfarlane 

Rev Andy Salmon 

Rhona Orwin 

Rhys Obrien 

Richard Evans 

Richard Gale 

Richard Merron 

Richard Sargent 

Richard Schofield 

Richard Tindall 

Rita Bowater 

Rita Cunliffe 

Rob Hesford 

Rob Prill 

Rob Tynan 

Robert A Moss 

Robert Alan Moss 

Robert Barr 

Robert C Lane 

Robert Hope 

Robert Kerr 

Robert Seddon 

Robert Seddon 

Robert Stubbs 

Roger Jones 

Ron And Mary Booth 

Ronald  Hover 

Rosemary M Steven 

Rossano Sollazzi 

Roy Addison 

Roy Chilton 

Page 185



78 
 

Roy Zammit 

Rt Revd Ds Walker 

Russell Wood 

Ruth O Taylor 

Ruth Potter 

Rw And La Goodall 

S A Woolley 

S And G Steenson 

S And M Melody 

S And M Thorpe 

S And P Dennett 

S E Occleston 

S Hart And D Young 

S Killon 

S Matthews 

S Roberts 

S, H And R Sparkes 

Sadia K Rajput 

Sally  Hope 

Sally Fryer 

Sally Shepherd 

Sam Dickson 

Samantha Armstrong 

Samantha Farrell 

Samantha Hrybyk 

Samantha Willis 

Sandra Dutson 

Sandra Issar 

Sandra Osullivan 

Sandra Parkinson 

Sandra Price 

Sara Hughes 

Sarah Coeulle 

Sarah Corlett 

Sarah Fitzpatrick 

Sarah Gilham 

Sarah Hardman 

Sarah Massey 

Scott Howard 

Scott West 

Scott West 

Senis Mclaughlin 

Sharon Crabtree 

Sharon Johnson 

Sheila Bannon 

Sheila Berry 

Sheila Wicks 

Shelia Guy 

Shelia Mayall 

Shelia Shaw 

Shelia Wicks 

Shirley Elmsley 

Shirley Emsley 

Simon Goodwin 

Simon Rankine 

Sir Alan Cockshaw 

Sister T Wild 

Sm Gosland 

Page 186



79 
 

Sonia Sweeting 

Sophie Filer 

Sophie Warner 

Stacey Antcliff 

Stephanie Foy 

Stephen And Joan Thompson 

Stephen Cooper 

Stephen Parker 

Stephen Perry 

Stephen Shaw 

Steve 

Steve And Linda Jones 

Steve Bland 

Steve Fletcher 

Steve Gill 

Steve Kelsall 

Steve Moss 

Steven Gunn-Russell 

Steven Machin 

Stewart And Barbara Brown 

Stuart  And Jackie Taylor 

Stuart Butterworth 

Stuart Harrison 

Stuart Pyrah 

Stuart Schotness 

Stuart Wooding 

Sue Buckley 

Sue Hind 

Sue Matin 

Sue Wright 

Susan Hawksworth 

Susan Mottram 

Susan Mottram 

Susan Nimmey 

Susan Wareing 

Susan Wild 

Sybil Norcott 

T A Green 

T And G Nowell 

T Nettleton 

T Thomas 

Tammy Fullelove 

Tammy Sullivan 

Terry Manford 

Teru Patel 

Thomas And Nita Mellor 

Tim Rumley 

Tina Weber 

Tobias Challender 

Tony Aldred 

Tony And Pat Steed 

Tony Dunmore 

Tony Griffiths 

Tony Lee 

Tony Wallwork 

Tony Ward 

Tracey Mellett 

Tracey Parker 

Page 187



80 
 

Tracey Peake 

Tracey Yardley 

Trisha Moynihan 

V And T Hamer 

Val Whitehead 

Valerie Hesketh 

Valerie Ivison 

Vicki Keogh 

Victor Ranicar 

Victoria Barlow 

Victoria Evans 

Vince Mcghee 

Vinny Neild 

Vivien Brearley 

W  R And J E Pendleton 

W And S Halliday 

W Hillan 

Wayne Flanagan 

Wayne Lynch 

We And  Me Williams 

Wendy Barlow 

Wendy Stephenson 

Willam Mcroy 

William And Barbara Hill 

William Corbett 

William Dronsfield 

William Hall 

William John Dixon 

Yvonne Herne 

Yvonne Yates 

 

  

Page 188



81 
 

ANNEX E - Letter to consultees on draft SPD 

 

 

 

Page 189



82 
 

 

 

Page 190



83 
 

 

Page 191



84 
 Page 192



85 
 Page 193



86 
 

Annex F – Schedule of representations submitted on the draft SPD, the city council’s response to them 

and the implications for the refreshed SPD 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Regulations Assessment  

001 Natural England Whilst we welcome this opportunity to give our views, the topic of the 
Supplementary Planning Document does not appear to relate to our 
interests to any significant extent. We therefore do not wish to 
comment.  
 
Should the plan be amended in a way which significantly affects its 
impact on the natural environment, then, please consult Natural 
England again. 
 
SPD requires a Strategic Environmental Assessment only in exceptional 
circumstances as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance here. While 
SPDs are unlikely to give rise to likely significant effects on European 
Sites, they should be considered as a plan under the Habitats 
Regulations in the same way as any other plan or project. If your SPD 
requires a Habitats Regulation Assessment, you are required to consult 
us at certain stages as set out in the Planning Practice Guidance. 
Natural England has reviewed the Draft determination statement and 
agrees with conclusion that a SA and SEA is not required. 

Comments noted. There are not 
considered to be any material 
differences between the environmental 
impacts of the refreshed SPD when 
compared to that adopted in 2015.  

General comments 

002 Bellway Homes 
(Indigo on 
behalf of) 

Bellway generally supports the use of planning obligations where they 
pass the three tests set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2010 (as amended), i.e. where they are necessary to make 
the development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the 
development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. The preparation of an updated SPD on this matter is 
therefore helpful to provide certainty for developers and is welcomed. 

The refreshed SPD states at paragraph 
3.6 that the city council will ensure that 
all obligations meet the three statutory 
tests in Regulation 122 of the CIL 
Regulations.  

P
age 194



87 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

003 Canal & River 
Trust 

The Canal and River Trust is the charity who look after and bring to life 
2000 miles of canals and rivers. Our waterways contribute to the health 
and well-being of local communities and economies, creating attractive 
and connected places to live, work, volunteer and spend leisure time. 
These historic, natural and cultural assets form part of the strategic and 
local green-blue network, linking urban and rural communities as well as 
habitats. By caring for our waterways and promoting their use we 
believe we can improve the wellbeing of our nation. The Trust is a 
statutory consultee in the Development Management process.  
 
The Trust is committed to maximising the potential of the Manchester, 
Bolton and Bury Canal (MBB) as a leisure and recreation resource, 
heritage and wildlife corridor and a sustainable transport route. The trust 
also remains committed to supporting the restoration of the canal, 
alongside other partners and stakeholders including the MBB Canal 
Society. In our role as statutory consultee on planning applications, the 
Trust seeks to secure improvements to the canal infrastructure through 
planning obligations where such contributions would meet the tests as 
set out at para 204 of the NPPF, i.e. necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the 
development; and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.  
 
The Trust therefore welcome this revision of the Council’s existing 
Planning Obligations SPD in light of updated policy, legislation and 
other relevant information.  

Comments noted.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Paragraphs 1.5 and 3.11 of the 
refreshed SPD identify that it 
supplements policy CH7 (Manchester, 
Bolton and Bury Canal) of the saved 
UDP.  
 
Paragraph 8.8 of the refreshed SPD 
notes that transport contributions may 
be directed towards the provision or 
improvement of transport infrastructure, 
including canal towpaths.  
 
The introduction to the public realm 
chapter in the refreshed SPD identifies 
that the city council will support the 
restoration of the MBB Canal and that It 
will be appropriate for development 
along the line of the canal to contribute 
towards its restoration or improvement, 
or its use as a green transport and 
recreation corridor (paragraph 9.4).   

P
age 195



88 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

  

004 Derwent 
Holdings (ATP 
Limited on 
behalf of) 

The national policy context 
It is important to recognize that the draft SPD was published for 
consultation in January 2019. Since that point, national Government has 
produced a revised NPPF (February 2019) and the NPPG advice in 
terms of Planning Obligations has been updated in March 2019. For 
completeness and robustness, the Council’s SPD should be updated to 
properly reflect the changes in the policy framework. 
 
Paragraph 1.9 of the draft SPD confirms an intent for the document to 
reflect updated national guidance (at that point from the 2012 NPPF to 
that published in July 2018). 
 
It is clear from our review of the NPPG advice in terms of Planning 
Obligations that this has been substantially rewritten so these updates 
are particularly important to ensure soundness. Without doing so, the 
draft SPD would be discordant with more recent national policy advice 
and be unsound. 
 
CIL Regulations 
We agree that the CIL Regulations are fundamentally important and that 
through Regulations 122 and 123 a clear framework is provided to 
ensure that any obligations sought can pass the necessary tests so that 
the obligations sought can be concluded acceptable and that issues 
around pooling are properly regarded. 
 
We are aware that the Government did consult upon a number of 
matters in terms of the CIL Regulations from December 2018 onwards, 
and of course it is inevitable that in the near future that there will be a 
formal response and then updates to the CIL Regulations themselves. 
We would place caution in terms of adopting a revised SPD in respect 

 
The refreshed SPD fully reflects the 
February 2019 NPPF and also the 
NPPG on planning obligations (as last 
updated 1 September 2019). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Amendments to the CIL regulations 
came into force on 1 September 2019 
that removed pooling restrictions. The 
refreshed SPD takes full account of 
these changes to the regulations (see 
paragraphs 3.3 to 3.6 of the refreshed 
SPD for the legislative context).  
 
 
 
 

P
age 196



89 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

of Planning Obligations where the underpinning legislative framework is 
itself under review. The more appropriate way forward is to defer 
publication until the new Regulations are adopted and then update this 
draft SPD accordingly. The alternative would be regrettable, which 
would be to require an immediate review of the revised SPD to reflect 
the amended legislative framework. 
 
Formulaic Contributions 
The draft SPD arrives at a series of calculations in terms of what should 

properly be levied in terms of a number of theme‐based headings. In all 
of these, we do not seek to interrogate how these costs have been 
arrived at. 
 
However, we would reflect that the underpinning viability analysis would 
appear to have resulted in a viewpoint that there was greater residual 
viability for apartment‐led development (specifically) which may have 
given more confidence in terms of setting what appear to be relatively 
high formulaic contributions for the given theme based headings. 
 
For example, it would appear that the application of the formulaic 
contribution approach would require circa £3750 for a one bedroom 
apartment (excluding site specific matters) regardless of housing market 
conditions. Given the variability of these housing market conditions and 
the inherent issue with the viability assessment (re the conflicting 
approach on affordable delivery and the application of income through 
ground rents) then this could have significant impacts upon the practical 
consequences of these policies in relation to deliverability of the 
Council’s planned housing growth across the Plan period. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The refreshed SPD carries forward the 
formulaic approaches set out in 2015 
SPD, adjusted to 2019/20 prices, which 
are considered to be proportionate in 
order to mitigate the impacts of 
development.  
 
Section 4 of the refreshed SPD is clear 
that the city council will enter into 
negations with a developer to determine 
whether a reduced contribution would 
be appropriate, and if so, the scale and 
nature of that reduction (see paragraphs 
4.29 to 4.35 in particular).   

005 English Cities 
Fund and Legal 
and General 

No fundamental objection to the principles of the Planning Obligations 
SPD nor to the importance for the authority and to the community it 
serves to ensure that impacts of development are properly mitigated 

Paragraphs 1.5 and 3.11 of the 
refreshed SPD identify the policies in 
the saved UDP that it supplements; the 

P
age 197



90 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Property Fund 
(‘L&G’) (DPP on 
behalf of) 

through the development management process. The principal concern 
is one of timing and the relationship of the proposed SPD policies and 
the adopted UDP Policies that it intends to supplement. It is clear from 
the drafting of multiple parts of the SPD that it not based on the adopted 
UDP Policies but the emerging policies of the Draft Local Plan. Indeed, 
there is an absence of clear referencing of each proposed SPD policy to 
the UDP policy is supplements. This creates a fundamental problem of 
whether the SPD can be considered sound, and it will significantly 
increase the risk of a future challenge should the SPD be adopted for 
development management purposes largely unaltered. 
 
It is suggested that irrespective of specific comments in this 
representations and others that will be received that the Council 
fundamentally reconsiders its approach. If it deems it is necessary to 
update the Planning Obligations SPD from 2015 to the adopted UPD 
[sic] policies, then it should do so independently of preparing a 
refreshed SPD that supplements in due course the emerging Local Plan 
policies. 
 
The other risk that arises from the Council’s present approach to the 
Draft SPD is that in copying the form of the emerging Local Plan 
policies in large part, it opens itself to challenge that the SPD (once 
adopted) is seeking to circumvent and subvert the Local Plan 
Examination in imposing for development management purposes the 
emerging Local Plan policies. Such polices will still potentially be 
subject to unresolved objections and may even be modified or 
withdrawn in substantial form from the Local Plan at point of its 
adoption. This returns to the point on the intent and timing to introduce 
the SPD and to whether it is genuinely supporting adopted UDP policy 
or not. 
 

refresh of the 2015 SPD has been 
undertaken independently of the 
emerging policies in the Local Plan.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Since the city council consulted on the 
draft SPD, the NPPG on planning 
obligations has set out that it is not 
appropriate for plan-makers to set out 
new formulaic approaches to planning 
obligations in supplementary planning 
documents or supporting evidence base 
documents, as these would not be 
subject to examination (paragraph: 004 
Reference ID: 23b-004-201909010). 
Given this, and as explained earlier in 
section 6 of this consultation statement, 

P
age 198



91 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Our comments reflect the position on the Draft SPD, but we reserve the 
right to supplement or amend its comments in the continued preparation 
of the Draft SPD, particularly considering the parallel nature of some 
parts to the emerging Local Plan process. 

the city council has refreshed the 
approach taken in the adopted 2015 
Planning Obligations SPD rather than 
continuing with a wider review as set out 
in the draft SPD. The refreshed SPD 
does not introduce any new formulaic 
approaches that should be tested 
through the local plan process rather 
than in an SPD.   
  

006 Historic 
England 

Due to the number of consultations received, Historic England is unable 
to respond to the consultation. We would welcome the opportunity to 
provide comments and discuss any matters prior to the next 
consultation. 

Comments noted.  

007 Natural England Whilst we welcome this opportunity to give our views, the topic of the 
SPD does not appear to relate to our interests to any significant extent.  
 
Should the plan be amended in a way which significantly affects its 
impact on the natural environment, then, please consult Natural 
England again. 

Comments noted.  

008 The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

Peel is one of the leading infrastructure, real estate and investment 
enterprises in the UK. It has diverse development interests in Salford 
and has extensive experience of the implementation and operation of 
the current SPD. It has been involved in shaping the SPD through 
representations previously made during its preparation. Peel is 
therefore well placed to provide comments on the review of the SPD 
and to respond to the questions put forward at this stage in the 
consultation process.  
 
The review of the SPD is timely and welcome. Peel’s detailed 
comments on the draft SPD are provided below, using the relevant 

Comments noted.  

P
age 199



92 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

headings within the draft document. These representations should be 
read alongside Peel’s objections to the affordable housing policy (Policy 
H7) within the Revised Draft Salford Local Plan (RDSLP) and critique of 
the Council’s viability report, which raise fundamental concerns about 
the approach being taken by the Council. 

009 The Peel Group  
and Progressive 
Living (Turley 
on behalf of) 

Support the continued use of a dedicated SPD relating to planning 
obligations. This provides a consistent basis for determining some 
aspects of the infrastructure requirements of development and a 
sufficient degree of certainty as to the potential costs associated with 
these. This approach is appropriate in lieu of an adopted CIL charging 
levy in Salford, but would need to be revised should the City resolve to 
adopt CIL in the future. 

Support noted – the refreshed SPD 
continues to provide certainty to 
developers as to costs associated with 
planning obligations. The city council 
has no intention to introduce a CIL 
charging levy at the current time.  

Chapter 2: Planning obligations and the need for this document 

010 The Manchester 
Bolton & Bury 
Canal Society 

Development plan – paragraph 2.10 
Pleased to see saved policy CH7 for the Manchester Bolton and Bury 
Canal included here. 

The refreshed SPD makes reference to 
it supplementing policy saved policy 
CH7 at paragraphs 1.5 and 3.11. 

011 The Peel Group  
and Progressive 
Living (Turley 
on behalf of) 

Development plan – paragraph 2.10 
The paragraph refers to a number of saved policies within the Unitary 
Development (UDP) that the SPD is intended to supplement. However, 
no reference is made to emerging policies within the Salford Local Plan 
(SLP). For clarity, and in order to ensure that the SPD remains up-to-
date as the SLP progresses, it is requested that the Council clarify 
which draft SLP policies the SPD is expected to supplement or to 
confirm that the SPD will be subject to a further review upon adoption of 
the Salford Local Plan. 

The refreshed SPD makes reference to 
the policies of the saved UDP that it is 
supplementing at paragraphs 1.5 and 
3.11. No reference has been made to 
the policies in Salford’s emerging Local 
Plan given that the refreshed SPD will 
be subject to a further review upon 
adoption of the Local Plan: 
Development management policies and 
designations.   

Chapter 3: Approach to securing planning obligations 

012 Agecroft 
Cemetery 
Chapel 
Restoration 

Priorities for planning obligations 
ACCRG wishes to make representations regarding the current 
consultation which includes criteria for s106 allocations. The basis of 
our comments is to question exclusion from s106 monies of a historic 

The list of priorities for planning 
obligations is set out in paragraph 2.3 of 
the refreshed SPD. This list has not 
been changed from the 2015 SPD as 

P
age 200



93 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Group 
(ACCRG) 

building of significant heritage value (the Anglican Mortuary Chapel at 
Agecroft) when it has the potential to make an active contribution to the 
adjacent communities in the manner of other such s106 funding 
streams.   We would also argue that the building is central to the wider 
community across Salford, both past and present, and that it is 
incumbent on the City Council to ensure the retention of the building 
with a range of uses for the surrounding residential communities and 
cemetery visitors.  
 
Currently the Agecroft Mortuary Chapel is under threat despite the 
endeavours of the ACCRG. Plans for the building have been 
progressed but the next stage requires funding to make the building 
safe so that essential work can be carried out. ACCRG believe that 
s106 money should be available to contribute to this staged restoration 
which will bring the building back into use for a range of purposes.  
 
The Northern Cemetery at Agecroft is Salford’s second civic burial 
ground opened in 1903 on 45 acres of farmland bought from Robert 
Dauntesey of Agecroft Hall. 
 
Salford Corporation instigated the purchase of land in nearby 
Pendlebury because of the restrictions of the Burial Act and a scarcity of 
suitable sites in Salford due to intense population and industrial growth. 
The cemetery was an important civic development involving local 
aldermen and councillors including Sir William Stephens and Sir 
Richard Mottram and a national architectural competition. 
 
The layout of the cemetery was undertaken by Joseph Corbett, 
Salford’s borough engineer. Corbett’s career was one of remarkable 
service to Salford, in particular his attention to sanitary reform. He 
integrated the building of flood defences into his cemetery layout which 

this is considered to be outside of the 
scope of the refreshed SPD.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, specific 
reference in the refreshed SPD to 
directing section 106 monies to the 
Anglican Mortuary Chapel at Agecroft 
Cemetery is considered to be too 
detailed for inclusion as a separate 
priority for planning obligations. In any 
event, the SPD identifies that other 
contributions not specifically identified in 
paragraph 2.3 may be sought. This may 
include obligations relating to the 
Chapel at Agecroft, although this would 
be dependent on such obligations 
meeting the three statutory tests as 
defined in Regulation 122 of the CIL 
Regulations.  

P
age 201



94 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

today still exists on the riverside edge of the cemetery.  As with other 
cemeteries of the period Agecroft was seen both as a place of burial 
and of perambulation. The site lines of the buildings complement the 
Corbett layout and are placed at significant points within the layout 
creating an holistic, designed landscape. 
 
Corbett undertook a series of impressive projects for Salford during his 
career including social housing, the model lodging house on Bloom 
Street, the Weaste Sewage works and the successful conversion of the 
Buile Hill estate and house into a public park and museum.  
 
The new cemetery at Agecroft was the subject of a national competition 
with 22 entries, reported in the architectural press. Walter Sharp and 
Fred Foster were selected as winners with Henry Lord as a runner–up.   
 
Walter Sharp turns out to be a regionally significant architect with 
practices in Manchester and Lytham. Previous research on Sharp 
revealed a handful of buildings but more recently the Agecroft Cemetery 
Chapel Restoration Group has been able to trace 30 buildings by 
Sharp. These included housing, public buildings, places of worship, 
impressive shops and even bus shelters which are now part of the 
historic townscape of Lytham.  
 
At Agecroft Sharp and Foster designed all the buildings which included 
the lodge, cemetery office, Anglican mortuary chapel, non-conformist 
chapel, Roman Catholic chapel, entrance gate and perimeter walls.  
 
Today the cemetery is largely as Sharp and Corbett designed it with 
only one building lost - the Roman Catholic chapel. The non-conformist 
chapel still functions as a chapel with the later addition of a 
crematorium.  As Salford’s main civic cemetery it has a busy schedule 

P
age 202



95 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

with additional burial spaces for the Muslim community in addition to 
Christian and other burials.  
  
The remaining buildings at Agecroft are all unique, each differing in their 
design albeit forming a corporate grouping. Other civic cemetery 
architecture of the period tends to be iterative and many of these 
buildings are being lost. Sharp does not adopt a slavish repetitive style 
for his buildings but uses a mixture of arts and crafts, gothic and art 
nouveau elements in various proportions according to function, giving a 
range of buildings which work together but also provide variety and 
individuality. Amongst the hierarchy and sequencing of buildings the 
Anglican chapel is the dominant element with the entrance arch placed 
in direct relationship.  This ceremony of entrance frames the chapel, the 
largest and imposing structure in the cemetery. Designed to be seen 
from a distance the chapel is now surrounded by mature trees. Loss of 
the chapel would have a disastrous effect on the architectural integrity 
of the cemetery but also derive local residents, cemetery users and 
visitors of this unique 116 year old piece of architecture. 

013 The Peel Group 
and Progressive 
Living (Turley 
on behalf of) 

Paragraphs 3.1 and 3.2 
Support the Council’s recognition at paragraph 3.1 of the draft SPD that:  
 
“The nature of planning obligations, and the legislative requirements 
which govern their use, means that each obligation needs to be 
considered individually having regard to the site-specific circumstances 
of a development proposal.”  
 
In this context, it will be important to ensure that the Council’s approach 
to the agreement of planning obligations is flexible and able to respond 
to the context of each development proposal. For example, there may 
be opportunities to address the infrastructure requirements of 
developments in an alternative manner to that set out in the SPD to 

 
The text at paragraph 3.1 of the 2019 
draft SPD is repeated in the refreshed 
SPD at paragraph 4.1. 
 
 
 
 
Paragraph 2.3 of the refreshed SPD 
sets out the priorities for Planning 
Obligations as being affordable housing, 
open space, education, transport and 
public realm. The last bullet point in this 

P
age 203



96 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

ensure a deliverable project and achieve more beneficial outcomes for 
the city and communities. In this context, all policies within the SPD 
should be clear that alternative approaches can be agreed with the 
Local Authority on a case-by-case basis.  
 
Paragraph 3.2 of the draft SPD goes on to summarise the Council’s 
priorities for securing planning obligations. The identification of these 
priorities is supported, which broadly reflect adopted (UDP) and 
emerging (SLP) policy objectives. However, it is requested that the SPD 
text be updated to confirm that developer contributions / obligations will 
only be sought where the additional demand generated by the 
development proposed cannot be accommodated within existing 
facilities; and any necessary contributions calculated based on the 
shortfall in provision for demand generated by the development 
identified. Such amendments are required in order to ensure that the 
SPD, and subsequent obligations requested, meet legal4 and national 
policy5 tests which confirm that planning obligations must only be 
sought where they are necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms, directly related to the development and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.   

list states that there may be instances 
where a development would result in a 
material increase in the need or demand 
for other types of infrastructure or 
services. It goes onto state that in these 
cases the city council will negotiate with 
a developer on a case by case basis 
having regard to site-specific 
circumstances. Given this overarching 
statement, it is not considered 
necessary for each policy in the 
refreshed SPD to state that alternative 
approaches can be agreed on a case by 
case basis.  
 
Paragraph 3.6 of the refreshed SPD is 
clear that in relation to Regulation 122 of 
the CIL Regulations, the city council will 
ensure that all obligations meet the 
statutory tests (i.e. necessary to make 
the development acceptable in planning 
terms, directly related to the 
development and fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the 
development). Paragraph 3.7 then goes 
onto note that paragraph of the NPPF 
restates the three statutory tests for 
planning obligations.  

                                                           
4 In accordance with Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended)   
5 Paragraph 56, National Planning Policy Framework (MHCLG, February 2019)   

P
age 204



97 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

014 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Policy OB1 Artificial splitting of sites 
Support in principle the approach to prevent developer’s artificially 
engineering development sites or proposals to avoid development 
contributions. What is not recognised in the reasoned justification, is 
that some larger scale sites may be phased in delivery. It would be 
beneficial to insert into paragraph 3.16 commentary on the lines of: 
 
‘Larger, phased development and regeneration sites may not be 
considered artificially split in exercise of planning judgment on the 
merits of each case.’ 

Although the issue of the artificial 
splitting of sites is an issue that the city 
council considers to be important when 
considering planning obligations, 
unfortunately it is considered that 
introducing a completely new policy 
requirement relating to this falls outside 
of the scope of the minor refresh of the 
2015 Planning Obligations SPD.  
 
Notwithstanding this, paragraph 4.13 of 
the refreshed SPD carries forward the 
approach in 4.11 of the 2015 SPD by 
seeking to ensure that sites are not 
developed in an incremental manner in 
order to remain below the defined 
thresholds for when contributions will be 
sought. If a developer does seek to 
artificially split a site then this would be 
a material consideration in the 
determination of any planning 
application, having regard to planning 
judgement on the merits of each case.  

015 The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB1 Artificial splitting of sites 
Peel supports the objective and ambitions of Policy OB1, which seeks 
to prevent developers from ‘artificially’ splitting development sites in 
order to fall below any threshold for providing planning obligations.  
 
The wording of Policy OB1 states that, “where there is evidence that a 
site or a development has been artificially split in order to avoid policy 
requirements”, the Council will consider whether it would be appropriate 

Although the issue of the artificial 
splitting of sites is an issue that the city 
council considers to be important when 
considering planning obligations, 
unfortunately it is considered that 
introducing a new policy requirement 
relating to this falls outside of the scope 

P
age 205



98 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

to apply the policy requirements in order to secure planning obligations 
in accordance with the SPD.  
 
As noted above, Peel broadly supports this approach, but considers that 
the clarity and application of the policy could be strengthened through 
the addition of further wording within the ‘reasoned justification’ for the 
policy to explain what would be considered to constitute ‘evidence’ that 
a site / development has been artificially split. This could, for example, 
include consideration of ownership, accesses, physical dividing features 
and policy designations. 

of the minor refresh of the 2015 
Planning Obligations SPD.  
 
Notwithstanding this, paragraph 4.13 of 
the refreshed SPD carries forward the 
approach in 4.11 of the 2015 SPD by 
seeking to ensure that sites are not 
developed in an incremental manner in 
order to remain below the defined 
thresholds for when contributions will be 
sought. If a developer does seek to 
artificially split a site then this would be 
a material consideration in the 
determination of any planning 
application, having regard to 
consideration of issues such as 
ownership, accesses, physical dividing 
features, and policy designations. . 

016 The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

Paragraphs 3.21 and 3.22 – Outline applications 
Peel supports the Council’s approach to including the relevant cost 
formulae for appropriate planning obligations / contributions in the 
Section 106 Agreements for outline planning application. This approach 
provides sufficient flexibility to enable the final contributions payable to 
be calculated once certainty about the number, mix and type of housing 
to be delivered has been established at Reserved Matters stage. 

In order to provide clarity for how 
planning obligations will be considered 
for outline planning applications, 
paragraphs 3.21 and 3.22 from the Draft 
SPD have been carried forward into the 
refreshed SPD at paragraphs 4.4 and 
4.5.  

017 Canal & River 
Trust 

Paragraph 3.25 - Pre-application engagement 
The draft SPD encourages applicants to engage in pre-application 
discussions with the city council prior to submitting an application. Such 
an approach is supported and welcomed by the trust. Paragraph 40 of 
the NPPF however also advises that LPAs should, where they think this 
would be beneficial, encourage applicants to engage with statutory and 

Paragraph 4.43 of the refreshed SPD 
states that applicants are strongly 
encouraged to engage in pre-application 
discussions in order to determine the 
nature and scale of contributions that 

P
age 206



99 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

non-statutory consultees, before submitting their applications. 
Consideration should therefore be given to expanding para 3.25 to 
reference discussions with other landowners/stakeholders where 
appropriate.  
 
We would also ask that where appropriate the Council engages with the 
Trust in respect of pre-application discussions relevant to the line of the 
MBB Canal. The Trust is happy to provide pre-application advice either 
directly to applicants or LPAs and does not charge for this service. 
Further information can be found on the Trusts website at: 
 
https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/specialist-teams/planning-and-design/our-
statutory-consultee-role/what-were-interested-in/pre-application-advice 

will be required, prior to submitting a 
planning application.  
 
The advice in paragraph 40 of the NPPF 
with regards to encouraging applicants 
to engage with statutory and non-
statutory consultees at the pre-
application stage is a material 
consideration that the city council will 
have regard to, where appropriate. This 
would include consulting with the Canal 
and River Trust with regards to the 
Manchester, Bolton and Bury Canal 
where appropriate.  

Chapter 4: Viability appraisals and reduced planning obligations 

018 Derwent 
Holdings (ATP 
Limited on 
behalf of) 

Viability assessment of the SPD – Paragraphs 4.1 to 4.3 
At the outset, we would confirm that we are not chartered surveyors and 
do not therefore make any judgments in terms of the appraisals 
themselves. However, we do highlight methodological points where they 
appear to conflict with other published policy or guidance. 
 
Clearly the basis of any such work is to ascertain the extent to which a 
given development could be capable of sustaining a certain level of 
planning obligations whilst ensuring that any such obligations would not 
prejudice the deliverability of a scheme. Any such approach will be 
based upon the use of standardized assumptions in terms of numeric 
inputs, and their effectiveness is enhanced where those inputs can 
employ appropriate granularity (in terms of the various types of housing 
and housing markets for example) and ensure that it properly applies 
the various costs and returns that can be achieved. 
 

 
Comments noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 207

https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/specialist-teams/planning-and-design/our-statutory-consultee-role/what-were-interested-in/pre-application-advice
https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/specialist-teams/planning-and-design/our-statutory-consultee-role/what-were-interested-in/pre-application-advice


100 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

As above, we do not choose to interrogate all of the inputs to this 
process. However, we do refer to two key inputs which we think will 
crucially impact upon the viability analysis of residential apartments. 
 
Building regulations 
We would also seek clarification as to whether the estimated “costing” 
of changes to planning policy also factor in the cost implications of 
changes to Building Regulations which are envisaged for schemes that 
would be latterly approved and then built during the next Local Plan 
period. The viability work underpinning this SPD should assess the 
likely costs and returns using a “policy on” approach. 
 
 
 
Values 
We also note that the Council’s Viability Assessment appears to 
assume that ground rents can be delivered (and those incomes 
capitalized) in terms of apartments and identified annual figures of 
between £150‐£300. We are aware that there has been a recent 
Government consultation on housing policy which included reference to 
ground rents, but our understanding is that the consultation declared 
that ground rents should not exceed a sum of £10 per annum (and 
preferably peppercorn). Please see below the hyperlink to that 
document and particularly to the comments at paragraphs 3.11‐3.16 
which are straightforward. 
 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/748438/Le 
asehold_consultation.pdf 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The SPD has been prepared on the 
basis of current costs and has not taken 
into account potential changes to the 
building regulations and costs that 
would be associated with this due to 
uncertainties with regards to the 
timescales of any changes, and their 
scope.   
 
 
The comments with regards to ground 
rents is acknowledged and the 
government’s intentions around this. 
However, at the current time the 
government has not brought forward 
legislation to enact the proposed 
measures – given this appraisals 
submitted with planning applications in 
Salford continue to include a yield from 
ground rents (particularly apartments). 
On this basis, no change has been 
made.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 208



101 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Clearly the Government has not published its response to the 
consultation, but it would appear to support a thesis that the returns 

applicable to ground rent capitalization have been over‐estimated in 
terms of apartments. 
 
Summary 
If the viability analysis has perhaps underegged the likely scale of 

construction costs and over‐inflated the realistic extent of a sales return 
then this would necessarily impact upon the extent of planning 
obligations that can be yielded without resulting in impacts upon the 
development which would fail the requirements of the CIL Regulations. 
 
We would therefore urge the Council to reconsider the numeric inputs to 
ensure that the approach re affordable provision is consistently applied, 
that the additional costs of more exacting regulatory requirements are 
“built in” and any excessive assumptions in terms of ground rent 
capitalisation are remedied appropriately. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assessment of Non‐Residential Viability 
The background viability evidence for this SPD appears to be solely 
based upon residential development schemes. No testing has therefore 
been undertaken in terms of the effects of these obligations upon the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The 2019 viability assessment identified 
that in some of the higher value areas / 
typologies there would be the potential 
for schemes to support full planning 
obligations and up to 50% affordable 
housing. As part of the refreshed SPD 
the provision of affordable housing has 
been set out a maximum of 20% and the 
reference to a requirement for all 
schemes providing a minimum of 20% 
has been deleted. This has been 
replaced by a requirement for affordable 
housing ‘By negotiation’ in the lower 
value areas in line with UDP policy H4, 
and paragraph 64 of the NPPF which 
requires that planning policies and 
decisions should expect at least 10% of 
the homes in major developments to be 
available for affordable home ownership 
(subject to certain exemptions). 
 
The requirements in the refreshed SPD 
are considered to be proportionate and 
viable having regard to the evidence. 
 

P
age 209



102 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

viability and deliverability of non‐residential schemes that would 
otherwise be acceptable in planning terms. 
 
Whilst the theme‐based approach would be more focused in terms of 
these types of development (i.e. it would not seek affordable housing or 
contributions to education or open space) there would inevitably be 
aspirations for financial contributions on larger schemes. 
 
We would therefore urge the Council to introduce a framework so that 
the financial implications of such obligations on otherwise acceptable 
commercial developments are understood at the Plan‐led stage. 

The viability evidence in the refreshed 
SPD (as it was in the 2015 SPD) relates 
exclusively to residential development. 
As noted in paragraph 4.27 of the 
refreshed SPD there would be no value 
in undertaking an assessment if viability 
for non-residential development, as 
where a contribution is required this will 
be negotiated on a case by case basis.  
 

019 The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

Viability assessment of the SPD – Paragraphs 4.1 to 4.3 
Paragraph 4.1 of the draft SPD confirms that the SPD has been 
informed by an assessment of the viability of residential development 
within Salford6. That viability assessment has been undertaken to 
inform, and comprises an important element of the evidence base for, 
the Revised Draft Salford Local Plan (RDSLP). In particular, the viability 
assessment underpins draft Policies H5: Size of Dwellings, H6: Housing 
Density and H7: Affordable Housing of the RDSLP. 
 
Peel has submitted representations to the RDSLP. Those 
representations include a detailed critique of the Council’s viability 
assessment and the proposed approach to planning obligations; in 
particular affordable housing. In summary, Peel’s main areas of concern 
relation to the Council’s viability evidence base are summarised as 
follows:  
 

 Construction costs are unreasonably low (and un-evidenced), which 
overstates development viability.  

The comments with regards to the 
January 2019 viability assessment are 
noted. However, given the change in 
scope of the SPD from a comprehensive 
update as consulted upon at the draft 
stage to a minor refresh of the adopted 
2015 SPD, and for reasons set out 
below, the city council has not produced 
an updated viability assessment for the 
purposes of informing the refreshed 
SPD.  
 
The draft SPD set out requirements 
particularly for affordable housing that in 
most instances were significantly in 
excess of those that have now been set 
out as part of the refresh of the 2015 
SPD (as an example in some of the 

                                                           
6 Salford Revised Draft Local Plan Strategic Assessment of Viability (Salford City Council, January 2019)   

P
age 210



103 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

 Professional and statutory fees are set at 5% of construction costs. 
This is too low, and is exacerbated by the low construction cost, 
further overstating development viability.  

 Benchmark land values (BLVs) have been reduced significantly from 
the BLVs adopted in the 2016 viability evidence documents without 
appropriate methodology or evidential support.  

 The adoption of Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) at 
35dph – 50dph development densities, as tested, results in 
unrealistically excessive development coverage, which does not 
reflect either developer or purchaser expectations – and will 
erroneously overstate viability, and  

 The RDSLP includes requirements for affordable housing provision, 
and an affordable housing tenure mix which do not match those that 
are shown to be viable within the Council’s evidence. The 
inconsistency between proposed policies and the underpinning 
evidence is regarded as unsound.  

 
Cumulatively, these failings significantly overstate viability and, if the 
draft SPD and Local Plan proceed on that basis, they will simply prevent 
development and thus make the plan undeliverable. In this context, the 
Council’s approach to viability and the value of contributions sought 
throughout the draft SPD (and Salford Local Plan) is likely to require 
reconsideration in the light of updates to the underpinning viability 
evidence. 

higher value areas the draft SPD 
required 50% affordable housing – this 
has been capped at a maximum 20% as 
part of the refresh as per the 2015 SPD 
requirements).  
 
In addition, the minimum 20% 
requirement for affordable housing 
across the city as set out in the draft 
SPD has been deleted as part of the 
refresh of the 2015 SPD. Instead, and in 
line with the wording of saved UDP 
policy H4, the requirement for affordable 
housing in some of the lower value 
areas has been amended to ‘By 
negotiation’. This is also consistent with 
paragraph 64 of the NPPF which 
requires that planning policies and 
decisions should expect at least 10% of 
the homes in major developments to be 
available for affordable home ownership 
(subject to certain exemptions). 
 
The January 2019 viability assessment 
was produced as joint evidence for 
Salford’s local plan and the draft 
Planning Obligations SPD. The 
assessment included costs and 
requirements that will only become 
policy upon adoption of the local plan, 
including: 

P
age 211



104 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

 

 The Nationally Described Space 
Standards 

 Accessible and adaptable homes 
under requirement M4(2) of the 
Building Regulations 

 Electric Vehicle Charging points 

 Exceeding Part L of the Building 
Regulations by at least 19% 

 Allotment comntributions 
 
Given this, it is considered that there is 
sufficient flexibility within the 2019 
viability assessment to meet the 
requirements set out within the refresh 
of the 2015 SPD, particularly when also 
considered alongside the reduced 
affordable requirements noted above.  
 
Notwithstanding any overall concerns 
about the level of planning requirements 
being sought, the refreshed SPD is clear 
in paragraphs 4.29 to 4.35 that the city 
council will negotiate reduced 
contributions where development 
viability is an issue. In particular 
paragraph 4.35 states that: 
 
“Where a developer considers that there 
are site-specific issues which mean that 
the cumulative effect of policy 

P
age 212



105 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

requirements and planning obligations 
would compromise development viability 
in relation to a particular scheme, the 
city council will enter into negotiations 
with a developer to determine whether a 
reduced contribution would be 
appropriate and, if so, the scale and 
nature of that reduction. In such 
circumstances, the developer will be 
required to provide the city council with 
appropriate evidence of the likely impact 
of the proposed planning obligation(s) 
on the viability of their development. The 
scope of the viability evidence that 
needs to be submitted is set out within 
the city council’s planning obligations 
proforma statement.” 
 
Overall the 2015 SPD has been 
successfully implemented since its 
adoption, and its minor refresh is not 
considered to place inappropriate 
burdens on new development when   
regard is had to the January 2019 
viability assessment. 
 

020 Bellway Homes 
(Indigo on 
behalf of) 

Viability assessment of the SPD – Paragraphs 4.2 
Support paragraph 4.2 of the Draft SPD which recognises that the 
economics of individual schemes will vary and therefore negotiations 
will need to take place.  
 

Paragraph 4.24 of the refreshed SPD is 
clear that the economics of individual 
schemes will vary, reflecting site-specific 
conditions, and that in such instances 
the city council will enter into 

P
age 213



106 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Bellway is also supportive of Policy OB2 and the ability to reduce 
planning obligations where demonstrated through the submission of 
viability appraisal. Welcome the statement that its contents will not be 
published in exceptional circumstances 

negotiations with developers to consider 
whether there is a justifiable case for a 
reduction in the scale of contributions 
(paragraph 4.25).    
 
The approach to the negation of 
reduced contributions is set out in 
paragraphs 4.29 to 4.35 of the refreshed 
SPD. Reference is made in paragraph 
4.38 to a presumption that all viability 
assessments submitted as part of the 
planning application process will be 
published, apart from where this would 
create a genuinely exceptional problem 
for the applicant. This approach is in line 
with the planning practice guidance on 
planning obligations.  

021 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Policy OB2 Reduced Planning obligations 
Object to the omission in draft policy to reference to other planning 
objectives being harmed if ordinarily required planning obligations were 
imposed on a development proposal. As example, regeneration benefits 
which may include the raising of values, as has been an objective at 
Salford Central. Whilst limb 4 could be construed to fit such a scenario it 
is not, in our view, sufficiently explicit, nor is the reasoned justification 
explicit that regeneration could be a justification to reduce or even set 
aside planning obligations. 
 
It is proposed that explanation is inserted following paragraph 4.21 to 
limb (4) on what such benefits to outweigh the lack of full mitigation of 
impact and what such material considerations could be. Such an 
explanation should be on the lines of stating, ‘Where a development is 

Given that the city council has narrowed 
the scope of the review of the SPD, 
policy OB2 of the Draft SPD has not 
been carried forward as part of the 
refresh of the 2015 SPD.  
 
However, paragraph 4.32 of the 
refreshed SPD is clear that a planning 
application may be refused where a 
development would generate 
unacceptable impacts which could not 
be effectively mitigated and which are 
not outweighed by the benefits of the 

P
age 214



107 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

proposed that includes inherent planning benefits, such as regeneration 
schemes or proposals underpinned by other public investment (for 
example Homes England), then this may allow for a reduction or setting 
aside of other planning obligations under policy. Where such 
circumstances arise, the Council will require a public statement on the 
nature of the regeneration benefits, public funding, etc. in support of the 
scheme at time of application.’ 

development and other material 
considerations.  
 
Regeneration benefits of a scheme 
would be a material consideration that 
could be considered as part of the 
overall planning balance when 
considering whether it is appropriate for 
full mitigation of an impact of 
development to not be provided. 
Specific reference to this is not 
considered appropriate in the refreshed 
SPD.  

 The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB2 Reduced Planning obligations 
Policy OB2 confirms that development will only be permitted with 
reduced planning obligations compared to policy requirements where 
four policy criteria are met. 
 
Peel supports the Council’s recognition that site specific viability 
assessments may be required, including circumstances set out in 
paragraph 4.2 of the draft SPD in respect of the impact of site specific 
abnormal costs.  
 
Paragraph 4.10 of the SPD proposes that viability appraisals should use 
the ‘existing use value plus’ approach set out in Planning Practice 
Guidance: Viability (‘PPGV’). Reference should also be made within the 
SPD to the need for benchmark land values to be “informed by market 
evidence including current uses, costs and values wherever possible”, 
in line with PPGV paragraph 014. 
 

Given that the city council has narrowed 
the scope of the review of the SPD, 
policy OB2 of the Draft SPD has not 
been carried forward as part of the 
refresh of the 2015 SPD.  
 
However, paragraph 4.28 of the 
refreshed SPD states that where there 
are site-specific issues which mean that 
the cumulative effect of policy 
requirements and planning obligations 
would compromise development viability 
in relation to a particular scheme, the 
city council will enter into negotiations 
with a developer to determine whether a 
reduced contribution would be 
appropriate and, if so, the scale and 
nature of that reduction. 

P
age 215



108 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Whilst RICS BCIS data is not specifically named within the draft SPD, it 
appears that paragraph 4.11 of the SPD attempts to prevent the use of 
RICS BCIS data within appraisals that are to be submitted to the 
Council. Peel regards this as highly inappropriate and contrary to PPGV 
paragraph 012, which states that RICS BCIS information is “appropriate 
data”. Published RICS BCIS data is available on a transparent basis 
and, therefore, complies with PPGV paragraphs 008 and 010, which 
specifically reference the need for transparency of input information. 
 
Peel requests that the draft SPD is amended to ensure that all sources 
of appropriate data are given due regard, in line with PPGV. Removal of 
paragraph 4.11 of the draft SPD would resolve Peel’s concern in this 
regard, and would remove the present conflict with PPGV. 

 
Paragraph 4.30 of the refreshed SPD 
makes reference to the viability section 
of the NPPG and goes on to state that 
all viability appraisals will be expected to 
comply with the PPG principles, 
including defining benchmark land value 
on the basis of existing use value of the 
land plus a premium for the landowner. 
Explicit reference is not considered 
necessary in the refreshed SPD to 
existing use value being informed by 
market evidence of current uses, costs 
and values as this would simply 
duplicate wording from the PPG 
(Paragraph: 014 Reference ID: 10-014-
20190509). 
 
Paragraph 4.30 of the refreshed SPD 
essentially reiterates paragraph 4.11 of 
the draft SPD with regards to values 
being based on up-to-date evidence 
which reflect local market conditions and 
the specifics of the proposed 
development. The intention of this is to 
not prevent the use of BCIS build costs 
data – rather it is to ensure that all 
costs, including build costs, are 
appropriate and reflect market 
conditions (as required by Paragraph: 

P
age 216



109 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

012 Reference ID: 10-012-20180724 of 
the PPG).  
 
BCIS costs are given as an example of 
appropriate data for build costs in the 
PPG – where these are not considered 
to be reflective of local market 
conditions then the city council would 
not accept their use. There is nothing 
inconsistent with this approach and that 
set out in the PPG.  

Chapter 5: Affordable housing 

022 Bellway Homes 
(Indigo on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB3 Affordable housing 
Object to Policy OB3 as it will cause fundamental issues in site 
deliverability and does not include the flexibility set out within the 
supporting viability assessment. 
 
The current adopted SPD sets out maximum requirements of 20% 
whilst the emerging SPD proposes a significant increase to 50%. This 
could have severe implications on viability by jeopardising the 
deliverability of housing sites coming forward and causing issues and 
delays with land negotiations which have been taking place to deliver 
the required housing sites to meet the needs of the borough. 
 
Paragraph 1.2 of the viability assessment clearly sets out that this 
document should be seen as the starting point rather than the only 
determinant of affordable housing requirements/policy. Therefore, the 
council need to apply an element of ‘common sense’ in order to ensure 
sustainable, deliverable schemes do not fall away on the basis of 
unrealistic planning obligations.  
 

In the refreshed SPD the approach to 
affordable housing is set out in policy 
OB1. The refreshed SPD limits the 
affordable housing requirements to a 
maximum of 20% as per policy OB1 of 
the 2015 adopted SPD. Introducing new 
requirements for affordable housing of 
potentially up to 50% in some areas of 
the city through the refreshed SPD 
would represent the introduction of a 
new formulaic approach outside of the 
local plan process. This would be 
contrary to planning practice guidance 
(Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 23b-004-
20190901) that was introduced following 
consultation on the draft SPD.   
 
Policy OB1 of the refreshed SPD retains 
flexibility where there are viability 

P
age 217



110 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Within this assessment it notably states that ‘variability in viability, both 
between sites and over time, means that it is appropriate that the table 
below is the starting point rather than the only determinant of the 
affordable housing policy’ (paragraph 8.8). 
 
Policy OB3 therefore, needs to be caveated to reflect this flexibility and 
ensure that the obligations proposed are necessary to make 
development acceptable in planning terms and that it is fairly and 
reasonably relocated in scale and kind to the development, taking 
account of specific site characteristics. The proposed 50% affordable 
housing provision is likely to have a fundamental impact on the delivery 
of homes within Salford and so it is requested that this figure is 
revisited. 
 
Furthermore, Bellway seek further clarification with regards to the 
residential value areas set out at Figure 1 and referred to in Policy OB3. 
For instance, it is noted that table 5 within the accompanying residential 
viability report sets out six residential value areas, whereas the SPD 
only identifies four areas. The inconsistencies of the areas, together 
with the high affordable housing provision requirements could also have 
severe implications on housing delivery within the different areas of 
Salford. 
 
Bellway also notes that the proposed contributions relate to 10 or more 
dwellings, whereas currently within the adopted SPD, the threshold is 
set to 11 or more dwellings. Clarification is therefore sought as to why 
this threshold has been revised. 
 
Bellway also notes that there does not appear to have been any 
engagement or consultation with stakeholders (including housebuilders, 
landowners, developers and their agents) in producing the viability 

issues. It states that: “In instances 
where an applicant demonstrates to the 
city council’s satisfaction that full or 
partial delivery of the affordable housing 
requirement is not possible on viability 
grounds, the city council will negotiate 
alternative provision having regard to 
local need. In circumstances where 
obligations are reduced or waived, 
clawback mechanisms will be put in 
place should viability improve 
subsequently.”  
 
 
The value areas map in the draft SPD 
identified the following value areas: 
premium; high; mid/high and low to mid. 
The low to mid category in Figure 1 
incorporated the low, low/mid and mid 
value areas as set out in table 5 of the 
viability assessment (as the policy 
requirements for the three value areas 
were the same). There was no 
inconsistency. For information, the value 
areas map in the refreshed SPD 
identifies the following value areas: high; 
mid/high; mid; low/mid and low. These 
areas are the same as those in the 2015 
adopted SPD.  
 

P
age 218



111 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

assessment. This raises questions over the validity and robustness of 
the assessment in terms of whether it accurately reflects the market in 
reality. Due to the limited time for consultation on the SPD itself, 
Bellway is unable to undertake a thorough critique of this work from a 
viability perspective, which places it (and likely others) at a significant 
disadvantage. Bellway would request that this engagement now take 
place on the supporting evidence before finalising the SPD. 
 

For clarity the draft SPD affordable 
housing requirements (in policy OB3) 
applied to all developments that provide 
25 or more net additional dwellings, or 
are on a site of 1 hectare or more in size 
and provide any number of dwellings. 
This was in line with thresholds 
established in UDP policy H4. In the 
refreshed SPD policy OB1 a threshold 
of 25 or more dwellings, or on all 
residential sites over 1 hectare which 
comprise 11 or more dwellings. 
Paragraph 5.6 of the refreshed SPD 
sets out the rationale for these 
thresholds.  
 
The viability assessment produced in 
support of the draft SPD builds upon 
viability assessments produced at 
various stages through the local plan 
preparation and the production of the 
2015 SPD. Through these various 
stages consultees have had the 
opportunity to make comments.  
 

023 Derwent 
Holdings (ATP 
Limited on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB3 Affordable housing 
It is evident from the Council’s Viability Assessment that multiple 
scenarios have been run in terms of the extent of affordable housing 
which could viably be delivered for different type and tenure of dwellings 
in different market areas. 
 

Comments noted.  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 219



112 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

The differential in terms of the affordable housing requirements by 
housing market area and indeed type of accommodation vary very 
substantially. For sites which are categorised as being located within 
“Low‐Mid” or “Low” sales value areas it is advised that 0% affordable 
housing can be delivered in terms of apartments. In respect of family 
housing, some affordable provision can be supported and this equates 
to 15% in “Low‐Mid” areas and 5% in “Low” areas. 
 
Whilst the draft Local Plan recognizes that for some sites the “floor 
threshold” of 20% affordable provision would be challenging, it 
nevertheless adopts that threshold within draft policy H7 for all sites, 
with higher levels required for stronger market areas. This therefore 
represents a fundamental conflict between the inputs which inform the 
viability assessment and the stated minimum requirements for the draft 
Local Plan. This will inevitably impact upon the extent of any residual 
monies that would be available to meet planning obligations. 
 
The Council should ensure that the viability assessment accounts for 
the consequences of the draft Local Plan in terms of affordable housing. 
The viability work underpinning this SPD should assess the likely costs 
and returns using a “policy on” approach. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In the refreshed SPD the approach to 
affordable housing is set out in policy 
OB1. The refreshed SPD does not set 
out a minimum city-wide requirement of 
20% affordable housing provision as 
was set out in the draft SPD – 
introducing such a requirement through 
the refreshed SPD would represent the 
introduction of a new formulaic 
approach outside of the local plan 
process. This would be contrary to 
planning practice guidance (Paragraph: 
004 Reference ID: 23b-004-20190901) 
that was introduced following 
consultation on the draft SPD.   
 
In some areas of the city and for high 
density apartments, the refreshed SPD 
(policy OB1) does not set a specific 
percentage requirement for affordable 
housing, on the basis of evidence within 
the strategic viability assessment. In 
these areas the SPD requires the 

P
age 220



113 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

provision of affordable housing ‘By 
negotiation’. This approach is fully 
consistent with UDP policy H4 which 
states that where there is a need for 
affordable housing, developers will be 
required by negotiation with the city 
council to provide an element of 
affordable housing. It is also in line with 
paragraph 64 of the NPPF which 
requires that planning policies and 
decisions should expect at least 10% of 
the homes in major developments to be 
available for affordable home ownership 
(subject to certain exemptions). 

024 English Cities 
Fund (DPP on 
behalf) 

Policy OB3 Affordable housing 
Support reference to ‘A reduced proportion of affordable housing from 
the above requirements may be considered acceptable only where:’ and 
then giving cross-reference to Policy OB2 limbs (1) to (4). This support 
is conditional that limb (4) to Policy OB2 is supplemented in the 
reasoned justification so that it is explicit that regeneration schemes can 
be material considerations to reduce or set aside planning obligations, 
which through OB3 can mean affordable housing. 
 
However, should a reduction or removal of planning obligations be 
accepted through Policy OB2 (4) then it should not be a requirement to 
provide evidence to limb (1) to Policy OB3. By the very nature of being 
an exception it will be a burdensome task for any developer, particularly 
in the circumstance of a regeneration project that may of itself require 
public investment to secure its delivery, to expend time and limited 
funds on an ‘exhaustive’ exercise to test multiple affordable housing 
scenarios. The intention of the Council is understood here, but there is a 

In the refreshed SPD the approach to 
affordable housing is set out in policy 
OB1. The wording referred to within this 
representation has been removed from 
the refreshed SPD, with the wording 
from the 2015 Adopted Planning 
Obligations carried forward as part of 
the refresh.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 221



114 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

point where such an exercise becomes unreasonable. The policy 
should operate to either seek an exception under limb (1) or limb (2), 
not to have to pass both. 
 
Support the removal of apartments above mid-density (over 6-storeys) 
from any affordable housing obligation. 
 
Reasoned justification paragraph 5.10. The latter part of the paragraph 
starting ‘Nevertheless, there will be situations …’ is supported. Indeed, 
this expresses the points raised on Policies OB2 and OB3 above about 
the importance to recognise the value in specific circumstances of a 
development where the benefit of new homes outweigh the lack of 
compliance with affordable housing policy. It would be improved with 
specific reference to regeneration projects in such matters, particularly 
as the SPD is intended to supplement the adopted UDP that includes 
the regeneration Policy MX1. 

 
 
 
 
For clarity, policy OB3 of the Draft SPD 
required that high density apartments 
provided 20% affordable housing (by 
virtue of that being the default affordable 
housing requirement in those areas / 
typologies not set out within the table 
within policy OB3).  
 
Notwithstanding the above, the 20% 
requirement for high density apartments 
has been removed from the refreshed 
SPD (in policy OB1). The refreshed 
SPD does not set out a minimum city-
wide requirement of 20% affordable 
housing provision as was set out in the 
draft Planning Obligations SPD – 
introducing such a requirement through 
the refreshed SPD would represent the 
introduction of a new formulaic 
approach outside of the local plan 
process. This would be contrary to 
planning practice guidance (Paragraph: 
004 Reference ID: 23b-004-20190901) 
that was introduced following 
consultation on the draft SPD.   
 

P
age 222



115 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

The refreshed SPD (policy OB1) does 
not set a specific percentage 
requirement for affordable housing in 
high density apartment scheme, on the 
basis of evidence within the strategic 
viability assessment. In these areas the 
SPD requires the provision of affordable 
housing ‘By negotiation’. This approach 
is fully consistent with UDP policy H4 
which states that where there is a need 
for affordable housing (which there 
clearly is), developers will be required 
by negotiation with the city council to 
provide an element of affordable 
housing. It is also in line with paragraph 
64 of the NPPF which requires that 
planning policies and decisions should 
expect at least 10% of the homes in 
major developments to be available for 
affordable home ownership (subject to 
certain exemptions). 
 
Policy OB1 of the refreshed SPD retains 
flexibility where there are viability 
issues. It states that: “In instances 
where an applicant demonstrates to the 
city council’s satisfaction that full or 
partial delivery of the affordable housing 
requirement is not possible on viability 
grounds, the city council will negotiate 
alternative provision having regard to 

P
age 223



116 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

local need.” Such instances could be 
linked to the financing of regeneration 
projects, and this would be a material 
consideration.  
 

025 The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB3 Affordable housing 
Policy OB3 seeks to replicate draft Policy H7: Affordable Housing of the 
RDSLP within the Planning Obligations SPD. Notwithstanding that this 
repetition of policy is unnecessary, Peel’s representations to the RDSLP 
set out serious concerns about the Council’s proposed approach to 
affordable housing.  
 
In particular, Peel does not consider that the viability assessment, which 
underpins Policy H7 of the RDSLP, presents a credible and robust 
piece of evidence and that it is highly likely that it overestimates the 
level of affordable housing which residential sites can viably provide. As 
such, the affordable housing requirements set out in Policy H7 of the 
RDSLP have not been adequately justified and the policy is therefore 
not ‘sound’.  
 
The issues raised within Peel’s representations to the RDSLP indicate 
that revised methodology, in line with market expectations, PPG and 
NPPF requirements would negatively impact upon the viability testing 
results. In this context, the Council’s proposed affordable housing 
requirement (in both the RDSLP and draft Planning Obligations SPD) 
should be amended to ensure that policies do not exceed the results 
provided within the Council’s revised viability evidence base. 

See response to representation ref 019. 
 
The refreshed SPD does not set out a 
minimum city-wide requirement of 20% 
affordable housing provision as was set 
out in the draft SPD. Instead policy OB1 
of the refreshed SPD identifies that 
where the January 2019 viability 
assessment indicated that development 
would not be viable for affordable 
housing, the policy requirements have 
been changed to ‘By negotiation’. This 
reflects the approach to the provision of 
affordable housing set out in saved UDP 
policy H4, and paragraph 64 of the 
NPPF which requires that planning 
policies and decisions should expect at 
least 10% of the homes in major 
developments to be available for 
affordable home ownership (subject to 
certain exemptions). 

026 Progressive 
Living (Turley 
on behalf of) 

Policy OB3 Affordable Housing  
The policy sets out that development of 25 or more dwellings shall 
deliver 25% of those dwelling as affordable housing. Increased levels of 
affordable housing are required if the scheme is located within higher 

The requirements for affordable housing 
are set out in policy OB1 of the 
refreshed SPD. The policy sets out that 
20% of units in build to rent schemes, 

P
age 224



117 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

value area of the city. The policy are provides advice in respect of the 
type and tenure of affordable housing to be delivered (social rented, 
affordable rent and shared ownership).  
 
The final paragraph of the policy reads as follows:  
 
“The requirement for affordable housing set out in this policy applies to 
all types of self-contained residential accommodation including 
retirement dwellings, and also to co-living developments. In build to rent 
developments, affordable housing shall be provided through OB4. Other 
housing that is not in the form of individual units of self-contained 
accommodation as may be seen for example in care homes and 
nursing homes, will not be required to provide affordable housing.”  
 
Progressive Living strongly objects to this policy as it incorrectly 
requires affordable housing to be provided through co-living 
developments.  
 
The co-living concept is well established in the USA and Europe but it is 
only emerging within the UK housing market (principally in London) and 
designed to appeal towards a new generation of occupiers. In simple 
terms, co-living is a form of residential development and a way of living 
that centres on the concepts of “community” and “social involvement” to 
provide a vibrant work/life hub for residents. The product ultimately 
extends the living convenience of purpose built student accommodation 
to recent graduates and young professionals offering fully furnished 
accommodation within shared apartments (with shared 
cooking/eating/living accommodation) with access to a range of 
centralised community facilities, pro-active management and all-
inclusive bills. The co-living model in particular is designed to 
encourage a community living experience which addresses cost issues 

including co-living developments, should 
be in the form of affordable private rent 
at a minimum rent discount of 20% 
relative to local market rents (inclusive 
of service charges). This approach is 
fully consistent with the NPPG and 
therefore does not requires specific 
viability work to be undertaken as part of 
the plan making stage. 

P
age 225



118 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

with city centre living as well as seeking to address the issues of 
isolation that can arise in conventional apartments dwelling.  
 
Emerging co-living developments have been classed as a Sui-generis 
use. Indeed, SCC has recently supported this position on a recent 
mixed use development at Salford Quays7. A distinctive characteristic of 
a dwelling house is the ability to provide private domestic existence for 
its occupiers8. The type of units provided in co-living schemes (with an 
apartment providing a number of bedrooms for different residents 
situated around a communal kitchen/living space) do not have the 
exclusive or self-contained facilities required for everyday private 
domestic use. 
 
It is wrong, therefore, for the policy to assert that co-living developments 
is a type of self-contained residential development as it plainly doesn’t 
share the same characteristics of a private dwelling or apartment. 
Moreover, as co-living apartments genuinely consist of clusters of 
bedrooms rather than housing units, it clearly could not deliver the types 
and tenures of affordable housing the policy anticipates.  
Any reference to co-living within the policy OB3 should therefore be 
removed entirely. 
 
Similar to co-living developments, B2R developments are under unified 
ownership and management but generally have access to a wide range 
of amenities within the development ranging from communal areas, 
cinema, gyms, libraries and concierge services. A crucial difference 
however, is that the apartments are self-contained and let separately. 
As a product, there are also more expensive to rent as residents are 

                                                           
7 Application Ref: 18/72756/OUT   
8 See Gravesham Borough Council v Secretary of State for the Environment and Another (1984)   

P
age 226



119 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

renting an apartment and paying for the wealth of amenities within the 
building. A co-living development is more targeted to young 
professionals and recent graduates unable to buy or rent and apartment 
but is still is in search of city centre living at an affordable rate. Indeed, it 
is this affordability, along with its quality, that can have a very positive 
impact on the housing market in Salford. There are large and growing 
parts of society that do not qualify for state social housing and cannot 
afford to buy, or event rent, other types of housing products. The co-
living model presents an affordable solution and offers many benefits in 
helping address the city’s housing needs and delivering choice. Again, 
SCC appear to support this proposition through its determination of the 
recent mixed use development scheme at Salford Quays which 
included co-living9.  
 
SCC therefore needs to consider carefully how it provides a suitable 
and flexible policy framework which does not stymie the growth of this 
emerging sector. This includes seriously considering the application of 
any type of affordable housing mechanism given the sector’s use class 
and inherent affordability. Should SCC consider that affordable housing 
requirements do need to be applied, this would likely need to be in the 
form of a financial contribution to bring forward traditional affordable 
housing to meet specific needs or a discounted market approach to a 
proportion of co-living units similar to the proposed policy on B2R 
Developments (OB4). 
 
However, both scenarios would need to be tested in evidence; evidence 
which the City Council does not have. This lack of an evidence base 
would need to be rectified prior to any specific obligation policy on co-
living emerges. 

                                                           
9 See Officers Committee Report on 18/72756/OUT, Planning and Transportation Regulatory Panel, 7th March 2019   

P
age 227



120 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

027 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Policy OB4 Build to rent 
Note in line with representations to the emerging Local Plan, that under 
part (b) the tenancy requirements exceed what is properly a planning 
matter. NPPF Annex 2 Glossary definition of ‘Build to Rent’ only states 
‘Schemes will usually offer longer tenancy agreements of three years or 
more.’ There is no reference to a minimum of 3 years as this policy set 
outs, nor is there any commentary on options to terminate and break 
fees. This is a contractual matter between landlord and tenant and in 
our view wholly outside the planning legislation to impose such controls, 
and there is no policy justification in NPPF nor in the adopted 
development plan to which this policy supplements. Part (b) must be 
deleted and replaced with a statement compliant to NPPF Annex 2 
Glossary or simply omitted as unnecessary. 
 
Also object to part (B) in the payment of the value of the subsidy in an 
affordable private rent to the Council as commuted sum. This again 
exceeds the guidance in NPPF Annex 2 Glossary on ‘Affordable 
housing for rent’. Specifically, the NPPF allows for recycling of subsidy 
for alternative housing provision, however, this is neither explicitly 
required in NPPF nor does it require the Council to act as recipient of 
the recycled subsidy. The is no objection to the Council seeking to 
ensure in the public interest where such existing uses are to be lost to 
recover the subsidy, but it should act as a facilitator and gatekeeper – 
through either S106 agreement on implemented developments or in 
negotiation of new applications for change of use – to enforce the 
provision of NPPF. This may involve it taking receipt of a commuted 
sum, but it cannot be the only course of action open under policy. 
 
It is appreciated the interaction of NPPF and development management 
will be nuanced, and it is difficult to describe in a policy a range of 

Given that the city council has narrowed 
the scope of the review of the SPD, 
policy OB4 of the Draft SPD has not 
been carried forward as part of the 
refresh of the 2015 SPD.  
 
However, policy OB1 of the refreshed 
SPD on affordable housing notes that in 
the case of build to rent schemes, 20% 
of units should be in the form of 
affordable private rent at a minimum 
rent discount of 20% relative to local 
market rents (inclusive of service 
charges), in accordance with National 
Planning Practice Guidance on Build to 
Rent (Paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 60-
002). 
 
No reference is made in the refreshed 
SPD to minimum tenancy agreements 
or circumstances where the change of 
affordable private rent dwellings to 
another tenure will be permitted. 
Planning applications for build to rent 
schemes will therefore be determined 
having regard to the definition of build to 
rent in the NPPF and also the 
associated planning guidance.  

P
age 228



121 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

circumstances. However, this cannot justify poor policy that is 
inconsistent to NPPF. 

028 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Policy OB5 Vacant building credit 
It is questioned whether this merits a policy. NPPF 16(f) clearly states 
plan makers should avoid unnecessary duplication of policies, including 
the Framework and, in our view, the PPG that supports it. In the 
circumstance we consider cross reference to PPG is of greater value, 
particularly as PPG is a live document that is periodically reviewed and 
may render the SPD quickly out of date. 

Given that the city council has narrowed 
the scope of the review of the SPD, 
policy OB5 of the Draft SPD has not 
been carried forward as part of the 
refresh of the 2015 SPD.  
 
However, paragraph 5.12 of the 
refreshed SPD sets out the city council’s 
approach to vacant building credit 
having regard to paragraphs 26 to 28 of 
the planning obligations sections of the 
NPPG. It also sets out for the avoidance 
of doubt when vacant building credit will 
not be applied.  

Chapter 6: Open space 

029 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Policy OB6 Open space contributions 
No specific comments on the proposed contributions to open space 
save for the opening remarks on ensuring such contributions are 
supported by UDP polices and are CIL Regulation compliant – noting 
the Government’s intention to permit wider ‘pooling’ of payments when it 
introduces update on the Regulations expected in autumn 2019 on 
latest information. 

Policy OB2 of the refreshed SPD sets 
out the requirement for open space 
contributions.  
 
Paragraph 6.2 identifies that saved UDP 
policy H8 requires new housing 
development to make adequate and 
appropriate provision for formal and 
informal open space, and its 
maintenance over a twenty year period 
– policy OB2 of the refreshed SPD 
supplements policy H8 of the saved 
UDP.   
 

P
age 229



122 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Paragraph 3.5 of the refreshed SPD 
states that Regulation 123 of the CIL 
Regulations previously placed 
limitations on the pooling of planning 
obligations. However, it goes on to state 
that this was deleted by amendment 
regulations that came into force on 1 
September 2019, meaning that there 
are now no limits on pooling planning 
obligations. 
 
Paragraph 3.6 of the refreshed SPD 
identifies that all obligations will meet 
the three statutory tests in Regulation 
122 of the CIL Regulations.   

030 The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB6 Open space contributions 
Policy OB6 sets out the proposed approach to calculating open space 
contributions from new housing development. The policy proposes that 
the contribution towards the provision or improvement of off-site open 
space required by new development is based on the number of bed 
spaces to be provided. For the purposes of Policy OB6, a ‘bed space’ is 
defined as the number of bedrooms within a dwelling, plus one. For 
example, a four bed house is assumed to contain five bed spaces and 
to, therefore, accommodate five persons.  
 
The assumed residential population of each dwelling, based on the 
above approach, is used to calculate the amount of public open space 
to be provided on site or off site via a financial contribution. The level of 
provision required is derived from a ‘per person’ standard. 
 

The refreshed SPD supplements saved 
UDP policy H8, which specifically states 
that financial contributions will be based 
on a standard cost per bed space. The 
SPD needs to be consistent with the 
development plan, and hence it is 
appropriate for it to use a per bed space 
approach.  
 
The overall value of the contribution set 
out in the refreshed SPD is not 
considered to overestimate the total 
impact of new development on open 
space needs, and indeed does not take 
into account parks. Importantly the 
approach in the refreshed SPD carries 

P
age 230



123 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

Consistent with previous representations, Peel maintains that the ‘per 
bed space’ approach does not provide a realistic estimation of open 
space needs of development, as it significantly overestimates the 
realistic residential population of individual housing developments.  
 
Based on the 2011 Census, the average household size in Salford was 
2.19 persons10. The average number of people residing in different 
property sizes was reported as follows: 
 

 1-bed = 1.25 persons  

 2-bed = 1.82 persons  

 3-bed = 2.51 persons  

 4-bed = 3.18 persons  

 5-bed = 3.64 persons  
 
To more accurately reflect the realistic population of a given residential 
development, the above figures should be used. As such, a ‘per 
property’ calculation, based on the above averages and having regard 
to the housing mix proposed, rather than a ‘per bed space’ contribution, 
should be used for the purposes of calculating open space 
contributions.  
 
The approach set out in the current SPD places a significant burden on 
residential developments in requiring the provision of open space on 
site or via commuted sums which is disproportionate to the demand for 
such infrastructure arising from development. This arises from over 
estimating the residential population of individual developments based 
on the approach currently taken. This in turn presents a breach of 
Regulation 122(2)(c) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 

forward an approach that has been 
successfully implemented since 2015 
(and before that in the 2007 version of 
the Planning Obligations SPD).  
 

                                                           
10 DC4405EW - Tenure by household size by number of bedrooms (ONS 2011)   

P
age 231



124 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

2010 (as amended) (‘the CIL Regulations’), which confirms that 
planning obligations must be ‘fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development.’ The current approach does not satisfy this 
test. 

031 Sport England It is noted local standards for outdoor sports have been produced. Local 
standards are not appropriate for outdoor sports because they do not 
and cannot take into account sports catchment areas or the variable 
units of demand for individual pitch/court types. For example, the unit of 
demand for a court/pitch ranges from two people if a tennis court to 30 
people if a full sized adult rugby pitch. In addition the catchment area for 
sports ranges from Ward level if a junior football pitch to Borough wide if 
rugby or hockey. This means the accessibility standards cannot 
accurately reflect where the demand for outdoor sport is derived from.  
 
Quantitative standards are not appropriate because although it is widely 
acknowledged housing growth generates additional demand for sport 
not everyone from that housing site will want to participate in sport. In 
reality the application of standards has led to single pitch sites being 
constructed within housing developments that are unsupported by 
ancillary facilities and are not located in areas of demand. These 
pitches do not contribute to the supply of pitches and all too often 
become informal kick about areas or semi natural open space. A 
guidance note on the inappropriate use of standards for outdoor sport 
has been attached for your information. 
 
The Council has undertaken a Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) which 
should be used as the evidence base to inform developer contributions. 
Sport England formed and continues to form part of the PPS Steering 
Group and is working with the Council to identify what the additional 
demand from population and housing growth will be and what the 
impact on existing playing field will be. The PPS Strategy recommends 

The request to have a separate policy 
relating to contributions for outdoor 
sports provision is noted. However such 
an update would fall outside of the 
scope of the minor refresh SPD, as it 
would involve introducing a new 
formulaic approach. This would be 
contrary to planning practice guidance 
(Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 23b-004-
20190901).  The issues raised within 
this representation will be fully taken into 
account through the Local Plan: 
Development Managements and 
designations process.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 232



125 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

a Developer Contributions Process using information set out in the PPS 
(Part 7) is developed to help establish: 
 

 what the additional demand for sport will be from individual or 
cumulative housing sites, 

 which existing sites need to be improved to increase capacity to 
take the additional demand; and 

 what an appropriate developer contribution should be 
 
Through the PPS Sport England has made a commitment to the Council 
to assist develop the Developer Contributions Process using Strategic 
Planning Tools. The start of that process was to produce Housing 
Growth scenarios in Part 7 of the PPS to estimate the additional 
demand generated by housing by sport and pitch type with capital and 
lifecycle costs. 
 
Footnote 19 attached to paragraph 6.2 of the SPD states the standard 
for outdoor sport has been obtained from a 2007 Study. This Study is 
now very much out of date and is not considered to be robust. Sport 
England would wish to see the Playing Pitch Strategy (2018), which the 
Council has committed to monitoring and reviewing annually, as the 
appropriate evidence base to support this SPD.  
 
Recommendation: As Sport England do not consider the use of 
standards for outdoor sport is appropriate we would wish to see a 
separate Outdoor Sport policy included within the SPD that sets out an 
agreed process for securing contributions where demand is identified. 
Sport England would be happy to assist with the preparation of that 
policy. It should be noted Sport England does not object to the use of 
standards for other open typologies, only outdoor sport.  

Chapter 7: Education 

P
age 233



126 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

032 The Peel Group 
(Turley on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB7: Education contributions 
Policy OB7 seeks to secure financial contributions towards the provision 
of education (primary school) places as part of residential 
developments. As currently drafted, Policy OB7 requires new 
development to fund 100% of new primary school places for which a 
demand arises as a result of the development. It does not, therefore, 
take any account of existing primary school capacity.  
 
Regulation 122(2)(a) of the CIL Regulations states that a planning 
obligation should only be sought where it is necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. In instances where there is 
capacity within primary schools which can be reasonably expected to 
serve the residential population within a new development, this capacity 
should be taken into account in establishing the extent to which the 
development needs to fund the provision of new primary school places. 
The approach within Policy OB7 of the draft SPD should, therefore, be 
revised to ensure that it satisfies the CIL Regulations 

Paragraphs 7.7 to 7.11 of the refreshed 
SPD sets out the rationale for why it is 
appropriate for all new housing 
development to contribute towards the 
requirement for additional pupil places 
on a proportionate basis. This continues 
the approach taken in the adopted 2015 
SPD and is necessary to make 
development acceptable in planning 
terms with reference to the CIL 
regulations.  

033 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Policy OB7 Education contributions and Policy OB8 Setting aside land 
for school provision 
No specific comments on the proposed contributions to education save 
for the opening remarks on ensuring such contributions are supported 
by UDP polices and are CIL Regulation compliant – noting the 
Government’s intention to permit wider ‘pooling’ of payments when it 
introduces update on the Regulations expected in autumn 2019 on 
latest information. 

Policy OB3 of the refreshed SPD sets 
out the calculation of an educations 
contribution for primary school places, 
whilst policy OB4 sets out the approach 
to the setting aside of land for the 
provision of a school.  
 
Paragraph 7.18 of the refreshed SPD 
(which is the introduction to policies 
OB3 and OB4) states that in line with 
saved policy DEV5 of the UDP, the city 
council considers that where a 
development would result in a material 
increase in the requirement for 

P
age 234



127 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

additional pupil places but the developer 
fails to make appropriate provision as 
set out in this SPD, this would justify the 
refusal of planning permission. Policies 
OB3 and OB4 clearly supplement policy 
DEV5 lf the UDP.  
 
Paragraph 3.5 of the refreshed SPD 
states that Regulation 123 of the CIL 
Regulations previously placed 
limitations on the pooling of planning 
obligations. However, it goes on to state 
that this was deleted by amendment 
regulations that came into force on 1 
September 2019, meaning that there 
are now no limits on pooling planning 
obligations. 
 
Paragraph 3.6 of the refreshed SPD 
identifies that all obligations will meet 
the three statutory tests in Regulation 
122 of the CIL Regulations.   

Chapter 8: Transport 

034 Bellway Homes 
(Indigo on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB9 Transport contributions 
Encouraged that transport contributions (policy OB9) will be determined 
by a case by case basis, given that appropriate contributions may be 
lower or higher than the figures set out within the strategic viability 
assessment. 

Comments noted. Policy OB5 of the 
refreshed SPD sets out the policy 
approach to transport contributions.  

035 Canal & River 
Trust 

Policy OB9 Transport contributions 
The MBB Canal has the potential to provide a sustainable transport 
route for walking and cycling, connecting residential areas to 

Policy OB5 of the refreshed SPD sets 
out the policy approach to transport 
contributions. The supporting text to the 

P
age 235



128 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

employment, shops, and local facilities both within Salford and the in the 
neighbouring communities of Bolton. Where development in the vicinity 
of the canal will result in the increased use of the towpath by 
pedestrians and cyclists, it will be reasonable to secure a developer 
contribution towards further improvements to the surface of the towpath 
and/or access improvements. The Trust is therefore generally 
supportive of policy OB9 of the SPD and the supporting text which 
indicates that contributions may be directed towards a range of projects 
including improvement of pedestrian and cycle routes and associated 
facilities.  

policy identifies that it will be appropriate 
to secure planning obligations to ensure 
that new development encourages 
walking cycling and public transport use 
(paragraph 8.2). This is reflected in how 
transport contributions will be spent as 
set out in paragraphs 8.7 and 8.8.  

036 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Policy OB9 Transport contributions 
No specific comments on the proposed contributions to transport save 
for the opening remarks on ensuring such contributions are supported 
by UDP polices and are CIL Regulation compliant – noting the 
Government’s intention to permit wider ‘pooling’ of payments when it 
introduces update on the Regulations expected in autumn 2019 on 
latest information. 

Policy OB5 of the refreshed SPD sets 
out the approach to transport 
contributions. Although the refreshed 
SPD policy does not explicitly specify 
which policies of the saved UDP it is 
supplementing, paragraph 3.11 does set 
out the range of policies that the SPD 
supplements. Policies ST5 (transport 
networks), A8 (impact of development, 
and DEV5 (planning conditions and 
obligations) are of direct relevance to 
policy OB5 of the refreshed SPD. 
 
Paragraph 3.5 of the refreshed SPD 
states that Regulation 123 of the CIL 
Regulations previously placed 
limitations on the pooling of planning 
obligations. However, it goes on to state 
that this was deleted by amendment 
regulations that came into force on 1 
September 2019, meaning that there 

P
age 236



129 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

are now no limits on pooling planning 
obligations. 
 
Paragraph 3.6 of the refreshed SPD 
identifies that all obligations will meet 
the three statutory tests in Regulation 
122 of the CIL Regulations.   

037 Manchester 
Bolton & Bury 
Canal 

Policy OB9 Transport contributions – paragraph 8.5 
Feel the policy should include canal towpaths as they are used by 
cyclists and pedestrians to a great extent. 

Policy OB5 of the refreshed SPD sets 
out the approach to transport 
contributions. The reasoned justification 
to the policy (at paragraph 8.8) sets out 
that transport contributions may be 
directed to the provision or improvement 
of canal towpaths.  

Chapter 9: Public realm 

038 Bellway Homes 
(Indigo on 
behalf of) 

Policy OB10 – Public realm contributions 
Encouraged that public realm contributions will be determined by a case 
by case basis, given that appropriate contributions may be lower or 
higher than the figures set out within the strategic viability assessment. 

Policy OB6 of the refreshed SPD is 
clear that the appropriate scale of public 
realm contributions will be negotiated 
having regard to site-specific 
circumstances.  

039 Canal & River 
Trust 

Policy OB10 – Public realm contributions 
The trust is generally supportive of policy OB10 and reference in the   
supporting text (paragraph 9.5) to development along the line of the 
MBB Canal contributing towards its use as a green transport and 
recreation corridor of the restoration of the canal.  

Paragraph 9.5 (last bullet point) which 
forms part of the introduction to the 
Public Ream Chapter in the refreshed 
SPD notes that the city council supports 
the restoration of the Manchester, 
Bolton and Bury Canal, and that it will 
be appropriate for development along 
the line of the canal to contribute 
towards it restoration or improvement, or 
its use as a green transport and 
recreation corridor.  

P
age 237



130 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

040 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Policy OB10 Public realm contributions 
No objection in principle to the policy but notes that as part of the 
regeneration project at Salford Central incorporates the route of the 
Irwell River Park, the operation of Policy OB10 should allow recognition 
that a development can inherently provide value and support to such 
planning obligations to set aside any additional delivery. Indeed, the 
value may significantly exceed the value sought under policy OB10 and 
should be further set against other planning obligations through the 
operation of Policy OB2 (4) as set out previously in this representation. 
 
Policy OB10 reasoned justification should be more explicit on this point 
providing explanation on the policy point that the appropriate scale of 
any contribution will be negotiated having regard to site-specific 
circumstances. 

Policy OB6 of the refreshed SPD is 
concerned with public realm 
contributions. It is not consider 
appropriate to change the reasoned 
justification as suggested through this 
representation, given that this would fall 
outside of the scope of the refresh. The 
issues raised would however be a 
material consideration as part of the 
determination of any planning 
application.  

041 Manchester 
Bolton & bury 
Canal Society 

Policy OB10 Public realm contributions 
Strongly support policy OB10 and please to see the Manchester Bolton 
and Bury Canal is referenced in paragraph 9.5. 

Reference to the Manchester, Bolton 
and Bury Canal is set in supporting text 
to policy OB6 the refreshed SPD (at 
paragraph 9.4).  

Chapter 10: Other site-specific planning obligations 

042 English Cities 
Fund and L&G 
(DPP on behalf) 

Paragraph 10.2 
Welcome recognition of other site-specific obligations that might arise 
including ecological mitigation, flood defence and pollution controls. 
What is omitted in Chapter 10 is any policy or cross-reference to 
previous Policy OB2, that such other site-specific obligations could of 
themselves set-aside other contributions, such as affordable housing, 
open space or education. It returns to our central theme that the SPD 
policies in operation do not sufficiently consider the impact on 
regeneration projects and that the significant benefits (and costs) arising 
in such schemes may require the wholescale setting aside of the 
ordinary policy requirement on planning contributions. Section 10 would 

As noted elsewhere within the city 
council’s responses, the issues raised 
would be a material consideration in the 
determination of any planning 
application.  

P
age 238



131 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

be improved through a paragraph in the manner of paragraph 5.10 as 
previously set out. 

043 Environment 
Agency 

Paragraph 10.2 
We are pleased to see reference made within section ‘Other site 
specific planning obligations’ to Flood Infrastructure. 
 
We would also encourage an approach for partnership working on wider 
flood management initiatives across the Borough of Salford between 
developers, local community, the Council and ourselves. 

Reference to directing planning 
obligations to flood defence 
infrastructure is set out in paragraph 
10.2 of the refreshed SPD (which is in 
the ‘Other site-specific planning 
obligations’ chapter).  

Chapter 11: Implementation 

044 Canal & River 
Trust 

Paragraph 11.2 
It would be helpful to clarify that any works to be undertaken on third 
party land is likely to require relevant consents from landowners. 

The issue of landownership is 
considered to fall outside of the scope of 
the SPD, and is a civil rather than a 
planning consideration.   

045 English Cities 
Fund (DPP on 
behalf 

Paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3 
The Fund welcomes the commentary in paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3 in 
recognition that a development may be capable of addressing the policy 
requirements set out through the development itself, using the example 
of open space provision.  Once more, the Fund’s interest in Salford 
Central and the significant investment into the public realm and street 
scape has been a fundamental part of the delivery of the phased 
development for over 10 years. It is necessary and vital such benefits 
are fully recognised in the operation of the SPD, and reinforces our 
earlier comments, particularly to Policy OB2 that serves as the gateway 
to reducing and/or setting aside developer contributions for regeneration 
projects where justified. 

Comments noted. Paragraphs 11.2 and 
11.3 of the draft SPD have been carried 
forward into the refreshed SPD (also at 
paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3).  

046 L& G (DPP on 
behalf of) 

Paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3 
L&G welcomes the commentary in paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3 in 
recognition that a development may be capable of addressing the policy 
requirements set out through the development itself, using the example 
of open space provision.  

Comments noted. Paragraphs 11.2 and 
11.3 of the draft SPD have been carried 
forward into the refreshed SPD (also at 
paragraphs 11.2 and 11.3). 

P
age 239



132 
 

Ref Organisation 
(and Agent 
where 
applicable) 

Representation  Council response and implications for 
the refreshed SPD 

 
L&G’s interest is in the Ralli Quays site within Salford Central (‘New 
Bailey’). A feature of the regeneration project led by English Cities Fund 
has been the significant investment into the public realm and street 
scape fundamental to the successful delivery of the phased 
development for over 10 years. It is necessary and vital such benefits 
are fully recognised in the operation of the SPD, and reinforces our 
earlier comments, particularly to Policy OB2 that serves as the gateway 
to reducing and/or setting aside developer contributions for regeneration 
projects where justified. 

Annex A: Detailed methodology for deriving open space provision costs 

047 Sport England Irrespective of the comments made to Chapter 6 / policy OB6 about the 
use of standards for outdoor sports the calculations are inaccurate and 
based on out of date Facility Costs. Sport England has developed a 
New Development Pitch Calculator which is the starting point for 
estimating the amount of demand that is likely to be derived from 
housing either over the Local Plan period or from individual or 
cumulative housing schemes. An indicative capital and lifecycle cost, 
based on Sport England’s up to date Facility Costs, is attributed to the 
additional demand which can be used to secure a cost per dwelling or 
contribution per scheme. The New Development Pitch Calculator can 
only be accessed from Sport England so please contact the 
undersigned for more information. 

See city council’s response to comment 
made by Sport England to Chapter 6 / 
policy OB6.  

 

P
age 240



1 
 

 
 

Community Impact Assessment (CIA) 
 

Title of proposal: Refresh of the 2015 Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

Service Group/ Team: PLACE – Spatial Planning 

Date of assessment: 25 October 2019 

Lead CIA Officer: Matt Doherty 

Officers in Assessment 
Team: 

Matt Doherty, Jimmy McManus, Cheryl Ma 

Review Date: December 2021 

 
The findings of your CIA MUST be included within the report for decision and 
this document attached as evidence of your consideration of potential impact 
on communities. 
 

Summary of Community Impact Assessment 
 
Brief summary of proposal or what you are impact assessing 
The city council is reviewing its approach to securing planning obligations from 
development as set out in its current 2015 adopted Planning Obligations 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The SPD sits alongside the framework 
established via the relevant saved policies of the Salford Unitary Development Plan 
 
How did you approach the CIA and what did you find? 
The direct impact of the SPD will fall on developers of new residential and 
commercial development, in terms of the developer contributions required towards 
affordable housing and other planning obligation requirements. There could however 
be an indirect impact on communities insofar as developers may seek to pass on 
some of the costs associated with complying with the SPD requirements to those 
purchasing or leasing new development. In setting sales and rental values, any 
developer must however have regard to market values and therefore the extent to 
which costs can be passed on will necessarily be limited as there will always be a 
ceiling value which can be achieved within the market. Any negative impact for 
people seeking to purchase or lease new development within Salford is therefore 
likely to be limited. 
 
The application of the SPD policies will have positive impacts in terms of community 
cohesion. The affordable housing policy encourages the on-site provision of 
affordable housing in order to promote the creation of mixed communities, which 
should result in a positive impact on community cohesion by ensuring the provision 
of a range of tenures within new housing development. The SPD also requires that 
the provision of affordable housing will be negotiated as part of all planning 
applications above the thresholds for when affordable housing should be provided. 
The application of the open space and public realm policy requirements will support 
investment in the provision or improvement of public spaces, which should have a 
positive impact on community cohesion by providing high quality spaces for all 

Page 241



2 
 

communities to interact. 
 
What are the main areas requiring further attention? 
The basis of the contributions for open space and education is that the value of the 
required contribution increases in line within the number of bedrooms within a 
dwelling. The financial requirement will therefore be greater from dwellings 
comprising a greater number of bedrooms. 
 
Where a developer passes these costs on in terms of the sales value of the dwelling, 
it could result in an increase in the sales price of new-build dwellings. This may 
impact on those groups whose race, religion or beliefs mean that they typically have 
larger families and therefore generally require properties with a greater number of 
bedrooms. 
 
However, the scale of the financial contributions is proportionate to the number of 
bedrooms within a dwelling and therefore the policy is not of itself discriminatory as it 
reflects a proportionate charge associated with the number of people who are likely 
to reside in the dwelling. Furthermore, as identified above, the extent to which a 
developer can pass on these costs to those who would be purchasing or leasing new 
homes will necessarily be limited as there will always be a ceiling value which can be 
achieved within the local housing market. These costs are therefore likely to be 
absorbed by the developer or landowner, in terms of the value that a landowner can 
expect to receive in selling land for development.  
 
Any potential negative impact on communities would only apply to persons who 
would be purchasing a new-build dwelling, and therefore existing communities who 
remain within their existing home, or move to a non-new build dwelling would face no 
potential for any negative impact. The decision to purchase a new build dwelling is a 
choice which a purchaser makes according to their preferences and with regard to 
other dwellings available on the market, and therefore any negative impact arising 
from the application of the SPD policies would not automatically be imposed on any 
particular community or group comprising protected characteristics.   
 
There is not therefore considered to be any requirement for further action. 
 
Summary of recommendations for improvement 
Not applicable 
 
 

Page 242



3 
 

 

1. The proposal 

 
This section should outline details of the proposal. This could include (where 
applicable) 
 

 Description of the current service (policy, procedure, strategy, function) 

 Explanation of the proposal 

 Reason for the proposal 

 Aim or purpose of the proposal 

 Who should benefit from the proposal 

 Who are the key stakeholders 

 What outcomes are required from the proposal 

 Details of other services on which the proposal could impact  

 Social value considerations 
 

  

The city council currently secures planning obligations from new development within 
the city via section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Planning 
obligations are sought in order to mitigate the impact of new development, and to make 
development acceptable in planning terms. Planning obligations can be secured to 
support the delivery of a wide range of infrastructure, such as the provision of 
affordable housing, the improvement of open space, the delivery of transport 
improvements, or the expansion of schools to create additional places. 
 
The Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) that was adopted 
in 2015 has provided a clear framework that has been successful at securing planning 
obligations (such as for open space, public realm, transport, education facilities and 
affordable housing). However, since the SPD was adopted in 2015 there have been 
changes to national policy, guidance and legislation. Given this, the city council 
consulted on a draft Planning Obligations SPD between January and March 2019 (this 
consultation was informed by an earlier scoping exercise in 2018); the draft 
represented a comprehensive update to the approach in the 2015 version, including 
the introduction of new policies and also formulaic approaches to the calculation of 
obligations.  
 
However, in September 2019 the government updated planning practice guidance to 
state that introducing new formulaic approaches should not be done through new 
SPDs, as such requirements should be set through local plans and independently 
examined through this process. Given this, and taking into account similar comments 
received at the draft stage, a decision was taken to not proceed with a comprehensive 
review of the SPD. Instead, the city council has instead carried out a minor refresh of 
the 2015 adopted SPD that does not involve changing existing formulas or introducing 
new ones, or changing the overall approach. 
 
The refresh of the 2015 SPD has involved only minor alterations with the overall 
approach remaining unchanged. In addition to limited changes required to explain the 
refresh, there have been updates to factual references such as to national policy, 
guidance and legislation, and also changes to provide improved clarity This refresh has 
been undertaken within the framework established via the relevant saved policies of 
the Salford Unitary Development Plan (UDP) that was subject to independent 
examination before being approved.  

 

Page 243



4 
 

When determining planning applications for new development, the city council has to 
weigh up a broad range of considerations to ensure that the development would be 
acceptable. One of those considerations is whether the development would generate a 
need for new or improved infrastructure, services or facilities, without which the 
development may be unacceptable. The SPD seeks to ensure that all stakeholders 
(including landowners, developers and members of the public) have a clear 
understanding of how the city council will seek to ensure that for new or improved 
infrastructure, services or facilities are provided as part of new developments (having 
regard to issues of financial viability). 
 
A wide range of stakeholders have the potential to benefit from the new SPD and have 
had the opportunity to make representations to shape the strategy. The stakeholders 
have included local residents, developers, landowners, and statutory consultees. 
Developers and landowners in particular, will benefit through a clear understanding of 
the planning obligation requirements of the city. Members of the public will benefit from 
greater transparency given that viability assessments submitted with planning 
applications should be made public apart from in exceptional circumstances. 
 
The refreshed SPD will also be important for different parts of the city council given it 
covers a wide range of issues and cross cutting themes, such as open space, public 
realm, transport, affordable housing. 
 

Page 244



5 
 

 

2. Evidence and research 

 
What equality information (qualitative and quantitative), research or other intelligence 
have you used to develop this proposal? 
 
This can include; equality monitoring information, census data, customer satisfaction 
surveys and feedback, inspection reports, desktop research (local, regional and 
national), professional journals, feedback from individuals and groups. Details of 
information considered when assessing the impact should be published (whilst 
ensuring individual confidentiality). 
 

Information source What has this told you? 

National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and 
National Planning Policy 
Guidance (NPPG) 
 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) states 
that local planning authorities should consider whether 
otherwise unacceptable development could be made 
acceptable through the use of conditions or planning 
obligations (paragraph 54). Planning obligations should 
only be sought where they meet three tests as set out 
in paragraph 56 of the NPPF. These are: 
 
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in 
planning terms;  
b) directly related to the development; and  
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development 
 
The government has also published National Planning 
Policy Guidance in relation to planning obligations 
(published in May 2016 and last updated 1 September 
2019).  
 
In refreshing the 2015 SPD full account has had to be 
taken of the NPPF and the NPPG.  
 

Salford Planning Obligations 
SPD (adopted version 2015) 
 

The 2015 SPD provides an established baseline 
document of policies and guidance, which has been 
refreshed to take into account changes since its 
publication. 

Scoping consultation  
(March to April 2018) 
 

Feedback from interested organisations and individuals 
in relation to the proposed review of the planning 
obligations SPD, highlighting information that it should 
include and expand upon. 10 representations were 
received from organisations including statutory 
consultees, and landowners.  

Draft Planning Obligations  
(January to March 2019) 

Feedback was similar to the scoping consultation but 
provided more detailed comments, particularly 
suggested changes and additions to specific policies 
and comments. 

Planning obligations income 
and expenditure 
 

Information on a per annum basis is set out showing 
planning obligations income and expenditure. Analysis 
of this shows where the city council has been 
successful in securing planning obligations and is a 

Page 245



6 
 

consideration that has helped inform the review of the 
SPD.  

 
 

Page 246



7 
 

 

3. Engagement / Consultation 

 
When considering your proposal, you should be engaging with individuals and groups covering the following protected characteristics 
(You can use evidence from existing consultations if this evidence is relevant to your proposal): 

 

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnership 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

 Religion and belief 

 Sexual orientation 
 

We also advise you to consult people on a low income, carers, ex-offenders, refugees and people seeking asylum, gypsies 
and travellers, where appropriate. 
 
You should detail below your engagement activities (Please note; you must ensure individual confidentiality) 
 

Date(s) of 
engagement 

Who was involved? 
 

Main issues identified 

Scoping 
consultation  
(9 March 2018 to 6 
April 2019) 
 

The city council sought the views 
of stakeholders and consultees 
through a scoping consultation 
letter on its intention to undertake 
a review of the 2015 Planning 
Obligations SPD.  
 
The city council consulted 503 
consultees registered on its 
planning consultee database, 

10 organisations and individuals submitted representations on the scoping 
consultation, whilst 2 organisations responded to confirm they had no 
comments. A summary of the main issues is set out below. 
 
Priorities for planning obligations 
A number of the respondents commented in relation to what the priorities 
should be for planning obligations. In particular, it was suggested that the 
following should be identified: the mosslands; flood defences; watercourses; 
the Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal;  allotments; health; semi-natural 
green spaces; biodiversity; rail stations; and transport assessments. One 

P
age 247



8 
 

including all statutory 
consultation bodies together with 
other consultees who the city 
council considered may have an 
interest in the production of this 
document. This included 
housebuilders, developers and 
landowners, together with 
property and planning agents, 
and residents and community 
groups who had previously 
expressed an interest or 
submitted representations on 
related planning policy 
documents. Details of the 
scoping consultation were also 
published on the city council’s 
website and an electronic version 
of the letter was available to 
download. A copy of the letter 
was available to view at all local 
libraries. 
 

respondent commented that sports pitch requirements should be made 
separate to wider requirements for open space. 

 
Flexibility in application of policy 
Comments were received with regards to the need for flexibility, particularly 
the need to take into account the implications of planning obligations on 
financial viability. 
 
Calculation of particular obligations 
Two respondents made comments with regards to how certain obligations 
are calculated under 2015 adopted Planning Obligations SPD. These 
related to how open space contributions are calculated for outline planning 
applications where the precise mix of dwellings is unknown, and also the 
principle of using a per bedspace figure for calculating open space 
contributions 
 
Transparency 
Two representations offered support for making the planning obligations 
process more transparent, particularly around viability assessments. 
However the issue of commercial sensitivity was raised in relation to how 
this should be implemented. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
One representation was received from a statutory consultee which identified 
that SEA of the revised SPD would only be required in exceptional 
circumstances.  

Draft Planning 
Obligations SPD 
consultation (25 
January 2019 to 2 
Match 2019) 

The city council sought the views 
of stakeholders and consultees 
through a consultation letter 
regarding the draft Planning 
Obligations SPD.  
 
The city council consulted 2,066 

13 organisations and individuals submitted representations on the public 
consultation. A summary of the main issues is set out below. 
 
Legal tests for planning obligations 
General support for producing an updated planning obligations SPD in line 
with the tests as set out in the NPPF. Account needs to be had to updated 
planning guidance from March 2019 and the SPD should not be adopted 

P
age 248



9 
 

consultees registered on its 
planning consultee database, 
including all statutory 
consultation bodies together with 
other consultees who the city 
council considered may have an 
interest in the production of this 
document. This included 
residents and community groups, 
housebuilders, developers and 
landowners who had previously 
expressed an interest or 
submitted representations on 
related planning policy 
documents.  
 
Details of the consultation were 
also published on the city 
council’s website, and an 
electronic version of the letter 
was available to download. A 
copy of the letter and draft SPD 
was available to view at all local 
libraries. 
 

until new CIL regulations are in place.  
 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) / Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
Natural England stated that they have reviewed the council’s Draft SA and 
SEA determination statement that was published alongside the Draft SPD 
and agree with its conclusions that a SA or SEA is not required.  
 
Viability evidence 
One consultee commented that the city council had over-estimated 
estimated the viability of development. Another respondent raised concerns 
with some of the council’s assumptions and also questioned why only the 
viability of residential development had been assessed. 
 
Policy OB1 – Artificial splitting of sites 
There was general support for the approach that seeks to ensure that 
developers do not artificially split sites (to below the thresholds in the 
policies) to avoid planning obligations. 
 
Policy OB2 – Reduced planning obligations 
The approach to accepting reduced obligations having regard to viability 
evidence was supported by a number of the consultees, although two 
respondents wanted the SPD to be updated to specifically refer to 
regeneration benefits being a circumstance where reduced obligations are 
acceptable. 
 
Policy OB3 – Affordable housing 
It was commented that the proposed 50% affordable housing requirement in 
some parts of the city would have a fundamental impact on delivery of new 
homes. A number of respondents also commentated that the affordable 
housing requirements in the policy are contrary to the viability evidence 
prepared by the council; in particular the minimum 20% affordable 
requirement ignores the evidence that affordable housing is not viable in 
certain areas. It was stated by one respondent that affordable housing 
requirements in policy OB3 should not apply to co-living developments, 

P
age 249



10 
 

instead a financial contribution or discounted market dwellings should be 
sought.   
 
Policy OB4 – Build to rent  
Two responses were received to state that wording relating to a minimum 
tenancy of 3 years (subject to break clauses) should be amended to provide 
greater flexibility as set out in the NPPF.  
 
Policy OB5 – Vacant building credit 
The merits of this policy were questioned by two respondents on the basis 
that it duplicates the NPPF and associated planning practice guidance.  
 
Policy OB6 – Open space contributions 
The Peel Group commented that a per-person approach to calculating 
contributions significantly over-estimates the realistic approach of individual 
housing developments, having regard to household size in the Census. 
Therefore a per-property contribution should be made having regard to the 
Census average data. Sport England noted that the policy applies local 
standards for outdoor sports; they recommend that a separate Outdoor 
Sport policy should be prepared instead that has regard to the 2018 Playing 
Pitch Strategy prepared by the council, and Sport England’s New 
Development Pitch Calculator and up to date Facility Costs.   
 
Policy OB7 – Education 
It was commented that the policy should be amended so that any 
contribution sought takes into account the capacity of exiting primary 
schools.  
 
Policy OB9 – Transport contributions  
Support was given to transport contributions being determined on a case by 
case basis, although one respondent wanted specific reference to canal 
towpath improvements as part of seeking contributions. 
 
Policy OB10 – Public realm 

P
age 250



11 
 

Support was given to transport contributions being determined on a case by 
case basis, and reference to the Manchester Bolton and Bury Canal. Two 
respondents commented that on site public realm works should be taken 
into account when determining the scale of any contributions for public 
realm.  

P
age 251



12 
 

 

4. Assessing the impact 

 
From your evidence gathering, you will have identified potential disproportionate negative impacts. Please provide details and 
your actions to overcome these below. We would also like to know if there will be any positive impacts that your proposals will 
make to improve equalities: 

 Potential impact: If the proposal could result in some groups (including customers and/or staff) being disadvantaged or 
treated unfairly 

 Mitigations and actions: Where there is a potential for disadvantage or unfair treatment, what are your plans to 
eliminate, reduce, mitigate or justify it? Could making these changes have a negative effect on any other group(s)? 
Explain why and what you will do about this. You should include details of who will be responsible for the actions and 
target dates for completion:  

 Promoting Equality: Could the proposal result in an opportunity to promote equality or inclusion? Explain how. 
 
Please note: this table will form the basis of your action plan. 

Protected 
characteristic 
or other group 

Potential 
impact 

Mitigations 
and actions 

Responsible 
officer 

Target 
date 

Promoting equality 

Age  Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any negative impact on a particular age 
range. 
 
The application of the education contribution policies within 
the SPD will ensure that the primary level education 
provision requirements generated by new housing 
development can be effectively met. This will result in 
positive outcomes for children of primary age and below 
within Salford. It will also result in positive outcomes for 
families with primary age children by supporting the 

P
age 252



13 
 

Protected 
characteristic 
or other group 

Potential 
impact 

Mitigations 
and actions 

Responsible 
officer 

Target 
date 

Promoting equality 

provision of sufficient primary school places. The 
application of the open space, transport and public realm 
policy requirements will result in positive impacts across all 
age ranges as they will secure financial contributions which 
will be directed to the provision or improvement of 
infrastructure and services.  
 

Disability Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any negative impact on people with a 
disability.   
 
The application of the open space and public realm policy 
requirements will support investment in the provision or 
improvement of public spaces (including a wide range of 
greenspace and areas of hard landscaping), which offers 
the potential to have a positive impact for people with a 
disability by providing high quality spaces which are 
accessible to all. 
 

Gender  Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any differential impact on people 
according to gender equality. 
 

Gender Not anticipated to have a   The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 

P
age 253



14 
 

Protected 
characteristic 
or other group 

Potential 
impact 

Mitigations 
and actions 

Responsible 
officer 

Target 
date 

Promoting equality 

reassignment negative impact apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any differential impact on people in terms 
of gender reassignment. 

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any differential impact on people in terms 
of marriage and civil partnership.  

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any differential impact on people in terms 
of pregnancy and maternity. 

Race Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The basis of the contributions for open space 
and education is that the value of the required contribution 
increases in line within the number of bedrooms within a 
dwelling. The financial requirement will therefore be greater 
from dwellings comprising a greater number of bedrooms. 
 
Where a developer passes these costs on in terms of the 
sales value of the dwelling, it could result in an increase in 
the sales price of new-build dwellings. This may impact on 
those racial groups which typically have larger families and 
therefore generally require properties with a greater number 

P
age 254



15 
 

Protected 
characteristic 
or other group 

Potential 
impact 

Mitigations 
and actions 

Responsible 
officer 

Target 
date 

Promoting equality 

of bedrooms. 
 
However, the scale of the financial contributions is 
proportionate to the number of bedrooms within a dwelling 
and therefore the policy is not of itself discriminatory as it 
reflects a proportionate charge associated with the number 
of people who are likely to reside in the dwelling.  
 
Any potential negative impact would only apply to persons 
who would be purchasing a new-build dwelling, and 
therefore existing communities who remain within their 
existing home, or move to a non-new build dwelling would 
face no potential for any negative impact. The decision to 
purchase a new build dwelling is a choice which a 
purchaser makes according to their preferences and with 
regard to other dwellings available on the market, and 
therefore any negative impact arising from the application of 
the SPD policies would not automatically be imposed on 
any particular community or group comprising protected 
characteristics. 
 
The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
not result in any positive differential impact on any particular 
racial group.   
 

Religion and 
belief 

Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any differential impact on people in terms 

P
age 255



16 
 

Protected 
characteristic 
or other group 

Potential 
impact 

Mitigations 
and actions 

Responsible 
officer 

Target 
date 

Promoting equality 

of religion and belief. 
 

Sexual 
orientation 

Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any differential impact on people in terms 
of sexual orientation. 

Other groups  Not anticipated to have a 
negative impact 

  The application of the planning obligations SPD policies will 
apply to all development that meets the identified scale 
thresholds. The impact of the financial requirements will 
therefore fall evenly across new development and will not 
therefore result in any differential impact on people in terms 
of other equality groups. 

P
age 256



17 
 

 

5. Assessing the impact on community cohesion  

Community cohesion is what must happen in all communities to enable different groups of people to get on well together. A 
key contributor to community cohesion is integration which is what must happen to enable new residents and existing residents 
to adjust to one another. 

An integrated and cohesive community is based on three foundations: 

 People from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities. 
 People knowing their rights and responsibilities. 
 People trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly. 

And three ways of living together: 

 A shared future vision and sense of belonging. 
 A focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside a recognition of the value of diversity. 
 Strong and positive relationships between people from different backgrounds. 

Detail below if the proposals is likely to impact on community cohesion, including if there is likely to be a positive impact. 

The application of the open space and public realm policy requirements will support investment in the provision or improvement of 
public spaces, which should have a positive impact on community cohesion by providing high quality spaces for all communities to 
interact. 

The affordable housing policy within the SPD encourages the on-site provision of affordable housing in order to promote the creation 
of mixed communities, which should result in a positive impact on community cohesion by ensuring the provision of a range of 
tenures within new housing development. 

The application of the education contribution policies within the SPD will ensure that the primary level education provision 
requirements generated by new housing development can be effectively met. This will help to ensure that there are sufficient primary 
pupil places available to meet requirements, and avoid any potential for overcrowding of schools. In this way, it should assist in 

P
age 257



18 
 

preventing the issue of a shortage of primary school places becoming a point of tension between communities. In this way it will 
support community cohesion.  

 

 

 

  

P
age 258



19 
 

 
6. Monitoring 
 
You should ensure that any actions within your CIA are monitored and reviewed regularly within Covalent. You should review 
progress on your action plan annually. 

 
7. Review 

 
Your CIA should be reviewed after the proposals have been implemented to review actual impact. You should record an 
appropriate review date below.  

 

Review 
Date 

 December 2021 

 
8. Sign off  

 
When you have completed your CIA, it must be signed off by a senior manager within your service group (Assistant Director or 
above).  
 

Name 
 

Signature Date 

Chris Findley 
Assistant Director - Planning 
 

 

25 October 2019 

 
 

When your CIA has been signed off and after the decision has been made, send it to Equalities&Cohesion Team  in Policy and 
Strategy for publishing on the council’s website.  

 
 
 

P
age 259

mailto:Equalities&CohesionTeam@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/impact-assess.htm


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public
ITEM NO.

___________________________________________________________________

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR PLANNING AND SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT 

___________________________________________________________________

TO CABINET  
ON 26 NOVEMBER 2019

___________________________________________________________________

TITLE: Review of the Statement of Community Involvement 
___________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the City Mayor in consultation with the Cabinet:

1. Notes the Review of the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)

2. Approves the intention to update the SCI, with timescales to be determined once 
the Local Plan has progressed further  

3. Notes that the city council’s website will be updated in line with recommendations 
i) and ii) 
___________________________________________________________________

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out the city council’s approach 
to community engagement in the production of formal planning documents and the 
determination of planning applications.  The city council’s SCI was adopted in 
January 2010.  Under current legislation the city council must review its SCI at least 
once every five years to ensure that its content remains relevant.

There have been a number of significant changes since the SCI was adopted 
including legislative requirements, revisions to regulations governing the plan making 
and development management processes, updates to national policy and guidance, 
and an increased use of digital technology and social media.  Given these changes it 
is considered that the SCI should be updated.  

However, it is proposed that given the current focus of resources on the Local Plan 
and Greater Manchester Spatial Framework processes, that the updating of the SCI 
should not commence until the Local Plan has progressed further.  In the interim, it is 
proposed that the intentions towards the future updating of the SCI be published on 
the city council’s website.  
___________________________________________________________________

Page 261

Agenda Item 6



2

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: None.

___________________________________________________________________

KEY DECISION: Yes
___________________________________________________________________

ON FORWARD LOOK:   Yes 
___________________________________________________________________

DETAILS:

1. Introduction

1.1 The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out the city council's 
approach to community engagement in the production of formal planning 
documents and the determination of planning applications. It aims to increase 
public involvement in the planning processes and give more certainty to those 
wishing to get involved in the planning process. It sets out who may be 
involved, by what method and at what point in the process of document 
production or in the determination of planning applications.

1.2 Under regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)1, the city council must review its 
SCI at least once every five years, starting from its adoption date, to ensure 
that its contents remain relevant. This requirement was introduced more than 
five years after the adoption of Salford’s SCI, which was in January 2010, but 
it is considered appropriate to review the SCI at this time.

2. Statement of Community Involvement Review

2.1 A copy of the review of the Statement of Community Involvement is attached 
in Appendix A.

2.2 There have been a number of significant changes since the SCI was adopted 
in January 2010 including:

 Legislative requirements extending the scope of the SCI to include the 
survey of area stage of plan-making, the local development scheme and 
the approach to neighbourhood planning

 Revisions to regulations governing the plan-making and development 
management processes

 Updates to national policy and guidance
 Increased use of digital technology and social media.

1 HM Government (December 2017) Statutory Instrument 2017 No. 1244: The Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017

Page 262



3

2.3 In light of these changes it is considered that the SCI should be updated.  In 
addition to responding to the above changes, it is also considered appropriate 
to revisit the overall approach in the SCI to public involvement in planning to 
ensure that it remains relevant and inclusive. 

3 Proposed next steps 

3.1 Although the SCI requires updating, it is not considered to be creating any 
significant issues in its current form – as set out in the attached Review and 
especially given the advanced stage that has been reached in the Local Plan 
process.  It is therefore proposed that the update does not commence until 
the Local Plan has progressed further within the next 12 – 18 months.

3.2 In the interest of keeping residents informed it is also considered appropriate 
to set out on the city council’s website the position with regards to the SCI and 
the future intentions for it to be updated.

4 Relationship to Greater Manchester Spatial Framework

4.1 In relation to the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework (GMSF), if this is to 
be progressed as a Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) (subject to a change 
in the Regulations) a separate consultation statement would be produced for 
the SDS by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority which would set out 
minimum consultation requirements and would apply to all of the 10 Greater 
Manchester districts.  It would also be consistent with the city council’s SCI 
requirements.

5 Recommendation

5.1 It is recommended that the City Mayor in consultation with the Cabinet:

i) Notes the Review of the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
ii) Approves the intention to update the SCI, with timescales to be determined 
once the Local Plan has progressed further
iii) Notes that the city council’s website will be updated in line with 
recommendations i) and ii). 

___________________________________________________________________

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: 

 Unitary Development Plan 
___________________________________________________________________

COMMUNITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

Not applicable at this time.  The Review of the SCI is only to establish if the 
document requires updating.   A Community Impact Assessment will be required 
when the SCI is updated.

Page 263



4

___________________________________________________________________

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low.  Although there have been changes to national and 
regional policy the current SCI is not inconsistent with national policy and it is still 
possible to understand the city council’s approach to involving people in the planning 
process until such time as resources are available and the SCI is updated.

___________________________________________________________________

 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: supplied by the Shared Legal Service (SLS) 
The Local Planning Authority is required to review the Statement of Community 
Involvement at least once in every 5 years to assess if it needs updating.  As part of 
that review the Local Planning Authority must take into account changing 
circumstances affecting the area and any relevant changes in national policy.  So 
long as the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that it has carried out this 
assessment correctly, and it’s conclusion to delay the full update is reasonable in the 
circumstances, then there should be minimal risk of challenge to the decision set out 
in this report.

___________________________________________________________________

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: supplied by Martin Anglesey, Finance Officer 0161 793 
3248.  There are no costs associated with this review.

___________________________________________________________________

 PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 
___________________________________________________________________

 HR IMPLICATIONS: Not applicable 
___________________________________________________________________

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:

Not applicable. 
___________________________________________________________________

CONTACT OFFICER: Amelia Lucas TEL. NO. 0161 793 3287
___________________________________________________________________

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATE(S): All. 

Page 264



 10 October 2019

1

Review of the Statement of Community Involvement 

 10 October 2019

1. Introduction

1.1 Under regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)1, the city council must review its 
Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) at least once every five years, 
starting from its adoption date, to ensure that its contents is kept up to date 
and remain relevant, to ensure effective community involvement at all stages 
of the planning process and to reflect any changes to engagement.  This 
requirement was introduced more than five years after the adoption of 
Salford’s SCI, which was in January 2010, but it is considered appropriate to 
review the SCI at this time.

2. National changes since the SCI was adopted

Changes to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

2.1 Section 13 of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 amended section 18 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (the 2004 Act) to expand 
the local authority functions that the SCI needs to cover, to include:

 Section 13 of the 2004 Act: Survey of local area. This requires the city 
council to keep under review the matters which may be expected to 
affect the development of its area or the planning of its development.

 Section 15 of the 2004 Act: Local development scheme. This requires 
the city council to prepare and maintain a scheme that identifies the 
timetable for the preparation and revision of any development plan 
documents.

2.2 In relation to these legislative changes, Government guidance explains that:

“Local planning authorities must set out in their Statement of Community 
Involvement how they will engage communities on the preliminary stages of 
plan-making, specifically survey stage and Local Development Scheme. This 
does not apply to those plans which have passed Regulation 18(1) stage of 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 
before 31 July 2018 in respect of that particular plan/ Statement of Community 
Involvement.”2

1 HM Government (December 2017) Statutory Instrument 2017 No. 1244: The Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017
2 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (March 2019) Planning practice guidance: 
Plan-making, paragraph 035

Page 265



 10 October 2019

2

2.3 The city council is currently involved in the production of two development 
plan documents that will cover the whole of Salford:

 Salford Local Plan
 Greater Manchester Spatial Framework, which also covers the other 

nine local authority areas within Greater Manchester

2.4 Both of these documents had reached the Regulation 18(1) stage before 31 
July 2018, and so they can be completed without having to update the SCI to 
reflect the additional requirements relating to the survey of area and local 
development scheme. Nevertheless, the introduction of those requirements 
indicates that the SCI will need to be updated before work commences on any 
other development plan documents.

2.5 The Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 further amended section 18 of the 
2004 Act to state that:

“(2B) A statement of community involvement must set out the local planning 
authority's policies for giving advice or assistance under—

(a) paragraph 3 of Schedule 4B to the principal Act (advice or 
assistance on proposals for making of neighbourhood 
development orders), and

(b) paragraph 3 of Schedule A2 to this Act (advice or assistance on 
proposals for modification of neighbourhood development 
plans).

(2C) The reference in subsection (2B)(a) to Schedule 4B to the principal Act 
includes that Schedule as applied by section 38A(3) of this Act 
(process for making neighbourhood development plans). ”3

2.6 These changes came into effect on 31 July 2018 by virtue of regulation 4 of 
The Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 (Commencement No. 3) Regulations 
2018.

2.7 The current SCI was adopted before the neighbourhood planning regime was 
introduced. Hence, it will need to be updated to explain the city council’s 
policies for providing advice or assistance in relation to the making of 
neighbourhood development orders and the production of neighbourhood 
development plans. In the interim, the city council has already set out on its 
website its approach to providing advice and assistance on neighbourhood 
planning.

Changes to the regulations for producing development plan documents

2.8 The introduction to the SCI explains that:

3 Section 6 of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 inserting a new subsections 2B and 2C into 
section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Page 266



 10 October 2019

3

“Considerable guidance has been published on community engagement and 
full regard has been had to this in the production of this document. This 
document follows the processes and recommendations set out in:

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) 
Regulations 2004;

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2008;

 Planning Policy Statement 12: creating strong safe and prosperous 
communities through Local Spatial Planning; and

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2009”4

2.9 The regulations that are referred to have all since been superseded by The 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, 
and subsequent amendments. These changes to the regulations do not 
impact significantly on the ability to understand the city council’s approach to 
involving people in the planning process, as the stages are essentially the 
same. However, it would clearly be beneficial for the SCI to reflect the latest 
regulations, so as to minimise the potential for any misunderstandings and to 
ensure that the description of current regulatory requirements is up-to-date.

Changes to the regulations for processing planning applications

2.10 Similar to the plan-making process, many of the regulations applicable to the 
development management process have been superseded since the adoption 
of the SCI. The regulations that have replaced or augmented them include, 
amongst others, The Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015, The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, The Town and Country 
Planning (Permission in Principle) (Amendment) Order 2017, and The Town 
and Country Planning (Section 62A Applications) (Procedure and 
Consequential Amendments) Order 2013.

2.11 As with the sections on plan-making, these regulatory changes do not mean 
that the approach in the SCI in relation to planning applications is incorrect, 
but it would be appropriate to update them to fully reflect the current 
regulations.

Changes to national and regional policy

2.12 The system of Planning Policy Statements that applied when the SCI was 
adopted has since been replaced by the National Planning Policy Framework 
and related Planning Practice Guidance. Several sections of the Planning 
Practice Guidance are relevant to the SCI, including the ‘Consultation and 

4 Salford City Council (January 2010) Statement of Community Involvement, paragraph 1.3

Page 267



 10 October 2019

4

pre-decision matters’ section, which sets out the process and expectations on 
consultation of planning applications, and the ‘Plan-making’ section.

2.13 Since the SCI was adopted, the Government has abolished the system of 
regional spatial strategies.

2.14 The existing SCI is not considered to be inconsistent with national policy. 
However, it would be beneficial for it to be updated to reflect changes in 
national policy and guidance.

3. Review Conclusion

3.1 There have been some significant changes since the SCI was adopted in 
January 2010, including:

 Legislative requirements extending the scope of SCIs to include the 
survey of area stage of plan-making, the local development scheme, 
and the approach to neighbourhood planning

 Revisions to regulations governing the plan-making and development 
management processes

 Updates to national policy and guidance
 Increased use of digital technology and social media

3.2 In light of these changes, it is concluded that the SCI should be updated. In 
addition to responding to the aforementioned changes, it would also be 
appropriate to revisit the overall approach in the SCI to public involvement in 
planning to ensure that it remains relevant and inclusive.

4 Next Steps

4.1 Although the SCI requires updating, it is not considered to be creating any 
significant issues in its current form. For example, the city council’s approach 
to advising and assisting on neighbourhood planning is clearly set out on its 
website, and the applicability of the proposed approach to different stages of 
the plan-making and planning application processes remains appropriate and 
comprehensible even if the references to specific underlying regulations are 
out-of-date. If the SCI was to be updated at the current time then there is a 
risk that it could create some confusion as to how it relates to the existing 
Local Plan process.

4.2 As a result, and given available resources, it is proposed that the updating of 
the SCI should not commence until the ongoing Local Plan has progressed 
further.  A timetable for the update of the SCI will be included in a future 
version of the Local Development Scheme. 

Page 268



 10 October 2019

5
Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting.
	4 Annual Report from Audit and Accounts Committee (15 minutes)
	5 Adoption of revised Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document (30 Minutes)
	191113 Refreshed Planning Obligations SPD
	191113 Obligations SPD refresh - consultation statement
	CIA_planning_obligations_spd_nov_ 2019 (2)

	6 Review of the Statement of Community Involvement (15 Minutes)
	Appendix  A SCI Review  (2)


